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PART I. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Financial Statements
iStar Financial Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
ASSETS
Loans and other lending investments, net $ 6,123,911 $ 4,661,915
Corporate tenant lease assets, net 3,113,402 3,115,361
Other investments 395,054 240,470
Investments in joint ventures 194,985 202,128
Assets held for sale 12,016 —
Cash and cash equivalents 177,042 115,370
Restricted cash 74,474 28,804
Accrued interest and operating lease income receivable 67,794 32,166
Deferred operating lease income receivable 73,432 76,874
Deferred expenses and other assets 72,144 50,005
Goodwill 9,203 9,203
Total assets $ 10,313,457 $ 8,532,296
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 206,535 $ 192,522
Debt obligations 7,517,251 5,859,592
Total liabilities 7,723,786 6,052,114
Commitments and contingencies — —
Minority interest in consolidated entities 54,657 33,511
Shareholders’ equity:
Series D Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, 4,000 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 4 4
Series E Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, 5,600 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 6 6
Series F Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, 4,000 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 4 4
Series G Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, 3,200 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 3 3
Series I Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, 5,000 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 5 5
High Performance Units 10,896 8,797
Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000 shares authorized, 113,820 and 113,209 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively 114 113
Options 2,001 6,450
Additional paid-in capital 2,916,897 2,886,434
Retained earnings (deficit) (370,772) (442,758)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (See Note 14) 2,128 13,885
Treasury stock (at cost) (26,272) (26,272)
Total shareholders’ equity 2,535,014 2,446,671
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 10,313,457 $ 8,532,296
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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iStar Financial Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005

Revenue:



Interest income $ 153,053 $ 100,833 $ 414,177 $ 299,118

Operating lease income 83,170 75,920 248,810 226,852
Other income 20,369 43,789 54,547 69,861
Total revenue 256,592 220,542 717,534 595,831

Costs and expenses:

Interest expense 115,262 80,731 310,147 231,336

Operating costs—corporate tenant lease assets 6,726 5,718 18,932 16,778

Depreciation and amortization 19,562 17,891 57,980 52,993

General and administrative(1) 27,492 15,960 67,048 46,769

Provision for loan losses 2,000 — 5,000 2,250

Loss on early extinguishment of debt — 44,362 — 44,362

Total costs and expenses 171,042 164,662 459,107 394,488

Income before equity in earnings from joint ventures, minority interest and

other items 85,550 55,880 258,427 201,343
Equity in earnings from joint ventures 1,443 739 2,496 574
Minority interest in consolidated entities (291) (401) (1,360) (681)
Income from continuing operations 86,702 56,218 259,563 201,236
Income from discontinued operations 684 1,765 1,774 5,400
Gain from discontinued operations, net 17,264 552 21,800 958
Net income 104,650 58,535 283,137 207,594
Preferred dividend requirements (10,580) (10,580) (31,740) (31,740)
Net income allocable to common shareholders and HPU holders(2) $ 94,070 $ 47,955 $ 251,397 $ 175,854

Per common share data(3):
Income from continuing operations per common share:

Basic $ 0.66 $ 039 $ 196 $ 1.47

Diluted $ 0.65 $ 039 $ 194 $ 1.46
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 081 $ 041 $ 216 $ 1.53

Diluted $ 0.80 $ 041 $ 214 $ 1.51
Weighted average number of common shares—basic 113,318 112,835 113,281 112,313
Weighted average number of common shares—diluted 114,545 114,021 114,439 113,502

Per HPU share data(3):

Income from continuing operations per HPU share:

Basic $ 124.00 $ 7467 $ 371.27 $ 278.53

Diluted $ 122.73 $ 7393 $ 367.67 $ 275.73
Net income per HPU share:

Basic $ 153.27 $ 7847 $ 409.67 $ 289.00

Diluted $ 151.67 $ 7767 $ 405.73 $ 286.07
Weighted average number of HPU shares—basic 15 15 15 15
Weighted average number of HPU shares—diluted 15 15 15 15

Explanatory Notes:

(1) General and administrative costs include $6,407 and $718 of stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $9,357 and $2,000
for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(2) HPU holders are Company employees who purchased high performance common stock units under the Company’s High Performance Unit Program (see Note 12).

(3) See Note 13—Earnings Per Share for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

iStar Financial Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
(unaudited)
Accumulated
SeriesD  SeriesE  SeriesF  Series G Series I Common Additional ~ Retained Other
Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred Stock at Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive  Treasury
Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock HPU’s Par Options Capital (Deficit) Income Stock Total

Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 4 $ 6 $ 4 $ 3 $ 5 $ 8797 $113 $ 6450 $ 2,886,434 $ (442,758) $ 13,885 $ (26272) | $ 2,446,671
Exercise of options — — — — — — — (4,449) 5,715 — — — 1,266
Dividends declared-preferred — — — — — — — — — (31,740) — — (31,740)
Dividends declared-common — — — — — — — — — (175,071) — — (175,071)
Dividends declared-HPU — — — — — — — — — (4,340) — — (4,340)
Issuance of stock-vested restricted stock

units — — — — — — — — 3,008 — — — 3,008
Issuance of HPU's—unvested — — — — — (2,473) — — — — — — (2,473)
HPU compensation expense — — — — — 4,572 — — — — — — 4,572
Issuance of stock-DRIP/ Stock purchase

plan — — — — — — 1 — 21,740 — — — 21,741
Net income for the period — — — — — — — — — 283,137 — — 283,137
Change in accumulated other

comprehensive income — — — — — — — — — — (11,757) — (11,757)
Balance at September 30, 2006 $ 4 $ 6 $ 4 $ 3 $5 $10,896 $114 $ 2,001 $2916897 $ (370,772) $ 2,128 $ (26,272) $ 2,535,014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

iStar Financial Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(unaudited)
For the For the

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,



2006 2005 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 104,650 $ 58,535 $ 283,137 $ 207,594
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities:
Minority interest in consolidated entities 291 401 1,360 681
Non-cash expense for stock-based compensation 6,447 790 9,584 2,200
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 20,972 19,200 61,943 55,038
Depreciation, amortization and impairment from discontinued operations 68 492 8,136 1,464
Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,102 7,796 16,911 23,298
Amortization of discounts/premiums, deferred interest and costs on lending
investments (16,174) (17,797) (54,125) (49,524)
Discounts, loan fees and deferred interest received 8,520 60,032 40,529 102,451
Equity in (earnings) from joint ventures (1,443) (739) (2,496) (574)
Distributions from operations of unconsolidated entities 3,825 3,510 12,372 3,510
Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net of cash paid — 37,539 — 37,539
Deferred operating lease income receivable (4,839) (3,750) (4,109) (11,698)
Gain from discontinued operations (17,264) (552) (21,800) (958)
Provision for loan losses 2,000 — 5,000 2,250
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Changes in accrued interest and operating lease income receivable (14,700) (5,177) (35,628) (8,019)
Changes in deferred expenses and other assets (5,711) 7,762 (32,723) 10,507
Changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 10,376 (2,999) 20,628 2,275
Cash flows from operating activities 102,120 165,043 308,719 378,034
Cash flows from investing activities:
New investment originations (1,411,126) (436,430) (2,757,764) (2,095,219)
Net investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures — — — (151,851)
Cash paid for acquisition of Falcon Financial — — — (113,696)
Add-on fundings under existing loan commitments (146,070) (98,783) (463,086) (254,518)
Net proceeds from sales of corporate tenant lease assets 32,517 4,387 54,391 10,385
Repayments of and principal collections on loans and other lending
investments 627,590 829,837 1,598,694 1,806,287
Distributions from unconsolidated entities, net of contributions (131) 761 (10,874) 3,718
Capital improvements for build-to-suit facilities (8,346) (5,622) (41,249) (9,871)
Capital improvement projects on corporate tenant lease assets (820) (3,629) (5,730) (8,131)
Other capital expenditures on corporate tenant lease assets (4,220) (2,636) (8,460) (6,272)
Cash flows from investing activities (910,606) 287,885 (1,634,078) (819,168)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under secured revolving credit facilities 6,000 49,000 187,073 1,176,000
Repayments under secured revolving credit facilities (6,000) (50,999) (187,073) (1,243,261)
Borrowings under unsecured revolving credit facilities 1,215,997 1,396,000 4,794,154 3,836,000
Repayments under unsecured revolving credit facilities (1,424,568) (1,024,000) (5,339,568) (3,746,000)
Borrowings under term loans 47,068 43,223 85,228 48,654
Repayments under term loans (9,383) (179,460) (28,522) (184,645)
Borrowings under unsecured bond offerings 1,190,725 — 2,182,214 1,585,117
Repayments under unsecured notes — — (50,000) 47)
Repayments under secured notes — (715,711) — (932,914)
Borrowings under foreign lines of credit — — 146,950 —
Repayments under foreign lines of credit — — (155,181) —
Borrowings under other debt obligations — 97,963 — 97,963
Contribution from minority interest partners 10,821 2,012 21,846 7,694
Changes in restricted cash held in connection with debt obligations (22,773) 6,948 (45,670) 8,314
Payments for deferred financing costs (152) (1,942) (15,217) (3,788)
Distributions to minority interest partners (988) (550) (2,059) (2,107)
Common dividends paid (87,547) (82,636) (175,071) (165,116)
Preferred dividends paid (10,580) (10,580) (31,740) (31,740)
HPU dividends paid (2,170) (2,064) (4,340) (4,128)
HPUs issued — 3) 1,033 962
Proceeds from exercise of options and issuance of DRIP/Stock purchase
shares 907 15,706 2,974 17,961
Cash flows from financing activities 907,357 (457,093) 1,387,031 464,919
Changes in cash and cash equivalents 98,871 (4,165) 61,672 23,785
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 78,171 116,372 115,370 88,422
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 177,042 $ 112,207 $ 177,042 $ 112,207

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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iStar Financial Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1—Business and Organization

Business—iStar Financial Inc. (the “Company”) is the leading publicly-traded finance company focused on the commercial real estate industry. The
Company primarily provides custom-tailored financing to high-end private and corporate owners of real estate, including senior and mezzanine real estate
debt, senior and mezzanine corporate capital, corporate net lease financing and equity. The Company, which is taxed as a real estate investment trust
(“REIT”), seeks to deliver strong dividends and superior risk-adjusted returns on equity to shareholders by providing the highest quality financing to its
customers. The Company’s two primary lines of business are lending and corporate tenant leasing.

The lending business is primarily comprised of senior and mezzanine loans that typically range in size from $20 million to $150 million and have
maturities generally ranging from three to ten years. These loans may be either fixed rate (based on the U.S. Treasury rate plus a spread) or variable rate
(based on LIBOR plus a spread) and are structured to meet the specific financing needs of the borrowers. The Company also provides senior and mezzanine
capital to corporations engaged in real estate or real estate-related businesses. These financings may be either secured or unsecured, typically range in size
from $20 million to $150 million and have maturities generally ranging from five to ten years. As part of the lending business, the Company also acquires
whole loans and loan participations which present attractive risk-reward opportunities. Acquired loan positions typically range in size from $20 million to
$100 million.

The Company’s corporate tenant leasing business provides capital to corporations and other owners who control facilities leased to single creditworthy
customers. The Company’s net leased assets are generally mission-critical headquarters or distribution facilities that are subject to long-term leases with
public companies, many of which are rated corporate credits. Most leases require the tenant to pay for facility-related expenses on a triple net lease basis.
Corporate tenant lease, or CTL, transactions have initial terms generally ranging from 15 to 20 years and typically range in size from $20 million to
$150 million.

The Company’s investment strategy targets specific sectors of the real estate credit markets in which it believes it can deliver the highest quality, flexible
financial solutions to its customers, thereby differentiating its financial products from those offered by other capital providers.

The Company has implemented its investment strategy by:



- Focusing on the origination of large, structured mortgage, corporate and lease financings where customers require flexible financial solutions and
“one-call” responsiveness post-closing.

- Avoiding commodity businesses in which there is significant direct competition from other providers of capital such as conduit lending and investment
in commercial or residential mortgage-backed securities.

- Developing direct relationships with borrowers and corporate customers as opposed to sourcing transactions solely through intermediaries.

- Adding value beyond simply providing capital by offering borrowers and corporate customers specific lending expertise, flexibility, certainty and
continuing relationships beyond the closing of a particular financing transaction.

iStar Financial Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1—Business and Organization (Continued)

- Taking advantage of market anomalies in the real estate financing markets when the Company believes credit is mispriced by other providers of
capital, such as the spread between lease yields and the yields on corporate customers’ underlying credit obligations.

Organization—The Company began its business in 1993 through private investment funds formed to capitalize on inefficiencies in the real estate
finance market. In March 1998, these funds contributed their assets to the Company’s predecessor in exchange for a controlling interest in that company. The
Company later acquired its former external advisor in exchange for shares of the Company’s common stock (““Common Stock’’) and converted its
organizational form to a Maryland corporation. As part of the conversion to a Maryland corporation, the Company replaced its former dual class common
share structure with a single class of Common Stock. The Company’s Common Stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on November 4, 1999.
Prior to this date, the Company’s Common Stock was traded on the American Stock Exchange. Since that time, the Company has grown by originating new
lending and leasing transactions, as well as through corporate acquisitions, including the acquisition in 1999 of TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. (“TriNet”).

Note 2—Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10-01
of Regulation S-X for interim financial statements. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of the Company, its qualified REIT subsidiaries, its majority-owned and controlled partnerships and other entities that are consolidated under the
provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an interpretation of ARB 51 (“FIN 46R”) (see Note 6).

Certain investments in joint ventures or other entities which the Company does not control are accounted for under the equity method (see Note 6). The
Company also uses the cost method when its interest is such that it has no significant influence over operating and financial policies. Under the cost method,
the Company records the initial investment at cost. Thereafter, income is recognized only when the Company receives distributions from earnings subsequent
to the acquisition or when the Company sells its interest in the venture (See Note 7). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments,
necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s consolidated financial position at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and the results of operations
and its cash flows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and its changes in shareholders’ equity for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006. Such operating results may not be indicative of the expected results for any other interim periods or the entire year.

Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Loans and other lending investments, net—As described in Note 4, “Loans and Other Lending Investments,” includes the following investments:
senior mortgages, subordinate mortgages, corporate/partnership loans and other lending investments-securities. Management considers nearly all of

iStar Financial Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

its loans and other lending investments to be held-to-maturity, although a small number of investments may be classified as available-for-sale. Items classified
as held-to-maturity are reflected at amortized historical cost. Items classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair values with unrealized gains and losses
included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not included in the Company’s net income.

Corporate tenant lease assets and depreciation—CTL assets are generally recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Certain improvements and
replacements are capitalized when they extend the useful life, increase capacity or improve the efficiency of the asset. Repairs and maintenance items are
expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method of cost recovery over the shorter of estimated useful lives or 40 years for
facilities, five years for furniture and equipment, the shorter of the remaining lease term or expected life for tenant improvements and the remaining useful
life of the facility for facility improvements.

CTL assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell and are included in “Assets held
for sale” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company also periodically reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for an impairment in



value whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

Regarding the Company’s acquisition of facilities, purchase costs are allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their
estimated fair values. The value of the tangible assets, consisting of land, buildings, building improvements and tenant improvements, is determined as if
these assets are vacant, that is, at replacement cost. Intangible assets including the above-market or below-market value of leases, the value of in-place leases
and the value of customer relationships are recorded at their relative fair values.

Above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired CTL assets are recorded based on the present value (using a discount rate reflecting
the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between: (1) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the leases negotiated and in-place at
the time of acquisition of the facilities; and (2) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for the facility or equivalent facility, measured over a period
equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease. The capitalized above-market (or below-market) lease value is amortized as a reduction of (or,
increase to) operating lease income over the remaining non-cancelable term of each lease plus any renewal periods with fixed rental terms that are considered
to be below-market. The Company generally engages in sale/leaseback transactions and typically executes leases simultaneously with the purchase of the
CTL asset at market-rate rents. Because of this, no above-market or below-market lease value is ascribed to these transactions.

The total amount of other intangible assets is allocated to in-place lease values and customer relationship intangible values based on management’s
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each customer’s lease and the Company’s overall relationship with each customer. Characteristics to be considered
in allocating these values include the nature and extent of the existing relationship with the customer, prospects for developing new business with the
customer, the customer’s credit quality and the expectation of lease renewals among other factors. Factors considered by management’s analysis include the
estimated carrying costs of the facility during a hypothetical expected lease-up period, current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases.
Management also considers information obtained about a

iStar Financial Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

property in connection with its pre-acquisition due diligence. Estimated carrying costs include real estate taxes, insurance, other property operating costs and
estimates of lost operating lease income at market rates during the hypothetical expected lease-up periods, based on management’s assessment of specific
market conditions. Management estimates costs to execute leases including commissions and legal costs to the extent that such costs are not already incurred
with a new lease that has been negotiated in connection with the purchase of the facility. Management’s estimates are used to determine these values. These
intangible assets are included in “Other investments” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 7).

The value of customer relationship intangibles are amortized to expense over the initial and renewal terms of the leases, but no amortization period for
intangible assets will exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building. In the event that a customer terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of each
intangible, including market rate adjustments, lease origination costs, in-place lease values and customer relationship values, would be charged to expense.

Timber and timberlands—Timber and timberlands, including logging roads, are stated at cost less accumulated depletion for timber previously
harvested and accumulated road amortization. The Company capitalizes timber and timberland purchases and reforestation costs and other costs associated
with the planting and growing of timber, such as site preparation, growing or purchases of seedlings, planting, silviculture, herbicide application and the
thinning of tree stands to improve growth. The cost of timber and timberlands typically is allocated between the timber and the land acquired, based on
estimated relative fair values.

Timber carrying costs, such as real estate taxes, insect and wildlife control and timberland management fees, are expensed as incurred. Net carrying
value of the timber and timberlands is used to compute the gain or loss in connection with timberland sales. Timber and timberlands are included in “Other
investments” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 7).

Capitalized interest—The Company capitalizes interest costs incurred during the construction periods for qualified build-to-suit projects for corporate
tenants, including investments in joint ventures accounted for under the equity method. Capitalized interest was approximately $485,000 and $300,000 for the
three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $1.3 million and $320,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in banks or invested in money market funds with original maturity terms of
less than 90 days.

Restricted cash—Restricted cash represents amounts required to be maintained in escrow under certain of the Company’s debt obligations, leasing and
derivative transactions.

Variable interest entities—In accordance with FIN 46R, the Company identifies entities for which control is achieved through means other than
through voting rights (a “variable interest entity” or “VIE”), and determines when and which business enterprise, if any, should consolidate the VIE. In
addition, the Company discloses information pertaining to such entities wherein the Company is the primary beneficiary or other entities wherein the
Company has a significant variable interest.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)



Identified intangible assets and goodwill—Upon the acquisition of a business, the Company records intangible assets acquired at their estimated fair
values separate and apart from goodwill. The Company determines whether such intangible assets have finite or indefinite lives. As of September 30, 2006,
all such intangible assets acquired by the Company have finite lives. The Company amortizes finite lived intangible assets based on the period over which the
assets are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash flows of the business acquired. The Company reviews finite lived intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes impairment
loss on finite lived intangible assets if the carrying amount of an intangible asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value.

The excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired (including identified intangible assets) and liabilities
assumed is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is done at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. If the fair value of
the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the fair value of the goodwill within the reporting unit is less
than its carrying value.

Fair values for goodwill and other finite lived intangible assets are determined based on discounted cash flows or appraised values, as appropriate.

During the first quarter 2005, the Company acquired Falcon Financial Investment Trust (“Falcon Financial”) in a business combination and identified
finite lived intangible assets of approximately $2.0 million and goodwill of $7.7 million (see Note 4 for further discussion). These identified intangible assets
are included in “Deferred expenses and other assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue recognition—The Company’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:

Loans and other lending investments: Management considers nearly all of its loans and other lending investments to be held-to-maturity, although a
small number of investments may be classified as available-for-sale. The Company reflects held-to-maturity investments at historical cost adjusted for
allowance for loan losses, unamortized acquisition premiums or discounts and unamortized deferred loan fees.

Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income (losses)” on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not included in the Company’s net income. On occasion, the Company may acquire loans at generally small premiums
or discounts based on the credit characteristics of such loans. These premiums or discounts are recognized as yield adjustments over the lives of the related
loans. Loan origination or exit fees, as well as direct loan origination costs, are also deferred and recognized over the lives of the related loans as a yield
adjustment, if management believes it is probable that such amounts will be received. If loans with premiums, discounts, loan origination or exit fees are
prepaid, the Company immediately recognizes the unamortized portion as a decrease or increase in the prepayment gain or loss which is included in “Other
income” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method applied on a loan-by-
loan basis.

A small number of the Company’s loans provide for accrual of interest at specified rates that differ from current payment terms. Interest is recognized on
such loans at the accrual rate subject to
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management’s determination that accrued interest and outstanding principal are ultimately collectible, based on the underlying collateral and operations of the
borrower.

Prepayment penalties or yield maintenance payments from borrowers are recognized as additional income when received. Certain of the Company’s loan
investments provide for additional interest based on the borrower’s operating cash flow or appreciation of the underlying collateral. Such amounts are
considered contingent interest and are reflected as income only upon certainty of collection.

Leasing investments: Operating lease revenue is recognized on the straight-line method of accounting from the later of the date of the origination of the
lease or the date of acquisition of the facility subject to existing leases. Accordingly, contractual lease payment increases are recognized evenly over the term
of the lease. The cumulative difference between lease revenue recognized under this method and contractual lease payment terms is recorded as “Deferred
operating lease income receivable” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Reserve for loan losses—The Company’s accounting policies require that an allowance for estimated loan losses be maintained at a level that
management, based upon an evaluation of known and inherent risks in the portfolio, considers adequate to provide for loan losses. In establishing loan loss
reserves, management periodically evaluates and analyzes the Company’s assets, historical and industry loss experience, economic conditions and trends,
collateral values and quality, and other relevant factors. Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired loans in the amount by which the carrying
value, before allowance for estimated losses, exceeds the fair value of collateral less disposition costs on an individual loan basis. Management considers a
loan to be impaired when, based upon current information and events, it believes that it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due
under the loan agreement on a timely basis. Management carries these impaired loans at the fair value of the loans’ underlying collateral less estimated
disposition costs. Impaired loans may be left on accrual status during the period the Company is pursuing repayment of the loan; however, these loans are
placed on non-accrual status at such time as: (1) management determines the borrower is incapable of, or has ceased efforts toward, curing the cause of the
impairment; (2) the loans become 90 days delinquent; (3) the loan has a maturity default; or (4) the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying collateral
approximates the Company’s carrying value of such loan. While on non-accrual status, interest income is recognized only upon actual receipt. Impairment
losses are recognized as direct write-downs of the related loan with a corresponding charge to the reserve for loan losses. Charge-offs occur when loans, or a
portion thereof, are considered uncollectible and of such little value that further pursuit of collection is not warranted. Management also provides a loan
portfolio reserve based upon its periodic evaluation and analysis of the portfolio, historical and industry loss experience, economic conditions and trends,
collateral values and quality, and other relevant factors.

The Company’s loans are generally collateralized by real estate assets or are corporate lending arrangements to entities with significant real estate
holdings and other corporate assets. While the underlying real estate assets for the corporate lending instruments may not serve as collateral for the
Company’s investments in all cases, the Company evaluates the underlying real estate assets when estimating loan loss exposure because the Company’s
loans generally have restrictions as to how much senior and/or secured debt the customer may borrow ahead of the Company’s position.



Allowance for doubtful accounts—The Company’s accounting policies require a reserve on the Company’s accrued operating lease income receivable
balances and on the deferred operating lease
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income receivable balances. The reserve covers asset specific problems (e.g., bankruptcy) as they arise, as well as a portfolio reserve based on management’s
evaluation of the credit risks associated with these receivables.

Derivative instruments and hedging activity—In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (“SFAS No. 133”),
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” as amended, the Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and measures those instruments at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically designated as a
hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of a forecasted
transaction.

The Company formally documents all hedging relationships at inception, including its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge
transaction. The hedge instrument and the hedged item are designated at the execution of the hedge instrument or upon re-designation during the life of the
hedge. At inception and at least quarterly, the Company also formally assesses whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been highly
effective in offsetting changes in the hedged items to which they are designated and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain highly effective in
future periods through the use of regression testing or dollar offset tests. Hedge effectiveness is assessed and measured under identical time periods. To the
extent that hedges qualify under paragraph 68 of SFAS No. 133, the Company uses the short-cut method to assess effectiveness. Otherwise, the Company
utilizes the cumulative hypothetical derivative method to assess and measure effectiveness. In addition, the Company does not exclude any component of the
derivative’s gain or loss in the assessment of effectiveness.

Stock-based compensation—During the third quarter of 2002, with retroactive application to the beginning of that year, the Company adopted the fair-
value method of accounting for options issued to employees or directors. Accordingly, the Company recognizes a charge equal to the fair value of these
options at the date of grant multiplied by the number of options issued. This charge is amortized over the related remaining vesting terms to individuals as
additional compensation.

For restricted stock awards, the Company measures compensation costs as of the date of grant and expenses such amounts against earnings, either at the
grant date (if no vesting period exists) or ratably over the respective vesting/service period.

Impairment or disposal of long-lived assets—In accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (“SFAS No. 144”),
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” the Company presents current operations prior to the disposition of CTL assets and prior
period results of such operations in discontinued operations on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Depletion—Depletion relates to the Company’s investment in timberland assets. Assumptions and estimates are used in the recording of depletion. With
the help of foresters and industry-standard computer software, merchantable standing timber inventory is estimated annually. An annual depletion rate for
each timberland investment is established by dividing book cost of timber by standing merchantable inventory. Changes in the assumptions and/or estimations
used in these calculations may affect the Company’s results, in particular depletion costs. Factors that can impact timber volume include
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weather changes, losses due to natural causes, differences in actual versus estimated growth rates and changes in the age when timber is considered
merchantable.

Income taxes—The Company is subject to federal income taxation at corporate rates on its “REIT taxable income;” however, the Company is allowed a
deduction for the amount of dividends paid to its shareholders, thereby subjecting the distributed net income of the Company to taxation at the shareholder
level only. In addition, the Company is allowed several other deductions in computing its “REIT taxable income,” including non-cash items such as
depreciation expense. These deductions allow the Company to shelter a portion of its operating cash flow from its dividend payout requirement under federal
tax laws. The Company intends to operate in a manner consistent with and to elect to be treated as a REIT for tax purposes.

The Company can participate in certain activities from which it was previously precluded in order to maintain its qualification as a REIT, as long as
these activities are conducted in entities which elect to be treated as taxable subsidiaries under the Code, subject to certain limitations. As such, the Company,
through its taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs”), is engaged in various real estate related opportunities, including but not limited to: (1) managing corporate
credit-oriented investment strategies; (2) certain activities related to the purchase and sale of timber and timberlands; and (3) servicing certain loan portfolios.
The Company will consider other investments through TRS entities if suitable opportunities arise. The Company’s TRS entities are not consolidated for
federal income tax purposes and are taxed as corporations. For financial reporting purposes, current and deferred taxes are provided for in the portion of
earnings recognized by the Company with respect to its interest in TRS entities. Such amounts are immaterial. Accordingly, except for the Company’s taxable
REIT subsidiaries, no current or deferred federal taxes are provided for in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Earnings per common share—In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 03-6, (“EITF 03-6”), “Participating Securities and the Two-
Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings Per Share,” the Company presents both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) for common



shareholders and HPU holders. EITF 03-6 must be utilized in calculating earnings per share by a company that has issued securities other than common stock
that contractually entitles the holder to participate in dividends and earnings of the company when, and if, the company declares dividends on its common
stock. The HPU shareholders are entitled to dividends of the Company when dividends are declared. Basic earnings per share (“Basic EPS”) for the
Company’s Common Stock and HPU shares are computed by dividing net income allocable to common shareholders and HPU holders by the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock and HPU shares outstanding for the period, respectively. Diluted earnings per share (“Diluted EPS”) would be
computed similarly, however, it reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or
converted into common stock, where such exercise or conversion would result in a lower earnings per share amount.

Reclassification—Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes to conform to the
2006 presentation.

Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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New accounting standards—In September 2006, the SEC released SAB 108 (“SAB 108”), “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.” Through SAB 108, the SEC has established an approach that requires quantification of
financial statement errors based on the effects of the error on each of the company’s financial statements and the related financial statement disclosures. This
model is known as the “dual approach” because it requires quantification of errors under both the iron-curtain and the roll-over methods. The roll-over
method focuses primarily on the impact of a misstatement on the income statement but can lead to the accumulation of misstatements in the balance sheet.
The iron-curtain method focuses primarily on the effect of correcting the period-end balance sheet with less emphasis on the reversing effects of prior years
on the income statement in the period of correction. Companies can either restate prior periods or use the cumulative effect adjustment method when adopting
SAB 108. SAB 108 is not an “official rule” and therefore there is no explicit “effective date,” however, for companies not electing to restate prior periods, it
must be adopted for annual financial statements covering fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The Company will adopt SAB 108 on January 1,
2007, as required, and does not believe it will have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 (“SFAS No. 157”), “Fair Value Measurements.” This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 clarifies
the exchange price notion in the fair value definition to mean the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability (an exit price),
not the price that would be paid to acquire the asset or received to assume the liability (an entry price). This statement also clarifies that market participant
assumptions should include assumptions about risk, should include assumptions about the effect of a restriction on the sale or use of an asset and should
reflect its nonperformance risk (the risk that the obligation will not be fulfilled). Nonperformance risk should include the reporting entity’s credit risk. SFAS
No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 157 on January 1,
2008, as required, and does not believe it will have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July 2006, the FASB released Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB
Statement 109.” FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its financial statements
uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. A tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it is
“more likely than not” that the position is sustainable, based on its technical merits. The tax benefit is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than
50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. FIN 48 is effective as of the
beginning of fiscal years that start after December 15, 2006. The Company will adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, as required, and is still evaluating the
impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2006, the FASB released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 156 (“SFAS No. 156), “Accounting for Servicing of Financial
Assets.” SFAS No. 156 was issued to simplify the accounting for servicing rights and to reduce the volatility that results from the use of different
measurement attributes for servicng rights and the related financial instruments used to economically hedge risks associated with those servicing rights. SFAS
No. 156 modifies the accounting for servicing
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rights by: (1) clarifying when a separate asset or servicing liability should be recognized; (2) requiring a separately recognized servicing asset or servicing
liability to be measured at fair value; (3) allowing entities to subsequently measure servicing rights either at fair value or under the amortization method for
each class of a separately recognized servicing asset or servicing liability; (4) permitting a one-time reclassificiation of available-for-sale securities to trading
securities; and (5) requiring separate presentation of servicing assets and servicing liabilities subsequently measured at fair value. SFAS No. 156 is effective
in annual periods beginning after September 15, 2006. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 156 on January 1, 2007, as required, and does not believe it will
have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.



In February 2006, the FASB released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 155 (“SFAS No.155”), “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial
Instruments.” The key provisions of SFAS No. 155 include: (1) a broad fair value measurement option for certain hybrid financial instruments that contain an
embedded derivative that would otherwise require bifurcation; (2) clarification that only the simplest separations of interest payments and principal payments
qualify for the exception afforded to interest-only strips (IOs) and principal-only strips (POs) from derivative accounting under paragraph 14 of SFAS
No. 133 (thereby narrowing such exception); (3) a requirement that beneficial interests in securitized financial assets be analyzed to determine whether they
are freestanding derivatives or whether they are hybrid instruments that contain embedded derivatives requiring bifurcation; (4) clarification that
concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives; and (5) elimination of the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose
entity (QSPE) holding passive derivative financial instruments that pertain to beneficial interests that are or contain a derivative financial instrument. SFAS
No. 155 is effective for annual periods beginning after September 15, 2006. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 155 on January 1, 2007, as required, and does
not believe it will have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May 2005, the FASB releases Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154 (“SFAS No. 154”), “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections.” SFAS No. 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes, unless
impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit transition
requirements specific to newly adopted accounting principles. The correction of an error in previously issued financial statements is not an accounting
change. However, the reporting of an error correction involves adjustments to previously issued financial statements similar to those generally applicable to
reporting an accounting change retrospectively, unless deemed immaterial. SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2005. The
Company adopted the provisions of this statement, as required, on January 1, 2006, and it did not have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In December 2004, the FASB released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153 (“SFAS No. 153”), “Accounting for Non-monetary
Transactions.” SFAS No. 153 requires non-monetary exchanges to be accounted for at fair value, recognizing any gain or loss, if the transactions meet a
commercial-substance criterion and fair value is determinable. SFAS No. 153 is effective for non-monetary transactions occurring in fiscal years beginning
after September 15, 2005. The Company adopted the provisions of this statement, as required, on January 1, 2006, and it did not have a significant impact on
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In December 2004, the FASB released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Share-Based Payment.” This
standard requires issuers to measure the cost of equity-based service awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost will be recognized over
the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award or the requisite service period (typically the vesting period). No
compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the requisite service. The Company will initially measure the cost
of liability-based service awards based on their current fair value. The fair value of that award will be remeasured subsequently at each reporting date through
the settlement date. Changes in fair value during the requisite service period will be recognized as compensation cost over that period. The grant-date fair
value of employee share options and similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models adjusted for the unique characteristics of those
instruments. If an equity award is modified after the grant date, incremental compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair
value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification. Companies can comply with SFAS No. 123R using
one of three transition methods: (1) the modified prospective method; (2) the modified retrospective method; or (3) a variation of the modified retrospective
method. The provisions of this statement are effective for annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS
No. 123R, as required, on January 1, 2006, and it did not have a significant financial impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The following is a summary description of the Company’s loans and other lending investments ($ in thousands)(1):

#of Principal Carrying Value as of Effective
Borrowers Balances September 30, December 31, Maturity Contractual Interest Contractual Interest Principal Participation
Type of Investment Underlying Property Type In Class dii 2006 2005 Dates Payment Rates(2) Accrual Rates(2) Amortization (3) Features(4)
Senior Mortgages(5) Office/Residential/Retail/ 110 $ 3,948,717 $3,914,730 $3,149,767 2006 to 2026 Fixed: 6.50% to 30.00% Fixed: 6.50% to 30.00% Yes Yes
Industrial, R&D/Mixed Variable: LIBOR + 1.60% Variable: LIBOR + 1.60%
Use/Hotel/Entertainment, to LIBOR + 7.00% to LIBOR + 7.00%
Leisure/Other
Subordinate Mortgages(6) Office/Residential/Retail/ 21 611,996 607,645 413,853 2006 to 2015 Fixed: 5.00% to 10.50% Fixed: 7.32% to 25.00% Yes No
Mixed Use/Hotel/ Variable: LIBOR + 2.63% Variable: LIBOR + 2.63%
Entertainment, Leisure/Other to LIBOR + 6.00% to LIBOR + 6.00%
Corporate/Partnership
Loans(7) Office/Residential/Retail/ 24 775,324 763,636 797,456 2006 to 2021 Fixed: 7.62% to 15.00% Fixed: 7.62% to 17.50% Yes No
Industrial, R&D/Mixed Variable: LIBOR + 1.85% Variable: LIBOR + 1.85%
Use/Hotel/ Other to LIBOR + 7.50% to LIBOR + 7.50%
Other Lending Investments—
Securities(8) Residential/Retail/ Mixed Use/ 15 912,543 884,278 347,715 2007 to 2023 Fixed: 5.88% to 9.25% Fixed: 5.88% to 12.00% Yes No
Industrial, R&D/ Variable: LIBOR + 0.85% Variable: LIBOR + 0.85%
Entertainment, Leisure/Other to LIBOR + 5.63% to LIBOR + 5.63%
Gross Carrying Value $ 6,170,289 $ 4,708,791
Reserve for Loan Losses (46,378) (46,876)
Total, Net $ 6,123,911 $ 4,661,915




Explanatory Notes:

(1) Details (other than carrying values) are for loans outstanding as of September 30, 2006.

) Substantially all variable-rate loans are based on 30-day LIBOR and reprice monthly. The 30-day LIBOR on September 30, 2006 was 5.32%. As of September 30, 2006, five loans with a combined carrying value of $118.1 million have
a stated accrual rate that exceeds the stated pay rate; one of these loans, with a carrying value of $18.2 million, has been placed on non-accrual status and therefore is considered a non-performing loan (see Item 2. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Management) and the Company is only recognizing income based on cash received for interest.

3) Certain loans require fixed payments of principal resulting in partial principal amortization over the term of the loan with the remaining principal due at maturity.

4) Under some of the loans, the Company may receive additional payments representing additional interest from participation in available cash flow from operations of the underlying real estate collateral.

5) Includes two loans with carrying values of $53.7 million and $55.4 million which the Company has currently ceased accruing the contractual exit fees as of January 1, 2006 and July 1, 2006, respectively.

(6) Includes one loan with a stated accrual rate of 25.00% per annum, however, no interest is due until its scheduled maturity in 2009.

™) Includes one unsecured loan with a carrying value of $36.9 million as of September 30, 2006.

8) Typically consists of senior loans, term preferred stock or debt interests that are originated or structured to meet customer financing requirements and the Company’s investment criteria.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, the Company and its affiliated ventures originated or acquired an aggregate of
approximately $2.58 billion and $1.81 billion (excluding the acquisition of Falcon Financial) in loans and other lending investments, funded $463.1 million
and $254.5 million under existing loan commitments and received principal repayments of $1.60 billion and $1.81 billion.

As of September 30, 2006, the Company had 52 loans with unfunded commitments. The total unfunded commitment amount was approximately $2.19
billion, of which $20.2 million was discretionary and $2.17 billion was non-discretionary.

The Company has reflected provisions for loan losses of approximately $2.0 million and $0 in its results of operations during the three months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and approximately $5.0 million and $2.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
These provisions represent loan portfolio reserves based on management’s evaluation of general market conditions, the Company’s internal risk management
policies and credit risk ratings system, industry loss experience, the likelihood of delinquencies or defaults and the credit quality of the underlying collateral.
During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded a $5.5 million direct charge-off on a $5.7 million mezzanine loan on a class A
office building in the mid-west. Two large tenants occupying approximately 250,000 square feet of the facility have leases that are due to expire in
December 2006. Upon expiration the occupancy rate will decrease to 60% from 91%. The borrower is expected to make payments totaling $0.2 million
through February 2007, which will be applied to satisfy the remaining principal balance. The Company also holds all three tranches of a first mortgage loan
for which this same building serves as collateral and that had a cumulative carrying value of $158.8 million as of September 30, 2006. The Company has
assessed these positions as of September 30, 2006 and does not believe they are impaired.

Changes in the Company’s reserve for loan losses were as follows (in thousands):

Reserve for loan losses, December 31, 2004 $42,436
Additional provision for loan losses 2,250
Additional provision acquired in acquisition of Falcon Financial 2,190
Charge-offs —
Reserve for loan losses, December 31, 2005 46,876
Additional provision for loan losses 5,000
Charge-offs (5,498)
Reserve for loan losses, September 30, 2006 $46,378

Acquisition of Falcon Financial Investment Trust—On January 20, 2005, the Company signed a definitive agreement to acquire Falcon Financial, an
independent finance company dedicated to providing long-term capital to automotive dealers throughout North America. Falcon Financial was a borrower of
the Company at the time of signing the definitive agreement. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company commenced a cash tender offer to acquire all of
Falcon Financial’s outstanding shares at a price of $7.50 per share for an aggregate equity purchase price of approximately $120.0 million. The offer expired
on February 28, 2005, and as of the expiration, approximately 15.6 million common shares of beneficial interest, representing approximately 97.70% of
Falcon Financial’s issued and outstanding shares,
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had been tendered and not withdrawn. On March 3, 2005, the Company completed the merger of Falcon Financial with an acquisition subsidiary of the
Company. As a result of the merger, all outstanding shares of Falcon Financial not purchased by the Company in the tender offer were converted into the right
to receive $7.50 per share, without interest and the Company acquired 100% ownership of Falcon Financial.

The following is a summary of the effects of this transaction on the Company’s consolidated financial position (in thousands):



Fair value of:

Assets acquired (loans and other lending investments) $ 255,503
Acquired finite lived intangible assets and goodwill 9,778
Acquired accrued interest and other assets 3,140
iStar line-of-credit to Falcon Financial plus accrued interest (151,784)
Other liabilities assumed (2,941)
Net cash paid for Falcon Financial acquisition $ 113,696

The purchase of Falcon Financial was accounted for as a business combination, and therefore the Company applied the principles of Statement of
Financial Standards No. 141 (“SFAS No. 141”), “Business Combinations,” and Statement of Financial Standards No. 142 (“SFAS No. 142”), “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” to the transaction. There were approximately $2.0 million of finite lived intangibles identified in the business combination that will
be amortized over two to 21 years. These intangibles are included in “Deferred expenses and other assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
As of September 30, 2006, the Company had unamortized purchase related finite lived intangible assets of approximately $1.5 million related to the Falcon
Financial acquisition. In addition, the acquisition resulted in approximately $7.7 million of goodwill. The goodwill was adjusted by approximately
$1.5 million subsequent to the acquisition to reflect severance payments to certain individuals and other costs which resulted in an increase of goodwill to
$9.2 million. The goodwill is tested annually for impairment as required by SFAS No. 142. The most recent impairment test was performed by the Company
during the fourth quarter of 2005 and no impairment was identified. On May 1, 2005, the assets acquired in the Falcon Financial acquisition were merged
with AutoStar Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. (see Note 6 for further description of AutoStar Realty Operating Partnership, L.P.).

Note 5—Corporate Tenant Lease Assets

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, the Company acquired an aggregate of approximately $46.7 million and
$179.0 million in CTL assets and disposed of CTL assets for net proceeds of approximately $54.4 million and $10.4 million. The Company did not allocate
any of the purchase costs to intangible assets in relation to the CTL assets acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and allocated
$4.0 million of purchase costs to intangible assets in relation to the CTL assets acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 (see Note 3). As of
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company had unamortized purchase related finite lived intangible assets of approximately $40.3 million and
$42.5 million, respectively, and included these in “Other investments” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The Company’s investments in CTL assets, at cost, were as follows (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
Facilities and improvements $ 2,681,053 $ 2,657,306
Land and land improvements 767,958 747,724
Less: accumulated depreciation (335,609) (289,669)
Corporate tenant lease assets, net $ 3,113,402 $ 3,115,361

Under certain leases, the Company is entitled to receive additional participating lease payments to the extent gross revenues of the corporate customer
exceed a base amount. For the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company earned approximately $152,000 from such additional participating lease
payments. In addition, the Company also receives reimbursements from customers for certain facility operating expenses including common area costs,
insurance and real estate taxes. Customer expense reimbursements for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were approximately $7.7 million
and $7.2 million, respectively, and $21.5 million and $19.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are included as
a reduction of “Operating costs—corporate tenant lease assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company is subject to expansion option agreements with three existing customers that could require the Company to fund and to construct up to
171,000 square feet of additional adjacent space on which the Company would receive additional operating lease income under the terms of the option
agreements. In addition, upon exercise of such expansion option agreements, the corporate customers would be required to simultaneously extend their
existing lease terms for additional periods ranging from six to ten years.

As of September 30, 2006, the Company also had $91.1 million of unfunded commitments, of which $4.2 million was discretionary and $86.9 million
was non-discretionary related to 13 CTL investments. These commitments generally fall into two categories: (1) pre-approved capital improvement projects;
and (2) new or additional construction costs. Upon funding, the Company would receive additional operating lease income from the customers. In addition,
the Company has $17.8 million of non-discretionary unfunded commitments related to 20 existing customers in the form of tenant improvements which were
negotiated between the Company and customers at the commencement of the leases.

On April 13, 2006, the Company signed a lease termination agreement with a customer that occupied 12 facilities that were subject to separate cross-
defaulted leases. Of these 12 leases, nine were assigned to the Company on June 30, 2006 and three were amended and will expire between 2007 and 2011.
Three of the nine assigned leases have sub-leases that expire between 2008 and 2018 and the remaining six facilities are vacant. The Company negotiated to
receive a $20.0 million letter of credit from the tenant under a previous amendment to the lease. The letter of credit was cashed by the Company upon
execution of the current lease amendment and termination and allocated between each of the leases as a lease termination fee. Subsequent to the termination,
the Company determined it would sell six of the nine facilities with terminated leases and designated those facilities as “Assets held for sale” on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the Company determined that the six facilities held for sale were impaired and recorded a $7.6 million
charge.
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During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company reclassified one of the facilities from “Assets held for sale” to “Corporate tenant lease
assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets due to a new lease being signed for that facility. The Company reclassified the facility at its fair value
at the date of the decision not to sell. As of September 30, 2006, five facilities with an aggregate book value of $12.0 million remained in “Assets held for
sale” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

On September 21, 2006, the Company sold one CTL asset for net proceeds of approximately $32.5 million and realized a gain of approximately $17.3
million. On May 26, 2006, the Company sold one CTL asset for net proceeds of approximately $12.8 million and realized a gain of approximately $2.4
million. On March 6, 2006, the Company sold two CTL assets for net proceeds of approximately $9.0 million and realized a gain of approximately $2.2
million.

On September 28, 2005, the Company sold one CTL asset for net proceeds of approximately $4.4 million and realized a gain of approximately $552,000.
On May 27, 2005, the Company sold one CTL asset for net proceeds of approximately $6.0 million and realized a gain of approximately $407,000.

The results of operations from CTL assets sold or held for sale in the current and prior periods are classified as “Income from discontinued operations™
on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations even though such income was actually recognized by the Company prior to the asset sale. Gains
from the sale of CTL assets are classified as “Gain from discontinued operations” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Note 6—Joint Ventures and Minority Interest

Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures—Income or loss generated from the Company’s joint venture investments is included in “Equity in
earnings from joint ventures” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

At September 30, 2006, the Company had a 50% investment in Corporate Technology Centre Associates, LLC (“CTC”), whose external member is
Corporate Technology Centre Partners, LLC. This venture was formed for the purpose of operating, acquiring and, in certain cases, developing CTL facilities.
At September 30, 2006, the CTC venture held one facility. The Company’s investment in this joint venture at September 30, 2006 was $4.8 million. The joint
venture’s carrying value for the one facility owned at September 30, 2006 was $17.4 million. The joint venture had total assets of $18.8 million as of
September 30, 2006 and a net loss of $(136,000) and $(378,000) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively. The Company
accounts for this investment under the equity method because the Company’s joint venture partner has certain participating rights giving them shared control
over the venture.

In addition, the Company has 47.5% investments in Oak Hill Advisors, L.P. and Oak Hill Credit Alpha MGP, a 47.0% investment in OHSF GP Partners
II, LLC and a 45.5% investment in Oak Hill Credit Opportunities MGP, LLC (collectively, “Oak Hill”). The Company has determined that all of these entities
are VIE’s (see Note 3) and that an external member is the primary beneficiary. As such, the Company accounts for these investments under the equity method.
The Company’s investment in these ventures at September 30, 2006 was $190.2 million. These ventures engage in investment and asset management services.
Upon acquisition of the interests in Oak Hill there was a difference between the Company’s book value of the equity investments and the underlying equity in
the net assets of Oak Hill of approximately $199.8 million. Under the provisions of APB 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for
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Investments in Common Stock,” the Company allocated this value to finite lived identifiable intangible assets of approximately $81.8 million and goodwill of
$118.0 million. These intangible assets are amortized based on their determined useful lives through quarterly adjustments to “Equity in earnings from joint
ventures” and “Investments in joint ventures” on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. As of September 30, 2006, the unamortized balance
related to intangible assets for these investments was approximately $66.2 million.

Minority Interest—Income or loss allocable to external partners in consolidated entities is included in “Minority interest in consolidated entities” on the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, TN NRDC, LLC (“SPV”) was created to invest in a strategic real estate related opportunity. SPV
was funded 90% by the Company and 10% by an unrelated third party. At September 30, 2006 the Company had contributed $92.1 million in SPV. SPV
qualifies as a VIE and the Company is the primary beneficiary. Therefore, the Company consolidates SPV for financial statement purposes with the
underlying investment being recorded in “Other investments” and records the minority interest of the external partner in “Minority interest in consolidated
entities” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During 2005, the Company had an investment in iStar Operating, Inc. (“iStar Operating”), a taxable REIT subsidiary that, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, serviced the Company’s loans and certain loan portfolios owned by third parties. The Company owned all of the non-voting preferred stock and a
95% economic interest in iStar Operating. The Company determined that this entity was a VIE and the Company was the primary beneficiary, and therefore
the Company consolidates this entity. On December 31, 2005, the Company acquired all the voting common stock in iStar Operating for a nominal amount
and simultaneously merged it into an existing taxable REIT subsidiary of the Company.

On June 8, 2004, AutoStar Realty Operating Partnership, LP (the “Operating Partnership”) was created to provide real estate financing solutions to
automotive dealerships and related automotive businesses. The Operating Partnership is owned 0.50% by AutoStar Realty GP LLC (the “GP”) and 99.50% by
AutoStar Investors Partnership LLP (the “LP”). The GP is funded and owned 93.33% by iStar Automotive Investments, LL.C, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and 6.67% by CP AutoStar, LP, an entity owned and controlled by two entities unrelated to the Company. The LP is funded and owned 93.33%
by iStar Automotive Investments, LLC and 6.67% by CP AutoStar Co-Investors, LP, an entity controlled by two entities unrelated to the Company. This joint
venture qualifies as a VIE and the Company is the primary beneficiary. Therefore, the Company consolidates this partnership for financial statement purposes



and records the minority interest of the external partner in “Minority interest in consolidated entities” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. On
October 3, 2006, the Company bought out the interest that was held by CP AutoStar, LP and CP AutoStar Co-Investor LP and received a five-year exclusivity
agreement with the owners.

On March 31, 2004, the Company began accounting for its 44.7% interest in TriNet Sunnyvale Partners, L.P. (“Sunnyvale”) as a VIE because the limited
partners of Sunnyvale have the option to put their interest to the Company for cash; however, the Company may elect to deliver 297,728 shares of Common
Stock in lieu of cash. The Company consolidates this partnership for financial statement purposes as it is the primary beneficiary. Prior to its consolidation,
the Company accounted for this joint venture under the equity method for financial statement purposes and it was presented in “Investments in joint
ventures,” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and earnings from the joint venture were
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included in “Equity in earnings from joint ventures” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In addition, the Company holds a majority interest in five other limited partnerships as of September 30, 2006 that are consolidated for financial
statement purposes and records the minority interest of the external partner(s) in “Minority interest in consolidated entities” on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Note 7—Other Investments
Other investments consist of the following items (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005

Timber and timberlands, net of accumulated depletion (see

Note 3) $ 147,060 $ 152,114
CTL intangibles, net of accumulated amortization (see Note 3) 40,349 42,530
Investments—other 178,099 39,174
Marketable securities, prepaid expenses and other receivables 29,546 6,652
Other investments $ 395,054 $ 240,470

On January 19, 2005, TimberStar Operating Partnership, L.P. (“TimberStar”) was created to acquire and manage a diversified portfolio of timberlands.
TimberStar is owned 0.50% by TimberStar Investor GP LLC (“TimberStar GP”) and 99.50% by TimberStar Investors Partnership LLP (“TimberStar LP”).
TimberStar GP and TimberStar LP are both funded and owned 96% by iStar Timberland Investments LL.C, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
4% by T-Star Investor Partners, LLC, an entity unrelated to the Company. The Company consolidates this partnership for financial statement purposes and
records the minority interest of the external partner in “Minority interest in consolidated entities” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At
September 30, 2006, the venture held approximately 337,000 acres of timberland located in the northeast, the majority of which is subject to a long-term
supply agreement. The venture’s net carrying value of the timber and timberlands at September 30, 2006 was $147.1 million. Net income for the venture is
reflected in “Other income” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company has $178.1 million invested in 20 separate investments in real estate related funds or other strategic investment opportunities within niche
markets. Of these 20 investments, eight or $115.9 million are accounted for under the cost method. The Company uses the cost method when its interest is so
insignificant that it has virtually no influence over operating and financial policies. Under the cost method, the Company records the initial investment at cost.
Thereafter, income is recognized only when the Company receives distributions from earnings subsequent to the acquisition or when the Company sells its
interest in the venture. The remaining 12 investments, totaling $62.2 million are accounted for under the equity method.
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Deferred expenses and other assets consist of the following items (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2006 5

200
Deferred financing fees, net $ 20,848 $ 13,731
Leasing costs, net 13,248 9,960
Corporate furniture, fixtures and equipment, net 4,682 3,777
Deferred derivative assets 9,661 13,176
Other assets 23,705 9,361
Deferred expenses and other assets $72,144 $ 50,005

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following items (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005




Accrued interest payable $ 56,243 $ 57,542

Security deposits from customers 23,757 23,274
Accrued expenses 27,727 27,794
Unearned operating lease income 8,611 20,778
Deferred derivative liabilities 49,983 32,148
Property taxes payable 7,780 4,578
Other liabilities 32,434 26,408
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities $206,535 $ 192,522
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As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company has debt obligations under various arrangements with financial institutions as follows
(in thousands):

Maximum Carrying Value as of Stated Scheduled
Amount September 30, December 31, Interest Maturity
Available 2006 2005 Rates(1) Date(1)
Secured revolving credit facility:
Line of credit (2) $ 500,000 $ — $ — LIBOR + 1.00%—2.00% January 2009
Unsecured revolving credit facilities:
Line of credit 2,200,000 696,414 1,242,000 LIBOR + 0.525% June 2011
Total revolving credit facilities $ 2,700,000 696,414 1,242,000
Secured term loans: -
Secured by CTL asset 128,836 132,246 7.44% April 2009
Secured by CTL assets 142,786 145,586 6.80%—8.80% Various through 2026
Secured by investments in corporate bonds
and commerical mortgage backed
securities 130,742 67,224 LIBOR + 0.22%—0.65% August 2007
Secured by CTL asset 58,829 59,430 6.41% January 2013
Total secured term loans 461,193 404,486
Debt (discount)/premium 6,229 6,658
Total secured term loans 467,422 411,144
Unsecured notes:
LIBOR + 0.34% Senior Notes(3) 500,000 — LIBOR + 0.34% September 2009
LIBOR + 0.39% Senior Notes 400,000 400,000 LIBOR + 0.39% March 2008
LIBOR + 0.55% Senior Notes 225,000 225,000 LIBOR + 0.55% March 2009
LIBOR + 1.25% Senior Notes 200,000 200,000 LIBOR + 1.25% March 2007
4.875% Senior Notes 350,000 350,000 4.875% January 2009
5.125% Senior Notes 250,000 250,000 5.125% April 2011
5.15% Senior Notes 700,000 700,000 5.15% March 2012
5.375% Senior Notes 250,000 250,000 5.375% April 2010
5.65% Senior Notes 500,000 — 5.65% September 2011
5.70% Senior Notes 367,022 367,022 5.70% March 2014
5.80% Senior Notes 250,000 250,000 5.80% March 2011
5.875% Senior Notes 500,000 — 5.875% March 2016
5.95% Senior Notes(3) 700,000 — 5.95% October 2013
6.00% Senior Notes 350,000 350,000 6.00% December 2010
6.05% Senior Notes 250,000 250,000 6.05% April 2015
6.50% Senior Notes 150,000 150,000 6.50% December 2013
7.00% Senior Notes 185,000 185,000 7.00% March 2008
7.95% Notes — 50,000 7.95% May 2006
8.75% Notes 240,000 240,000 8.75% August 2008
Total unsecured notes 6,367,022 4,217,022
Debt discount (83,998) (78,151)
Impact of pay-floating swap agreements (See
Note 11) (27,604) (30,394)
Total unsecured notes 6,255,420 4,108,477
Other debt obligations 100,000 100,000 LIBOR + 1.50% October 2035
Debt discount (2,005) (2,029)
Total other debt obligations 97,995 97,971
Total debt obligations $ 7,517,251 $ 5,859,592

Explanatory Notes:

(1)  All interest rates and maturity dates are for debt outstanding as of September 30, 2006. Some variable-rate debt obligations are based on 30-day LIBOR and reprice monthly. The 30-day LIBOR rate on
September 30, 2006 was 5.32%. Other variable-rate debt obligations are based on 90-day LIBOR and reprice every three months. The 90-day LIBOR rate on September 30, 2006 was 5.37%.

(2)  Maturity date reflects one-year “term-out” extension at the Company’s option.

(3)  On September 13, 2006, the Company issued $700.0 million of 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 and $500.0 million of three-month LIBOR + 0.34% Senior Notes due 2009.
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The Company’s primary source of short-term funds is a $2.20 billion unsecured revolving credit facility. As of September 30, 2006, there was
approximately $1.45 billion available to draw under the facility. In addition, the Company has one secured revolving credit facility for which availability is



based on percentage borrowing base calculations. The Company’s debt obligations contain covenants that are both financial and non-financial in nature.
Significant financial covenants include limitations on the Company’s ability to incur indebtedness beyond specified levels, and a requirement to maintain
specified ratios of unsecured indebtedness compared to unencumbered assets. Significant non-financial covenants include a requirement in some series of its
publicly-held debt securities that the Company offer to repurchase those securities at a premium if the Company undergoes a change of control. As of
September 30, 2006, the Company believes it is in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants on its debt obligations.

Capital Markets Activity—During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company issued $1.70 billion aggregate principal amount of fixed-
rate Senior Notes bearing interest at annual rates ranging from 5.65% to 5.95% and maturing between 2011 and 2016 and $500.0 million of variable-rate
Senior Notes bearing interest at three-month LIBOR + 0.34% maturing in 2009. In addition, the Company’s $50.0 million of 7.95% Senior Notes matured in
May 2006.

Subsequent to quarter end, the Company exchanged its 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 for 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 in accordance with the exchange
offer and consent solicitation issued on October 4, 2006. For each $1,000 principal amount of 8.75% Senior Notes tendered, holders received approximately
$1,000 principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes and $56.75 of cash. A total of $187.3 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes were issued.
The Company also amended certain covenants in the indenture relating to the remaining 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 as a result of a consent solicitation of
the holders of these notes.

During the 12 months ended December 31, 2005, the Company issued $1.45 billion aggregate principal amount of fixed-rate Senior Notes bearing
interest at annual rates ranging from 5.15% to 6.05% and maturing between 2010 and 2015, and $625.0 million of variable-rate Senior Notes bearing interest
at annual rates ranging from three-month LIBOR + 0.39% to 0.55% and maturing between 2008 and 2009. The proceeds from these transactions were used to
repay outstanding balances on the Company’s revolving credit facilities.

In addition, on September 14, 2005, the Company completed the issuance of $100.0 million in unsecured floating rate trust preferred securities through a
newly formed statutory trust, iStar Financial Statutory Trust I, that is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The securities are subordinate to the
Company’s senior unsecured debt and bear interest at a rate of LIBOR + 1.50%. The trust preferred securities are redeemable, at the option of the Company,
in whole or in part, with no prepayment premium any time after October 2010.

In addition, on March 1, 2005, the Company exchanged its TriNet 7.70% Senior Notes due 2017 for iStar 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014 in
accordance with the exchange offer and consent solicitation issued on January 25, 2005. For each $1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes tendered, holders
received approximately $1,171 principal amount of iStar Notes. A total of $117.0 million aggregate principal amount of iStar Notes were issued. The iStar
Notes issued in the exchange offer form part of the series of iStar 5.70% Series B Notes due 2014 issued on March 9, 2004. Also, on March 30, 2005, the
Company amended certain covenants in the indenture relating to the 7.95% Notes due 2006 as a result of a consent
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solicitation of the holders of these notes. Following the successful completion of the consent solicitation, the Company merged TriNet into the Company, the
Company became the obligor on the Notes and TriNet no longer exists (see Note 1).

The Company primarily uses proceeds from the issuance of securities to repay outstanding secured and unsecured indebtedness.

Unsecured/Secured Credit Facilities Activity—On June 28, 2006, the unsecured facility was amended and restated. The commitment increased to $2.20
billion, of which up to $750.0 million can be borrowed in multiple currencies. The rate on the facility decreased to LIBOR + 0.525% and the annual facility
fee decreased to 12.5 basis points.

On January 9, 2006, the Company extended the maturity on its remaining secured facility to January 2008, reduced its capacity from $700.0 million to
$500.0 million and lowered its interest rates to LIBOR + 1.00% to 2.00% from LIBOR + 1.40% to 2.15%.

On March 12, 2005, August 12, 2005, and September 30, 2005, three of the Company’s secured revolving credit facilities, with a maximum amount
available to draw of $250.0 million, $350.0 million and $500.0 million, respectively, matured.

On September 16, 2005, the commitment on the unsecured facility was increased to $1.50 billion under the accordion feature of the facility. In
February 2006, the facility’s interest rate decreased to LIBOR + 0.70% and the annual facility fee decreased to 15 basis points. It was decreased to this
amount from LIBOR + 0.875% and a 17.5 basis point annual facility fee, due to an upgrade in the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating in January and
February 2006.

Other Financing Activity—During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the portion of the $200.0 million term financing that was secured by
certain commercial mortgage-backed securities was extended for one month and then matured on February 13, 2006. The remaining portion of this financing
that was secured by corporate bonds was extended for one year to August 2007 and the rate on the loan was reduced to LIBOR + 0.22% to LIBOR + 0.65%
from LIBOR + 0.25% to LIBOR + 0.70%. In addition, on May 31, 2006, the Company began a loan participation program which serves as an alternative to
borrowing funds from the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The loan participations are short-term bank loans funded in the secondary market with fixed
maturity dates typically ranging from overnight to 90 days. There was no amount outstanding under this program at September 30, 2006.

During the 12 months ended December 31, 2005, the Company repaid a $76.0 million mortgage on 11 CTL investments which was open to prepayment
without penalty. The Company also prepaid a $135.0 million mortgage on a CTL asset with a 0.5% prepayment penalty. In addition, the Company fully repaid
the STARs Series 2002-1 and STARs Series 2003-1 Notes which had an aggregate outstanding principal balance of approximately $620.7 million on the date
of repayment. The STARs Notes were originally issued in 2002 and 2003 by special purpose subsidiaries of the Company for the purpose of match funding
the Company’s assets that collateralized the STARs Notes. For accounting purposes, the issuance of the STARs Notes was treated as a secured on-balance
sheet financing. In connection with the redemption of the STARs Notes, no gain on sale was recognized and the Company incurred one-time cash costs,
including prepayment and other fees, of approximately $6.8 million and a non-cash charge of approximately $37.5 million to write-off deferred financing fees
and expenses.
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As of September 30, 2006, future expected/scheduled maturities of outstanding long-term debt obligations are as follows (in thousands)(1):

2006 (remaining three months) $ —
2007 333,195
2008 825,000
2009 1,220,560
2010 605,656
2011 1,727,953
Thereafter 2,912,265
Total principal maturities 7,624,629
Net unamortized debt discounts (79,774)
Impact of pay-floating swap agreements (see Note 11) (27,604)
Total debt obligations $7,517,251

Explanatory Note:

(1) Assumes exercise of extensions to the extent such extensions are at the Company’s option.

Note 10—Shareholders’ Equity

The Company’s charter provides for the issuance of up to 200.0 million shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, and 30.0 million shares of
preferred stock. The Company has 4.0 million shares of 8.00% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 5.6 million shares of 7.875% Series E
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 4.0 million shares of 7.80% Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 3.2 million shares of 7.65% Series G
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock and 5.0 million shares of 7.50% Series I Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock outstanding. The Series D, E, F,
G, and I Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock are redeemable without premium at the option of the Company at their respective liquidation preferences
beginning on October 8, 2002, July 18, 2008, September 29, 2008, December 19, 2008 and March 1, 2009, respectively.

In April 2005 and May 2005, the Company issued 989,663 and 174,647 of its treasury shares, respectively, as a part of the purchase of the Company’s
substantial minority interest in Oak Hill. The shares were issued out of the Company’s treasury stock at a weighted average cost of $18.71 and issued at a
price of $41.35 and $40.25 in April 2005 and May 2005, respectively. The difference in the weighted average cost and the issuance price is included in
“Additional paid-in capital” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

DRIP/Stock Purchase Plan—The Company maintains a dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan. Under the dividend reinvestment
component of the plan, the Company’s shareholders may purchase additional shares of Common Stock without payment of brokerage commissions or service
charges by automatically reinvesting all or a portion of their Common Stock cash dividends. Under the direct stock purchase component of the plan, the
Company’s shareholders and new investors may purchase shares of Common Stock directly from the Company without payment of brokerage commissions
or service charges. All purchases of shares in excess of $10,000 per month pursuant to the direct purchase component
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are at the Company’s sole discretion. Shares issued under the plan may reflect a discount of up to 3% from the prevailing market price of the Company’s
Common Stock. The Company is authorized to issue up to 8.0 million shares of Common Stock pursuant to the dividend reinvestment and direct stock
purchase plan. During the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued a total of approximately 500,000 and 386,000 shares of its
Common Stock, respectively, and during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued a total of approximately 532,000 and
411,000 shares of its Common stock, respectively, through the direct stock purchase component of the plan. Net proceeds during the three months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, were approximately $20.6 million and $15.6 million, respectively, and $21.7 million and $16.6 million during the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. There are approximately 2.2 million shares available for issuance under the plan as of September 30, 2006.

Stock Repurchase Program—The Board of Directors approved, and the Company has implemented, a stock repurchase program under which the
Company is authorized to repurchase up to 5.0 million shares of its Common Stock from time to time, primarily using proceeds from the disposition of assets
or loan repayments and excess cash flow from operations, but also using borrowings under its credit facilities if the Company determines that it is
advantageous to do so. As of September 30, 2006, the Company had repurchased a total of approximately 2.3 million shares at an aggregate cost of
approximately $40.7 million. The Company has not repurchased any shares under the stock repurchase program since November 2000, however the Company
issued approximately 1.2 million shares of its treasury stock during 2005 (see above).

Note 11—Risk Management and Use of Financial Instruments

Risk management—In the normal course of its on-going business operations, the Company encounters economic risk. There are three main components
of economic risk: interest rate risk, credit risk and market risk. The Company is subject to interest rate risk to the degree that its interest-bearing liabilities
mature or reprice at different points in time and potentially at different bases, than its interest-earning assets. Credit risk is the risk of default on the
Company’s lending investments that results from a property’s, borrower’s or corporate tenant’s inability or unwillingness to make contractually required



payments. Market risk reflects changes in the value of loans due to changes in interest rates or other market factors, including the rate of prepayments of

principal and the value of the collateral underlying loans, the valuation of CTL facilities held by the Company and changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

Use of derivative financial instruments—The Company’s use of derivative financial instruments is primarily limited to the utilization of interest rate
agreements or other instruments to manage interest rate risk exposure. The principal objective of such arrangements is to minimize the risks and/or costs
associated with the Company’s operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated debt issuances. During 2005, the Company also began
using derivative instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate movements. The counterparties to each of these contractual arrangements are
major financial institutions with which the Company and its affiliates may also have other financial relationships. The Company is exposed to credit loss in
the event of nonperformance by these counterparties. However, because of their high credit ratings, the Company does not anticipate that any of the
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations. The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge credit risk or for speculative purposes.
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The Company’s objective in using derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and foreign exchange gains/losses, and to manage its exposure to
interest rate movements, foreign exchange rate movements, or other identified risks. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate
swaps as part of its cash flow hedging strategy. Interest rate swaps involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts in exchange for fixed-rate payments over the
life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying principal amount. As of September 30, 2006, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash
flows associated with $1.13 billion of forecasted issuances of debt.

Interest rate swaps used as a fair value hedge involve the receipt of fixed-rate amounts in exchange for variable rate payments over the life of the
agreement without exchange of the underlying principal amount. At September 30, 2006, such derivatives were used to hedge the change in fair value
associated with $1.10 billion of existing fixed-rate debt. As of September 30, 2006, no derivatives were designated as hedges of net investments in foreign
operations. Additionally, derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage the Company’s exposure to interest rate movements,
foreign exchange rate movements, and other identified risks, but do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements of SFAS No. 133.

The following table represents the notional principal and fair value amounts of interest rate swaps by class and the corresponding hedged liability

positions and the Company’s foreign currency derivatives. The Company’s foreign currency derivatives do not use hedge accounting, but are marked to
market under SFAS No. 133 (in thousands):

Notional Amount Notional Amount Fair Value Fair Value
as of as of as of as of
September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005 September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps $ — $ 250,000 $ — $ 2,150

Forward-starting interest rate swaps 1,125,000 650,000 (9,416) 8,771
Fair value hedges. 1,100,000 1,100,000 (30,896) (30,112)
Total interest rate hedges $ 2,225,000 $ 2,000,000 $ (40,312) $ (19,191)
Foreign currency hedges

Sell Canadian Dollar forward CAD — CAD 11,512 $ — $ 71

Buy Euro forward € — € 632 — (11)

Cross currency Euro swap € — € 3,740 — 134

Sell GBP forward £ 8,200 £ 16,077 (10) 477
Total foreign currency hedges $ (10) $ 671

On September 29, 2006, the Company entered into a £8 million forward swap (approximately $15.4 million) maturing October 6, 2006. In addition, on
August 2, 2006, through TimberStar, the Company entered into a ten-year $75.0 million forward starting swap with a rate of 5.528%. On June 25, 2006, two
pay-fixed swaps each with notional amounts of $125.0 million expired. In April 2006, through TimberStar, the Company entered into seven forward starting
swaps, two with notional amounts of $50.0 million and five with notional amounts of $100.0 million. All seven forward starting swaps have ten-year terms
and rates ranging from 5.495% to 5.604%. On February 17, 2006, four forward starting swaps all with notional amounts of $50.0 million, ten-year terms and
rates from 4.610% to 4.483% were settled in connection with the Company’s issuance of $500.0 million of ten-year Senior Notes which were priced on

February 16, 2006. The cash settlement amount is being amortized into “Interest expense” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations through
the maturity of the Senior Notes.
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At September 30, 2006, derivatives with a fair value of $9.7 million were included in “Deferred expenses and other assets” and derivatives with a fair
value of $50.0 million were included in “Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities” on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit risk concentrations—Concentrations of credit risks arise when a number of borrowers or customers related to the Company’s investments are
engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet
contractual obligations, including those to the Company, to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. The Company regularly monitors



various segments of its portfolio to assess potential concentrations of credit risks. Management believes the current portfolio is reasonably well diversified
and does not contain any unusual concentration of credit risks.

Substantially all of the Company’s CTL assets (including those held by joint ventures) and loans and other lending investments are collateralized by
facilities located in the United States, with California (15.8%) and Florida (10.1%) representing the only significant concentrations (greater than 10.0%) as of
September 30, 2006. The Company’s investments also contain significant concentrations in the following asset types as of September 30, 2006: office-CTL
(16.3%), retail (13.4%), industrial/R&D (13.1%) and apartment/residential (12.0%).

The Company underwrites the credit of prospective borrowers and customers and often requires them to provide some form of credit support such as
corporate guarantees, letters of credit and/or cash security deposits. Although the Company’s loans and other lending investments and corporate customer
lease assets are geographically diverse and the borrowers and customers operate in a variety of industries, to the extent the Company has a significant
concentration of interest or operating lease revenues from any single borrower or customer, the inability of that borrower or customer to make its payment
could have an adverse effect on the Company.

Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits

The Company’s 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is designed to provide equity-based incentive compensation for officers, key employees,
directors, consultants and advisers of the Company. This Plan was effective May 31, 2006 and replaces the original 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Plan
provides for awards of stock options, shares of restricted stock, phantom shares, dividend equivalent rights and other performance awards. There is a
maximum of 4,550,000 shares of Common Stock available for awards under the Plan provided that the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for
grants of options designated as incentive stock options is 1.0 million, subject to certain antidilution provisions in the Plan. All awards under the Plan are at the
discretion of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors. At September 30, 2006, options to purchase approximately 1.2 million shares of
Common Stock were outstanding and approximately 481,000 shares of restricted stock were outstanding. A significant number of these options and shares of
restricted stock were issued under the original 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan and, therefore, a total of approximately 4.5 million shares remain available for
awards under the Plan as of September 30, 2006.
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Changes in options outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 are as follows ($ in thousands, except for weighted average strike
price):

Number of Shares Weighted Aggregate
Non-Employee Average Intrinsic
Employees Directors Other Strike Price Value

Options Outstanding, December 31, 2005 850,732 96,894 284,366 $17.86
Granted in 2006 — — — 5 —
Exercised in 2006 (35,451) (6,900) (17,230) $21.24
Forfeited in 2006 (333) — — $19.69

Options Outstanding, September 30, 2006 814,948 89,994 267,136 $17.69 $28,217

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options as of September 30, 2006:

Options
Outstanding Remaining
Exercise and Contractual
Price Exercisable Life
$14.72 472,121 2.40
$16.88 396,322 3.26
$17.38 16,667 3.46
$19.69 161,182 4.26
$24.94 40,000 4.63
$26.97 2,000 4.70
$27.00 17,000 4.73
$28.54 3,396 1.59
$29.82 58,296 5.66
$55.39 5,094 2.67
1,172,078

In the third quarter 2002 (with retroactive application to the beginning of the calendar year), the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting
for options issued to employees or directors, as allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123”), “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition
and Disclosure” and further amended by SFAS No. 123R. Accordingly, the Company recognizes a charge equal to the fair value of these options at the date of
grant multiplied by the number of options issued. This charge is amortized over the related remaining vesting terms to individual employees as additional
compensation. There were 15,500 options issued during the year ended December 31, 2003 with a strike price of $14.72. These options were fully vested as
of December 31, 2005. The Company has not issued any options since 2003. Cash received from option exercises during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006 was approximately $370,000 and $1.3 million, respectively. The Company issues new shares to satisfy these option exercises.
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Changes in non-vested restricted stock units during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 (shares and aggregate intrinsic value in thousands):

Weighted Average

Number Grant Date Aggregate
of Fair Value Intrinsic
Non-Vested Shares Shares Per Share Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2005 94 $39.06
Granted 435 36.73
Vested 32) 36.17
Forfeited (16) 37.47
Nonvested at September 30, 2006 481 $37.20 $ 20,053

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company granted 435,294 restricted stock units to employees that vest proportionately over three
years on the anniversary date of the initial grant of which 418,836 remain outstanding. Dividends are paid on these restricted stock units as dividends are paid
on shares of the Company’s Common Stock and are accounted for in a manner consistent with the Company’s Common Stock dividends, as a reduction to
retained earnings.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company granted 68,730 restricted stock units to employees that vest proportionately over three years on
the anniversary date of the initial grant of which 51,775 remain outstanding

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company granted 36,205 restricted stock units to employees that vest proportionately over three years on
the anniversary date of the initial grant of which 10,270 remain outstanding. In addition, in connection with the Chief Executive Officer’s employment
agreement 236,167 restricted shares were issued on March 31, 2004 (see detailed information below).

For accounting purposes, the Company measures compensation costs for these shares, not including any contingently issuable shares, as of the date of
the grant and expenses such amounts against earnings, either at the grant date (if no vesting period exists) or ratably over the respective vesting/service
period. Such amounts appear on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations in “General and administrative.” As of September 30, 2006, there was
$12.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a period of
three years.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company entered into a three-year employment agreement with its President. This initial three-year term,
and any subsequent one-year renewal term, will automatically be extended for an additional year, unless earlier terminated by prior notice from the Company
or the President. Under the agreement, the President receives an annual base salary of $350,000, subject to an annual review for upward (but not downward)
adjustment. Beginning with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, he was eligible to receive a target bonus of $650,000, subject to annual review for
upward adjustment. In addition, the President purchased a 20% interest in both the Company’s 2005 and 2006 high performance unit program for senior
executive officers, a 25% interest in the Company’s 2007 high performance unit program for senior executive officers and a 35% interest in the Company’s
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2008 high performance unit program for senior executive officers (see High Performance Unit Program discussion below). This performance program was
approved by the Company’s shareholders in 2003 and is described in detail in the Company’s 2003 and 2005 annual proxy statement. As of September 30,
2006, the purchase price of approximately $288,000, $101,000, $91,000 and $139,000 for the 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 plans, respectively, was paid by the
President. Further, the President has the opportunity to purchase a 35% interest in the Company’s 2009 high performance unit program for senior executive
officers. The purchase price for all plans was based upon a valuation prepared by an independent investment-banking firm. The interests purchased by the
President will have no value to him unless the Company achieves total shareholder returns in excess of those achieved by peer group indices, all as more fully
described in the Company’s 2003 and 2005 annual proxy statement. The President is also entitled to an allocation of 25% of the interests in the Company’s
proposed New Business Crossed Incentive Compensation Program, or an alternative plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company entered into a three-year employment agreement with its Chief Financial Officer. Under the
agreement, the Chief Financial Officer receives an annual base salary of $225,000 and a bonus, which was targeted to be $325,000, both subject to an annual
review for upward, and in respect to the bonus, downward adjustment. In addition, the Company granted the Chief Financial Officer 108,980 contingently
vested restricted stock awards that vested on December 31, 2005. Dividends were paid on the restricted shares as dividends are paid on shares of the
Company’s Common Stock. These dividends were accounted for in a manner consistent with the Company’s Common Stock dividends, as a reduction to
retained earnings. For accounting purposes, the Company took a total charge of approximately $3.0 million related to the restricted stock awards, which was
amortized over the period from November 6, 2002 through December 31, 2005. This charge is reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations in “General and administrative.”

Further, the Company granted the Chief Financial Officer 100,000 restricted shares which became fully-vested on January 31, 2004 as a result of the
Company achieving a 53.3% total shareholder rate of return (dividends since November 6, 2002 plus share price appreciation from January 2, 2003). The
Company incurred a one-time charge to earnings during the three months ended March 31, 2004 of approximately $4.1 million (the fair market value of the
100,000 shares at $40.02 per share plus the Company’s share of taxes). For accounting purposes, the employment arrangement described above was treated as
a contingent, variable plan until January 31, 2004.

On February 11, 2004, the Company entered into a new employment agreement with its Chief Executive Officer which took effect upon the expiration of
the old agreement. The new agreement has an initial term of three years and provides for the following compensation:



- an annual salary of $1.0 million;

- a potential annual cash incentive award of up to $5.0 million if performance goals set by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in
consultation with the Chief Executive Officer are met; and

- a one-time award of Common Stock with a value of $10.0 million at March 31, 2004 (based upon the trailing 20-day average closing price of the
Common Stock); the award was fully vested when granted and dividends will be paid on the shares from the date of grant, but the shares cannot be
sold for five years unless the price of the Common Stock during the 12 months ending March 31 of
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each year increases by at least 15%, in which case the sale restrictions on 25% of the shares awarded will lapse in respect to each 12-month period. In
connection with this award the Company recorded a $10.1 million charge in “General and administrative” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements
of Operations. The Chief Executive Officer notified the Company that subsequent to this award he contributed an equivalent number of shares to a
newly established charitable foundation.

In addition, the Chief Executive Officer purchased an 80%, 75% and 70% interest in the Company’s 2006, 2007 and 2008 high performance unit
program for senior executive officers, respectively (see High Performance Unit Program discussion below). This performance program was approved by the
Company’s shareholders in 2003 and is described in detail in the Company’s 2003 and 2005 annual proxy statement. As of September 30, 2006, the purchase
price of approximately $286,000, $274,000 and $325,000 for the 2006, 2007 and 2008 plans, respectively, was paid by the Chief Executive Officer. The
purchase price for all plans was based upon a valuation prepared by an independent investment-banking firm. The interests purchased by the Chief Executive
Officer will have no value to him unless the Company achieves total shareholder returns in excess of those achieved by peer group indices, all as more fully
described in the Company’s 2003 and 2005 annual proxy statement.

High Performance Unit Program

In May 2002, the Company’s shareholders approved the iStar Financial High Performance Unit (“HPU”) Program. The program, as more fully described
in the Company’s annual proxy statement dated April 8, 2002, is a performance-based employee compensation plan that only has material value to the
participants if the Company provides superior returns to its shareholders. The program entitles the employee participants (“HPU holders”) to receive
distributions in the nature of Common Stock dividends if the total rate of return on the Company’s Common Stock (share price appreciation plus dividends)
exceeds certain performance levels.

Four plans within the program completed their valuation periods as of September 30, 2006: the 2002 plan, the 2003 plan, the 2004 plan and the 2005
plan. Each plan has 5,000 shares of High Performance Common Stock associated with it. Each share of High Performance Common Stock carries 0.25 votes
per share.

For these plans, the Company’s performance was measured over a one-year and two-year valuation period, ending on December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively and a three-year valuation period ending on December 31, 2004 and 2005. The end of the valuation period (i.e., the “valuation date”) will be
accelerated if there is a change in control of the Company. The High Performance Common Stock has a nominal value unless the total rate of shareholder
return for the relevant valuation period exceeds the greater of: (1) 10%, 20%, 30%, or 30% for the 2002 plan, the 2003 plan, the 2004 plan and the 2005 plan,
respectively; and (2) a weighted industry index total rate of return consisting of equal weightings of the Russell 1000 Financial Index and the Morgan Stanley
REIT Index for the relevant period.

If the total rate of return on the Company’s Common Stock exceeds the threshold performance levels for a particular plan, then distributions will be paid
on the shares of High Performance Common Stock related to that plan in the same amounts and at the same times as distributions are paid on a number of
shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to the following: 7.5% of the Company’s excess total rate of return (over the higher of the two threshold
performance levels) multiplied by the weighted average market value of the Company’s common equity capitalization during the measurement period, all as
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divided by the average closing price of a share of the Company’s Common Stock for the 20 trading days immediately preceding the applicable valuation date.

If the total rate of return on the Company’s Common Stock does not exceed the threshold performance levels for a particular plan, then the shares of
High Performance Common Stock related to that plan will have only nominal value. In this event, each of the 5,000 shares will be entitled to dividends equal
to 0.01 times the dividend paid on a share of Common Stock, if and when dividends are declared on the Common Stock.

Regardless of how much the Company’s total rate of return exceeds the threshold performance levels, the dilutive impact to the Company’s shareholders
resulting from distributions on High Performance Common Stock in each plan is limited to the equivalent of 1% of the average monthly number of fully
diluted shares of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding during the valuation period.

The employee participants have purchased their interests in High Performance Common Stock through a limited liability company at purchase prices
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company’s Board of Directors has established the prices of the High Performance Common Stock based
upon, among other things, an independent valuation from a major securities firm. The aggregate initial purchase prices were approximately $2.7 million,



$1.8 million, $1.4 million and $589,000 for the 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 plans, respectively. No HPU holder is permitted to exchange his or her interest in
the LLC for shares of High Performance Common Stock prior to the applicable valuation date.

The total shareholder return for the valuation period under the 2002 plan was 21.9%, which exceeded both the fixed performance threshold of 10% and
the industry index return of (5.8%). As a result of this superior performance, the participants in the 2002 plan are entitled to receive distributions equivalent to
the amount of dividends payable on 819,254 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, as and when such dividends are paid. Such dividend payments began
with the first quarter 2003 dividend. The Company pays dividends on the 2002 plan shares in the same amount per equivalent share and on the same
distribution dates that shares of the Company’s Common Stock are paid.

The total shareholder return for the valuation period under the 2003 plan was 78.3%, which exceeded the fixed performance threshold of 20% and the
industry index return of 24.7%. The plan was fully funded and was limited to 1% of the average monthly number of fully diluted shares of the Company’s
Common Stock during the valuation period. As a result of the Company’s superior performance, the participants in the 2003 plan are entitled to receive
distributions equivalent to the amount of dividends payable on 987,149 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, as and when such dividends are paid. Such
dividend payments began with the first quarter 2004 dividend. The Company pays dividends on the 2003 plan shares in the same amount per equivalent share
and on the same distribution dates that shares of the Company’s Common Stock are paid.

The total shareholder return for the valuation period under the 2004 plan was 115.5%, which exceeded the fixed performance threshold of 30% and the
industry index return of 55.1%. The plan was fully funded and was limited to 1% of the average monthly number of fully diluted shares of the Company’s
Common Stock during the valuation period. As a result of the Company’s superior performance, the participants in the 2004 plan are entitled to receive
distributions equivalent to the amount of dividends payable on 1,031,875 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, as and when such dividends are paid.
Such dividend payments began with the first quarter 2005 dividend. The Company pays
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dividends on the 2004 plan shares in the same amount per equivalent share and on the same distribution dates that shares of the Company’s Common Stock
are paid.

The total shareholder return for the valuation period under the 2005 plan was 63.4%, which exceeded the fixed performance threshold of 30%, but did
not exceed the industry index return of 80.8%. As a result, the plan was not funded and on December 31, 2005, the Company redeemed the high performance
stock for its fair value and each unit holder received their proportionate share of the nominal fair value of the plan.

New 2006, 2007 and 2008 plans have been established with a three-year valuation period ending December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
Awards under the 2006 plan, the 2007 plan and the 2008 plan were approved in January 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The 2006 plan, 2007 plan and
2008 plan each have 5,000 shares of High Performance Common Stock with an aggregate initial purchase price of $715,000, $643,000 and $725,000,
respectively. As of September 30, 2006, the Company had received a net contribution of $607,000, $539,000 and $709,000 under the 2006 plan, the 2007
plan and the 2008 plan, respectively. The purchase price of the High Performance Common Stock was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors based
upon, among other things, an independent valuation from a major securities firm. The provisions of the 2006 plan, the 2007 plan and the 2008 plan are
substantially the same as the prior plans.

In addition to these plans, a high performance unit program for senior executive officers has been established with three-year valuation periods ending
December 31, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 20009, respectively. The provisions of these plans are substantially the same as the high performance unit programs
for employees except that the plans are limited to 0.5% of the average monthly number of fully diluted shares of the Company’s Common Stock during the
valuation period.

The total shareholder return for the valuation period under the 2005 high performance unit program for executive officers was 63.4%, which exceeded
the fixed performance threshold of 30%, but did not exceed the industry index return of 80.8%. As a result, the plan was not funded and on December 31,
2005, the Company redeemed the high performance stock for its fair value and each unit holder received their proportionate share of the nominal fair value of
the plan.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded a charge to “General and administrative” on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations relating to stock-based compensation in connection with the Company’s High Performance Unit equity compensation program for
senior management. The non-cash compensation charge of approximately $4.5 million is the result of a correction due to a change in the assumptions of the
discount rates used to value the 2002 through 2008 HPU plans. The employee participants in the plans purchased their interests in the plans based on the fair
values originally determined at the applicable dates of grant of the original plans. The portion of the charge relating to the years ended December 31, 2002
through 2005 was determined pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 123 which was in effect for those years, and the portion relating to the first two
quarters of the year ending December 31, 2006 was determined pursuant to SFAS No. 123R which became effective for 2006. The Company has concluded
that the amount of stock-based compensation charges that should have been previously recorded are not material to any of its previously issued financial
statements. The Company has further concluded that the cumulative charge of approximately $4.5 million is not material to the quarter ended September 30,
2006, nor is it expected to be material to the current fiscal year. As such, this camulative charge is recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2006, rather than restating prior periods.

38

iStar Financial Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits (Continued)



The additional equity from the issuance of the High Performance Common Stock is recorded as a separate class of stock and included within
shareholders’ equity on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Net income allocable to common shareholders will be reduced by the HPU holders’
share of dividends paid and undistributed earnings, if any.

401(k) Plan

Effective November 4, 1999, the Company implemented a savings and retirement plan (the “401(k) Plan”), which is a voluntary, defined contribution
plan. All employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan following completion of three months of continuous service with the Company. Each
participant may contribute on a pretax basis up to the maximum percentage of compensation and dollar amount permissible under Section 402(g) of the
Internal Revenue Code not to exceed the limits of Code Sections 401(k), 404 and 415. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the Company may make
matching contributions on the participant’s behalf of up to 50% of the first 10% of the participant’s annual compensation. The Company made gross
contributions of approximately $93,000 and $95,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $632,000 and $609,000 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 13—Earnings Per Share

EPS is calculated using the two-class method, pursuant to EITF 03-6. The two-class method is required as the Company’s HPU shares each have the
right to receive dividends should dividends be declared on the Company’s Common Stock. HPU holders are Company employees who purchased high
performance common stock units under the Company’s High Performance Unit Program.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS calculations for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 for common shares, respectively (in thousands, except per share data):

For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005

Income from continuing operations. $ 86,702 $ 56,218 $ 259,563 $ 201,236
Preferred dividend requirements (10,580) (10,580) (31,740) (31,740)
Net income allocable to common shareholders and HPU holders before income from

discontinued operations and gain from discontinued operations $ 76122 $ 45638 $227,823 $ 169,496
Earnings allocable to common shares
Numerator for basic earnings per share:
Income allocable to common shareholders before income from discontinued operations

and gain from discontinued operations $ 74262 $ 44518 $222,254 $ 165,318
Income from discontinued operations 667 1,722 1,731 5,267
Gain from discontinued operations 16,842 538 21,267 934
Net income allocable to common shareholders $ 91,771 $ 46,778  $245252 $ 171,519
Numerator for diluted earnings per share:
Income allocable to common shareholders before income from discontinued operations

and gain from discontinued operations(1) $ 74311 $ 44,530 $222,393 $ 165,361
Income from discontinued operations 667 1,722 1,731 5,268
Gain from discontinued operations 16,847 539 21,272 935
Net income allocable to common shareholders $ 91,825 $ 46,791 $245396 $ 171,564
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic earnings per common share 113,318 112,835 113,281 112,313
Adad: effect of assumed shares issued under treasury stock method for stock options

and restricted shares. 878 779 809 782
Add: effect of contingent shares. — 109 — 109
Add: effect of joint venture shares 349 298 349 298
Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per common share 114,545 114,021 114,439 113,502
Basic earnings per common share:
Income allocable to common shareholders before income from discontinued operations

and gain from discontinued operations $ 066 $ 039 $ 196 $ 1.47
Income from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 0.01 0.05
Gain from discontinued operations 0.15 0.00 0.19 0.01
Net income allocable to common shareholders $ 081 $ 041 $ 216 % 1.53
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income allocable to common shareholders before income from discontinued operations

and gain from discontinued operations $ 065 $ 039 $ 194 $ 1.46
Income from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 0.01 0.04
Gain from discontinued operations 0.15 0.00 0.19 0.01
Net income allocable to common shareholders $ 080 $ 041  $ 214 % 1.51

Explanatory Note:

(1) For the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, includes the allocable portion of $30 and $0 of joint venture income, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006
and 2005, includes the allocable portion of $86 and $0 of joint venture income, respectively.
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As more fully described in Note 12, HPU shares are sold to employees as part of a performance-based employee compensation plan. As of September
30, 2006, the 2002-2005 HPU plans have vested, however, the 2005 plan did not meet the required performance thresholds to fund. Therefore, the Company
redeemed the HPU shares from it’s employees. The 2002-2004 plans each have 5,000 shares outstanding. The shares in each plan receive dividends based on
a common stock equivalent that is separately determined for each plan depending on the Company’s performance during a three-year valuation period. These
HPU Shares are treated as a separate class of common stock under EITF-03-06. The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerators and
denominators of the basic and diluted EPS calculations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 for HPU shares, respectively (in
thousands, except per share data):

For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005

Earnings allocable to High Performance Units
Numerator for basic earnings per HPU share:
Income allocable to high performance units before income from discontinued

operations and gain from discontinued operations $ 1,860 $1,120 $ 5,569 $ 4,178
Income from discontinued operations 17 43 43 133
Gain from discontinued operations 422 14 533 24
Net income allocable to high performance units $ 2,299 $1,177 $ 6,145 $ 4,335
Numerator for diluted earnings per HPU share:
Income allocable to high performance units before income from discontinued

operations and gain from discontinued operations(1) $ 1,841 $1,109 $ 5,515 $ 4,136
Income from discontinued operations 17 43 43 132
Gain from discontinued operations 417 13 528 23
Net income allocable to high performance units $ 2,275 $1,165 $ 6,086 $ 4,291
Denominator:
Weighted average High Performance Units outstanding for basic and diluted

earnings per share 15 15 15 15
Basic earnings per HPU share:
Income allocable to high performance units before income from discontinued

operations and gain from discontinued operations $ 124.00 $74.67 $ 371.27 $ 278.53
Income from discontinued operations 1.14 2.87 2.87 8.87
Gain from discontinued operations 28.13 0.93 35.53 1.60
Net income allocable to high performance units $153.27 $78.47 $ 409.67 $ 289.00
Diluted earnings per HPU share:
Income allocable to common shareholders before income from discontinued

operations and gain from discontinued operations $122.73 $73.93 $ 367.67 $ 275.73
Income from discontinued operations 1.14 2.87 2.86 8.81
Gain from discontinued operations 27.80 0.87 35.20 1.53
Net income allocable to high performance units $151.67 $77.67 $ 405.73 $ 286.07

Explanatory Note:

(1) For the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, includes the allocable portion of $30 and $0 of joint venture income, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006
and 2005, includes the allocable portion of $86 and $0 of joint venture income, respectively.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the following shares were antidilutive (in thousands):

For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Stock options 5 5 5 5
Joint venture shares 52 52 52 52

Note 14—Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (“SFAS No. 130”), “Reporting Comprehensive Income” requires that all components of
comprehensive income shall be reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are recognized. Furthermore, a total amount for
comprehensive income shall be displayed in the financial statements. Total comprehensive income was $58.5 million and $83.6 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $271.4 million and $222.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The primary components of comprehensive income, other than net income, consist of amounts attributable to the adoption and continued
application of SFAS No. 133 to the Company’s cash flow hedges and changes in the fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale investments.

For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,




2006 2005 2006 2005

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Net income $104,650 $58,535 $283,137 $ 207,594
Other comprehensive income:
Reclassification of (gains)/losses on securities into

earnings upon realization — — — (2,737)
Reclassification of (gains)/losses on qualifying cash

flow hedges into earnings (301) 11,774 (3,050) 11,632
Unrealized gains/(losses) on available-for-sale

investments (256) 272 351 93)
Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges (45,609) 13,013 (9,058) 5,110
Comprehensive income $ 58,484 $83,594 $271,380 $ 221,506

Unrealized gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments and cash flow hedges are recorded as adjustments to shareholders’ equity through
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not included in net income unless realized.
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Note 14—Comprehensive Income (Continued)

As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, accumulated other comprehensive income reflected in the Company’s shareholders’ equity is
comprised of the following (in thousands):

As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments $2,496 $ 2,145
Unrealized (losses)/gains on cash flow hedges (368) 11,740
Accumulated other comprehensive income $2,128 $ 13,885

Over time, the unrealized gains and losses held in other comprehensive income will be reclassified to earnings in the same period(s) in which the hedged
items are recognized in earnings or in the period in which the available-for-sale securities are sold. The current balance held in other comprehensive income is
expected to be reclassified to earnings over the lives of the current hedging instruments, or for the realized losses on forecasted debt transactions, over the
related term of the debt obligation, as applicable.

Note 15—Dividends

In order to maintain its election to qualify as a REIT, the Company must currently distribute, at a minimum, an amount equal to 90% of its taxable
income and must distribute 100% of its taxable income to avoid paying corporate federal income taxes. The Company anticipates it will distribute all of its
taxable income to its shareholders. Because taxable income differs from cash flow from operations due to non-cash revenues and expenses (such as
depreciation), in certain circumstances, the Company may generate operating cash flow in excess of its dividends or, alternatively, may be required to borrow
to make sufficient dividend payments.

Total dividends declared by the Company aggregated $174.5 million, or $1.54 per share of Common Stock consisting of quarterly dividends of $0.77 per
share which were declared on April 3, 2006 and July 5, 2006. On October 2, 2006, the Company declared a dividend of approximately $88.8 million or $0.77
per common share applicable to the third quarter and payable on October 30, 2006 to shareholders of record and holders of certain share equivalents on
October 16, 2006. The Company also declared dividends aggregating $6.0 million, $8.3 million, $5.9 million, $4.6 million and $7.0 million, respectively, on
its Series D, E, F, G and I preferred stock, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. There are no dividend arrearages on any of the
preferred shares currently outstanding.

Holders of shares of the Series D preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available
for the payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 8.00% per annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference, equivalent to a
fixed annual rate of $2.00 per share. Dividends are cumulative from the date of original issue and are payable quarterly in arrears on or before the 15th day of
each March, June, September and December or, if not a business day, the next succeeding business day. Any dividend payable on the Series D preferred stock
for any partial dividend period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends will be payable to holders of
record as of the close of business on the first day of the calendar month in which the applicable dividend payment date falls or on another date designated by
the Board of Directors of the Company for the payment of dividends that is not more than 30 nor less than ten days prior to the dividend payment date.
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Note 15—Dividends (Continued)

Holders of shares of the Series E preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available for
the payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 7.875% per annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference, equivalent to a fixed



annual rate of $1.97 per share. The remaining terms relating to dividends of the Series E preferred stock are substantially identical to the terms of the Series D
preferred stock described above.

Holders of shares of the Series F preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available for
the payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 7.80% per annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference, equivalent to a fixed
annual rate of $1.95 per share. The remaining terms relating to dividends of the Series F preferred stock are substantially identical to the terms of the Series D
preferred stock described above.

Holders of shares of the Series G preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available
for the payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 7.65% per annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference, equivalent to a
fixed annual rate of $1.91 per share. The remaining terms relating to dividends of the Series G preferred stock are substantially identical to the terms of the
Series D preferred stock described above.

Holders of the Series I preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available for the
payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 7.50% per annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference, equivalent to a fixed
annual rate of $1.88 per share. The remaining terms relating to dividends of the Series I preferred stock are substantially identical to the terms of the Series D
preferred stock described above.

The 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 High Performance Unit Program reached their valuation dates on December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005,
respectively. Based on the Company’s 2002, 2003 and 2004 total rate of return, the participants are entitled to receive dividends on 819,254 shares, 987,149
shares and 1,031,875 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Common Stock. Based on the Company’s 2005 total rate of return, the plan did not exceed the
industry index return and therefore, the plan was not funded. The Company will pay dividends on these units in the same amount per equivalent share and on
the same distribution dates as shares of the Company’s Common Stock. Such dividend payments for the 2002 plan began with the first quarter 2003 dividend,
such dividends for the 2003 plan began with the first quarter 2004 dividend and such dividends for the 2004 plan began with the first quarter 2005 dividend.
All dividends to HPU holders will reduce net income allocable to common shareholders when paid. Additionally, net income allocable to common
shareholders will be reduced by the HPU holders’ share of undistributed earnings, if any.

The Company also pays dividends on 418,836 outstanding restricted stock units that were granted to employees during the nine months ended
September 30, 2006. Total dividends paid by the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was approximately $644,000. Payments began with
the dividend paid on April 28, 2006.

The exact amount of future quarterly dividends to common shareholders will be determined by the Board of Directors based on the Company’s actual
and expected operations for the fiscal year and the Company’s overall liquidity position.
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Note 16—Segment Reporting

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 131 (“SFAS No. 131”) establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report
information about operating segments in annual financial statements and requires that those enterprises report selected financial information about operating
segments in interim financial reports issued to shareholders.

The Company has two reportable segments: Real Estate Lending and Corporate Tenant Leasing. The Company does not have any significant foreign
operations. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 3.

The Company evaluates performance based on the following financial measures for each segment (in thousands):

Corporate
Real Estate Tenant Corporate/ Company
Lending Leasing Other(1) Total
(unaudited)
Three months ended September 30, 2006:
Total revenues(2): $ 170,857 $ 83,172 $ 2,563 | $ 256,592
Equity in earnings (loss) from joint ventures — (116) 1,559 1,443
Total operating and interest expense(3): 3,724 31,437 135,881 171,042
Net operating income(4): 167,133 51,619 (131,759) 86,993
Three months ended September 30, 2005:
Total revenues(2): $ 140990 $ 75920 $ 3,632 [ $ 220,542
Equity in earnings (loss) from joint ventures — (111 850 739
Total operating and interest expense(3): 25,145 61,376 78,141 164,662
Net operating income(4): 115,845 14,433 (73,659) 56,619
Nine months ended September 30, 2006:
Total revenues(2): $ 450,784 $ 254,827 $ 11923 | $ 717,534
Equity in earnings (loss) from joint ventures — (333) 2,829 2,496
Total operating and interest expense(3): 8,536 92,471 358,100 459,107
Net operating income(4): 442,248 162,023 (343,348) 260,923
Nine months ended September 30, 2005:
Total revenues(2): $ 355,530 $ 227,052 $ 13,249 [ $ 595,831
Equity in earnings (loss) from joint ventures — (384) 958 574
Total operating and interest expense(3): 41,918 132,199 220,371 394,488
Net operating income(4): 313,612 94,469 (206,164) 201,917
As of September 30, 2006:
Total long-lived assets(5): $6,123911 $3,113,402 $ 147,341 | $ 9,384,654



Total assets: 6,193,019 3,312,893 807,545 10,313,457

As of December 31, 2005:
Total long-lived assets(5): $ 4,661,915 $3,115,361 $ 152,114 | $ 7,929,390
Total assets: 4,705,525 3,293,048 533,723 8,532,296
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Note 16—Segment Reporting (Continued)

Explanatory Notes:

(1) Corporate and Other represents all corporate level items, including general and administrative expenses and any intercompany eliminations necessary to reconcile to the consolidated Company
totals. This caption also includes the Company’s servicing business, and other investments that are not considered material separate segments.

(2) Total revenues represents all revenues earned during the period from the assets in each segment. Revenue from the Real Estate Lending business primarily represents interest income and
revenue from the Corporate Tenant Leasing business primarily represents operating lease income.

(3) Total operating and interest expense represents provision for loan losses for the Real Estate Lending business and operating costs on CTL assets for the Corporate Tenant Leasing business, as
well as interest expense specifically related to each segment. Interest expense on unsecured notes and the unsecured and secured revolving credit facilities and general and administrative
expense is included in Corporate and Other for all periods. Depreciation and amortization of $19.6 million and $17.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and $58.0 million and $53.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are included in the amounts presented
above.

(4) Net operating income represents income before minority interest, income from discontinued operations and gain from discontinued operations.

(5) Total long-lived assets is comprised of Loans and other lending investments, net and Corporate tenant lease assets, net, for each respective segment and timber investments, net in
Corporate/Other.

Note 17—Subsequent Events

On October 18, 2006, the Company completed the exchange of its 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 for 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 in accordance with
the exchange offer and consent solicitation launched on September 19, 2006. For each $1,000 principal amount of 8.75% Senior Notes tendered, holders
received approximately $1,000 principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes and $56.75 of cash. A total of $187.3 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95%
Senior Notes were issued. The Company also amended certain covenants in the indenture relating to the remaining 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 as a result
of a consent solicitation of the holders of these notes. In connection with this exchange, the Company also terminated $150.0 million of reverse swaps that
were designated to the 8.75% Senior Notes.

On October 30, 2006, the Company contributed the remainder of a $183.5 million equity investment, representing approximately 46.7% ownership in
TimberStar Southwest. On the same day, TimberStar Southwest purchased approximately 900,000 acres of timberland located in Texas, Louisiana and
Arkansas from International Paper for approximately $1.13 billion in cash and notes.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction

The Company’s primary sources of revenues are interest income, which is the interest that borrowers pay on the Company’s loans, and operating lease
income, which is the rent that corporate customers pay the Company to lease its corporate tenant lease (“CTL”) facilities. A smaller and more variable source
of revenue is other income, which consists primarily of prepayment penalties and realized gains that occur when borrowers repay the Company’s loans before
their maturity date. The Company generates income from the differential between the revenues generated from its loans and leases and its interest expense
and the cost of its operations, often referred to as the “spread” or “margin.” The Company seeks to match-fund its revenue generating assets with either fixed
or floating rate debt of a similar maturity so that rising interest rates or changes in the shape of the yield curve will have a minimal impact on the Company’s
earnings. Initially, the Company funds its new lending and leasing activity with short term debt sources such as lines of credit. The Company then match-
funds its assets by raising longer-term unsecured debt, secured debt and equity capital in the public and private capital markets.

Investors in the Company’s securities should read the Introduction section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 for a detailed discussion of the following items:

- Key profitability measures, including annual profitability as measured by adjusted diluted earnings per share, net finance margin and return on average
common book equity;

- Key factors that affect the Company’s profitability, including asset growth, risk management, cost and availability of funds, expense management and
capital management; and

- Key trends that the Company believes may impact its business in the foreseeable future, including that:
— property level returns in the commercial real estate industry continue to improve;
— large amounts of competitive capital continue to flow into commercial real estate;

— although interest rates have risen, they remain at historically low levels which has resulted in continued high prepayment levels on the
Company’s lending investments;

— default rates on commercial mortgages remain low; and

— record levels of real estate securitization activity has led to more aggressive pricing of assets and public availability of information regarding
real estate assets.



During the period covered by this Report, the Company experienced no material changes in its key annual profitability measures, key factors that affect

its profitability or key trends discussed in the Introduction section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Investors are also encouraged to read the Risk Factors section of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2005.

47

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes the Company’s results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the three months

ended September 30, 2005 ($ in thousands):

For the
Three Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 $ Change % Change Explanation

Interest income $ 153,053 $ 100,833 $ 52,220 52% 1)
Operating lease income 83,170 75,920 7,250 10%
Other income 20,369 43,789 (23,420) 53% 2)
Interest expense 115,262 80,731 34,531 43% 3)
Operating costs—corporate tenant lease

assets 6,726 5,718 1,008 18% )
Depreciation and amortization 19,562 17,891 1,671 9%
General and administrative 27,492 15,960 11,532 72% 5)
Provision for loan losses 2,000 — 2,000 >100% (6)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — 44,362 (44,362) >100% 7)
Equity in earnings from joint ventures 1,443 739 704 95% 8)
Income from discontinued operations 684 1,765 (1,081) 61% )
Gain from discontinued operations, net 17,264 552 16,712 >100% )

Explanatory Notes:

O
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This increase was primarily due to $83.0 million of interest income on new originations or additional fundings, offset by a $40.8 million decrease from
the repayment of loans and other lending investments. This increase was also due to an increase in interest income on the Company’s variable-rate
lending investments as a result of higher average one-month LIBOR rates of 5.3% in 2006, compared to 3.6% in 2005.

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, other income included income from loan repayments and prepayment penalties of $16.4 million,
realized gains on sales of lending investments of $1.6 million, income from certain equity investments of $1.5 million, gross profit from timber
operations of $599,000 and asset management, mortgage servicing and other income of $296,000. During the three months ended September 30, 2005,
other income included income from loan repayments and prepayment penalties of $40.2 million, income from certain equity investments of $2.8 million,
gross profit from timber operations of $589,000 and asset management, mortgage servicing and other income of approximately $259,000.

This increase was primarily due to higher average borrowings on the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility. This increase was also due to higher

average one-month LIBOR rates, which averaged 5.3% in 2006 compared to 3.6% in 2005 and higher average three-month LIBOR rates, which
averaged 5.4% in 2006 compared to 3.8% in 2005, on the unhedged portion of the Company’s variable-rate debt and was partially offset by a
$2.4 million decrease in amortization of deferred financing costs on the Company’s debt obligations in 2006 compared to the same period in 2005.

This increase is primarily related to higher unrecoverable operating costs due to vacancies and lease modifications on certain CTL assets.

This increase is primarily due to a non-cash compensation charge of approximately $4.5 million in connection with the Company’s High Performance

Unit equity compensation program for senior management (see above and Note 12 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements). The increase is
also due to an increase in compensation and office related costs resulting from employee growth.

The Company considers it prudent to reflect provisions for loan losses on a portfolio basis based upon the Company’s assessment of general market
conditions, the Company’s internal risk management
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policies and credit risk rating system, industry loss experience, the Company’s assessment of the likelihood of delinquencies or defaults, and the value of
the collateral underlying its investments. Accordingly, the Company recorded $2.0 million of additional provision for loan losses in the quarter ended
September 30, 2006, after review of these items.

During 2005, the Company incurred $44.4 million of losses associated with the amortization of deferred financing costs, the amortization of cap

premium and cash prepayment fees related to the early repayment of the Company’s STARs, Series 2002-1 Notes and the STARs, Series 2003-1 Notes.
The Company also incurred a loss of approximately $55,000 associated with the write-off of the discount related to the early repayment of the
Company’s $76.0 million term loan which had an original maturity date of December 2005.

This increase is primarily due to the improved quarterly performance of the Company’s investment in Oak Hill (see Note 6 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements).

During the third quarter, the Company disposed of one CTL asset for net proceeds of $32.5 million and recognized a gain of approximately

$17.3 million. During 2005, the Company disposed of one CTL asset for net proceeds of approximately $4.4 million and recognized a gain of
approximately $552,000. The operating lease income earned by the Company prior to the sale or classification as “Assets held for sale,” is classified as
“discontinued operations.”

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company signed a lease termination agreement with a customer that occupied 12 facilities that

were subject to separate cross-defaulted leases and recognized one-time termination fee income. Subsequent to termination, the Company reclassified six of



the facilities as held for sale and determined that they were impaired which resulted in a one-time impairment charge (see Note 5—Corporate Tenant Lease
Assets on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion). One of the facilities was leased in the third quarter 2006 and was
therefore reclassified to “Corporate tenant lease assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The recognition of the termination fee income and the impairment charge resulted in a net one-time positive impact to net income for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 of $4.0 million. As a result of the termination and the subsequent releasing of one of the facilities, the Company’s quarterly
operating lease income from these 12 facilities will decrease by approximately $526,000.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of approximately $4.5 million to “General and administrative”
on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations in connection with the Company’s High Performance Unit equity compensation program for senior
management. The non-cash compensation charge is the result of a correction due to a change in assumptions for the Liquidity, Non-voting and Forfeiture
discounts used in valuing the HPU securities issued in the seven plans offered since the commencement of the program in 2002 (see Note 12—Stock-Based
Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion).

The cumulative charge (Fiscal Year 2002: $2.4 million, Fiscal Year 2003: $1.2 million, Fiscal Year 2004: $518,000, Fiscal Year 2005: $231,000 and
first and second quarter of Fiscal Year 2006: $128,000) is recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended
September 30, 2006, rather than restating prior periods, because the Company concluded that the expense is not material to any of its previously issued
financial statements for any period. As a result of the change in assumptions the Company will have an additional expense of approximately $64,000 for each
of the third and fourth quarters of 2006 and an additional expense of approximately $173,000 for the twelve months ending 2007.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 ($ in thousands):

For the
Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 $ Change % Change Explanation
Interest income $ 414,177 $ 299,118 115,059 38% 1)
Operating lease income 248,810 226,852 21,958 10%
Other income 54,547 69,861 (15,314) 22% 2)
Interest expense 310,147 231,336 78,811 34% 3)
Operating costs—corporate tenant lease assets 18,932 16,778 2,154 13% “4)
Depreciation and amortization 57,980 52,993 4,987 9%
General and administrative 67,048 46,769 20,279 43% 5)
Provision for loan losses 5,000 2,250 2,750 >100% (6)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — 44,362 (44,362) >100% 7)
Equity in earnings from joint ventures 2,496 574 1,922 >100% ®)
Income from discontinued operations 1,774 5,400 (3,626) 67% )
Gain from discontinued operations, net 21,800 958 20,842 >100% )

Explanatory Notes:

(1) This increase was primarily due to $218.5 million of interest income on new originations or additional fundings, offset by a $104.8 million decrease from
the repayment of loans and other lending investments. This increase was also due to an increase in interest income on the Company’s variable-rate
lending investments as a result of higher average one-month LIBOR rates of 5.0% in 2006, compared to 3.1% in 2005.

(2) During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, other income included income from loan repayments and prepayment penalties of $34.6 million,
income from certain equity investments of $7.0 million, lease termination fees of $6.0 million, gross profit from timber operations of $3.6 million,
realized gains on sales of lending investments of $1.6 million and asset management, mortgage servicing and other income of approximately $1.8
million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, other income included income from loan repayments and prepayment penalties of $56.4
million, income from certain equity investments of $8.2 million, realized gains on sales of marketable securities of $3.2 million, gross profit from timber
operations of $986,000, asset management, mortgage servicing and other income of approximately $832,000 and lease termination fees of $200,000.

(3) This increase was primarily due to higher average borrowings on the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility. This increase was also due to higher
average one-month LIBOR rates, which averaged 5.0% in 2006 compared to 3.1% in 2005 and higher average three-month LIBOR rates, which
averaged 5.1% in 2006 compared to 3.3% in 2005, on the unhedged portion of the Company’s variable-rate debt and was partially offset by a
$5.6 million decrease in amortization of deferred financing costs on the Company’s debt obligations in 2006 compared to the same period in 2005.

(4) This increase is primarily related to higher unrecoverable operating costs due to vacancies and lease modifications on certain CTL assets.

(5) This increase is primarily due to an increase in compensation and office related costs resulting from employee growth. Additionally, the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 includes a non-cash compensation charge of approximately $4.5 million in connection with the Company’s High
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Performance Unit equity compensation program for senior management (see above and Note 12 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements).

(6) The Company considers it prudent to reflect provisions for loan losses on a portfolio basis based upon the Company’s assessment of general market
conditions, the Company’s internal risk management policies and credit risk rating system, industry loss experience, the Company’s assessment of the
likelihood of delinquencies or defaults, and the value of the collateral underlying its investments. Accordingly, the Company recorded $5.0 million of
additional provision for loan losses in the nine months ended September 30, 2006, after review of these items.

(7) The Company incurred $44.4 million of losses associated with the amortization of deferred financing costs, the amortization of cap premium and cash
prepayment fees related to the early repayment of the Company’s STARs, Series 2002-1 Notes and the STARs, Series 2003-1 Notes. The Company also



incurred a loss of approximately $55,000 associated with the write-off of the discount related to the early repayment of the Company’s $76.0 million
term loan which had an original maturity date of December 2005.

(8) This increase is primarily due to the improved performance during 2006 of the Company’s investment in Oak Hill (see Note 6 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements).

(9) During 2006, the Company disposed of four CTL assets for net proceeds of $54.4 million and recognized a gain of approximately $21.8 million. During
2005, the Company disposed of two CTL assets for net proceeds of approximately $10.4 million and recognized a gain of approximately $958,000. The
operating lease income earned by the Company prior to their sale or classification as “Assets held for sale” is classified as “discontinued operations.” In
addition, the operating lease income and a $7.5 million impairment associated with the facilities reclassified into “Assets held for sale” as of
September 30, 2006 are included in discontinued operations.

Adjusted Earnings

The Company measures its performance using adjusted earnings in addition to net income. Adjusted earnings represent net income allocable to common
shareholders and HPU holders computed in accordance with GAAP, before depreciation, depletion, amortization, gain from discontinued operations,
extraordinary items and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. Adjustments for joint ventures reflect the Company’s share of adjusted earnings
calculated on the same basis.

The Company believes that, in addition to net income, adjusted earnings is a helpful measure to consider because this measure helps the Company to
evaluate how its commercial real estate finance business is performing compared to other commercial finance companies, without the effects of certain
GAAP adjustments that are not necessarily indicative of current operating performance. The most significant GAAP adjustments that the Company excludes
in determining adjusted earnings are depreciation, depletion and amortization. As a commercial finance company that focuses on real estate lending and
corporate tenant leasing, the Company records significant depreciation on its real estate assets and amortization of deferred financing costs associated with its
borrowings. The Company also records depletion on its timber assets, although depletion amounts are currently insignificant. Depreciation, depletion and
amortization do not affect the Company’s daily operations, but they do impact financial results under GAAP. By measuring its performance using adjusted
earnings and net income, the Company is able to evaluate how its business is performing both before and after giving effect to recurring GAAP adjustments
such as depreciation, depletion and amortization and, in the case of adjusted earnings, after including earnings from its joint venture interests on the same
basis and excluding gains from the sale of assets that will no longer be part of its continuing operations.
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Adjusted earnings is not an alternative or substitute for net income in accordance with GAAP as a measure of the Company’s performance. Rather, the
Company believes that adjusted earnings is an additional measure that helps analyze how its business is performing. This measure is also used to track
compliance with covenants in certain of the Company’s material borrowing arrangements that have covenants based upon this measure. Adjusted earnings
should not be viewed as an alternative measure of either the Company’s liquidity or funds available for its cash needs or for distribution to its shareholders. In
addition, the Company may not calculate adjusted earnings in the same manner as other companies that use a similarly titled measure.

For the For the
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Adjusted earnings:
Net income allocable to common shareholders and HPU
holders $ 94,070 $ 47,955 $251,397 $ 175,854
Add: Joint venture income 32 31 92 105
Add: Depreciation, depletion and amortization 20,758 19,485 61,791 56,016
Add: Joint venture depreciation and amortization 2,645 2,704 8,093 5,546
Add: Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,403 45,336 17,671 60,837
Less: Gain from discontinued operations (17,264) (552) (21,800) (958)
Adjusted diluted earnings allocable to common shareholders and
HPU holder(1)(2) $105,644 $ 114,959 $317,244 $ 297,400
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding(3) 114,545 114,073 114,439 113,560

Explanatory Notes:

(1) HPU holders are Company employees who purchased high performance common stock units under the Company’s High Performance Unit Program. For
the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 adjusted diluted earnings allocable to common shareholders and HPU holders includes $2,554 and
$2,791 of adjusted earnings allocable to HPU holders, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 adjusted diluted earnings
allocable to common shareholders and HPU holders includes $7,678 and $7,248 of adjusted earnings allocable to HPU holders, respectively.

(2) For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, includes $6.8 million of cash paid for prepayment penalties associated with early extinguishment of
debt.

(3) In addition to the GAAP defined weighted average diluted shares outstanding these balances include an additional 52,000 shares and 59,000 shares for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively, relating to the additional dilution of joint venture shares.
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Risk Management

Loans and Other Lending Investments Credit Statistics—The table below summarizes the Company’s non-performing loans and details the reserve for
loan losses associated with the Company’s lending investments as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 as well as charge-offs for the nine months



ended September 30, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

As of September 30, 2006 As of December 31, 2005

Carrying value of non-performing

As a percentage of total assets $ 18,356 0.18% $ 35,291 0.41%

As a percentage of total loans 0.30% 0.75%
Reserve for loan losses/

As a percentage of total assets $ 46,378 0.45% $ 46,876 0.55%

As a percentage of total loans 0.75% 1.00%
Net charge-offs/

As a percentage of total assets $ 5,498 0.05% $ — 0.00%

As a percentage of total loans 0.09% 0.00%

Non-Performing Loans—Non-performing are all loans on non-accrual status. The Company transfers loans to non-accrual status at such time as:
(1) management determines the borrower is incapable of, or has ceased efforts towards, curing the cause of an impairment; (2) the loan becomes 90 days
delinquent; (3) the loan has a maturity default; or (4) the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying collateral approximates the Company’s carrying value of
such loan. Interest income is recognized only upon actual cash receipt for loans on non-accrual status. As of September 30, 2006, the Company’s non-
performing loans included two non-accrual loans with an aggregate carrying value of $18.4 million, or 0.18% of total assets, compared to 0.41% at
December 31, 2005. Management believes there is adequate collateral to support the book values of the assets.

Watch List Assets—The Company conducts a quarterly comprehensive credit review, resulting in an individual risk rating being assigned to each asset.
This review is designed to enable management to evaluate and proactively manage asset-specific credit issues and identify credit trends on a portfolio-wide
basis as an “early warning system.” As of September 30, 2006, the Company had three assets on its credit watch list, excluding those assets included in non-
performing loans above, with an aggregate carrying value of $112.3 million, or 1.09% of total assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company requires significant capital to fund its investment activities and operating expenses. While the distribution requirements under the REIT
provisions of the Code limit the Company’s ability to retain earnings and thereby replenish or increase capital committed to its operations, the Company
believes it has sufficient access to capital resources to fund its existing business plan, which includes the expansion of its real estate lending and corporate
tenant leasing businesses. The Company’s capital sources include cash flow from operations, borrowings under lines of credit, additional term borrowings,
unsecured corporate debt financing, financings secured by the Company’s assets, trust preferred debt, and the issuance of common, convertible and/or
preferred equity securities. Further, the Company may acquire other businesses or assets using its capital stock, cash or a combination thereof.

The Company believes that its existing sources of funds will be adequate for purposes of meeting its short- and long-term liquidity needs. The
Company’s ability to meet its long-term (i.e., beyond one year) liquidity requirements is subject to obtaining additional debt and equity financing. Any
decision by the Company’s lenders and investors to provide the Company with financing will depend upon a number of factors, such as the Company’s
compliance with the terms of its existing credit arrangements, the
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Company’s financial performance, industry or market trends, the general availability of and rates applicable to financing transactions, such lenders’ and
investors’ resources and policies concerning the terms under which they make capital commitments and the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or
lending opportunities.

The following table outlines the contractual obligations related to the Company’s long-term debt agreements and operating lease obligations as of
September 30, 2006. There are no other long-term liabilities of the Company that would constitute a contractual obligation.

Principal Payments Due By Period(1)
Less Than 2-3 4-5 6-10 After 10
Total 1 Year Years Years Years Years
(In thousands)

Long-Term Debt Obligations:

Unsecured notes $6,367,022 $200,000 $ 1,900,000 $ 1,600,000 $ 2,667,022 $ —
Unsecured revolving credit

facilities 696,414 — — 696,414 — —
Secured term loans 461,193 133,195 145,560 37,194 58,830 86,414
Trust Preferred 100,000 — — — — 100,000
Total 7,624,629 333,195 2,045,560 2,333,608 2,725,852 186,414
Operating Lease Obligations:(2) 51,293 5,747 10,325 7,929 13,305 13,987
Total(3) $7,675,922 $338,942 $2,055,885 $2,341,537 $2,739,157 $200,401

Explanatory Notes:

(1) Assumes exercise of extensions on the Company’s long-term debt obligations to the extent such extensions are at the Company’s option.
(2) The Company also has a $1.0 million letter of credit outstanding as security for its primary corporate office lease.

(3) The Company also has letters of credit outstanding totaling $52.7 million as additional collateral for four of its investments. See “Off-Balance Sheet
Transactions” below, for a discussion of certain unfunded commitments related to the Company’s lending and CTL business.

The Company’s primary credit facility is an unsecured credit facility totaling $2.20 billion that bears interest at LIBOR + 0.525% per annum and matures
in June 2011. At September 30, 2006, the Company had $696.4 million drawn under this facility (see Note 9 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements). The Company also has one LIBOR-based secured revolving credit facility with an aggregate maximum capacity of $500.0 million, of which
there was no balance drawn as of September 30, 2006. Availability under the secured credit facility is based on collateral provided under a borrowing base
calculation.

The Company’s debt obligations contain covenants that are both financial and non-financial in nature. Significant financial covenants include limitations
on the Company’s ability to incur indebtedness beyond specified levels and a requirement to maintain specified ratios of unsecured indebtedness compared to



unencumbered assets. As a result of the upgrades of the Company’s senior unsecured debt ratings by S&P, Moody’s and Fitch, in January and February 2006,
the financial covenants in some series of the Company’s publicly held debt securities are not operative.

Significant non-financial covenants include a requirement in some series of its publicly-held debt securities that the Company offer to repurchase those
securities at a premium if the Company undergoes a change of control. As of September 30, 2006, the Company believes it is in compliance with all financial
and non-financial covenants on its debt obligations.
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Unencumbered Assets/Unsecured Debt—The Company has completed the migration of its balance sheet towards unsecured debt, which generally results
in a corresponding reduction of secured debt and an increase in unencumbered assets. The exact timing in which the Company will issue or borrow unsecured
debt will be subject to market conditions. The following table shows the ratio of unencumbered assets to unsecured debt at September 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

As of As of
September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
Total Unencumbered Assets $9,734,850 $ 8,129,358
Total Unsecured Debt(1) $7,163,436 $ 5,559,022
Unencumbered Assets/Unsecured Debt 136% 146%

Explanatory Note:

(1) See Note 9 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed description of the Company’s unsecured debt.

Capital Markets Activity—During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company issued $1.70 billion aggregate principal amount of fixed-
rate Senior Notes bearing interest at annual rates ranging from 5.65% to 5.95% and maturing between 2011 and 2016 and $500.0 million of variable-rate
Senior Notes bearing interest at three-month LIBOR + 0.34% maturing in 2009. The Company primarily used the proceeds from the issuance of these
securities to repay outstanding indebtedness under its unsecured revolving credit facility. In addition, the Company’s $50.0 million of 7.95% Senior Notes
matured in May 2006.

Subsequent to quarter end, the Company exchanged its 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 for 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 in accordance with the exchange
offer and consent solicitation issued on October 4, 2006. For each $1,000 principal amount of 8.75% Senior Notes tendered, holders received approximately
$1,000 principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes and $56.75 of cash. A total of $187.3 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes were issued.
The Company also amended certain covenants in the indenture relating to the remaining 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 as a result of a consent solicitation of
the holders of these notes.

Unsecured/Secured Credit Facilities Activity—On June 28, 2006, the unsecured facility was amended and restated. The commitment increased to $2.20
billion, of which up to $750.0 million can be borrowed in multi-currency commitments. The rate on the facility decreased to LIBOR + 0.525% and the annual
facility fee decreased to 12.5 basis points.

On January 9, 2006, the Company extended the maturity on its remaining secured facility to January 2008, reduced its capacity from $700.0 million to
$500.0 million and lowered its interest rates to LIBOR + 1.00% to 2.00% from LIBOR + 1.40% to 2.15%.

In February 2006, the unsecured credit facility’s interest rate decreased to LIBOR + 0.70% and the annual facility fee decreased to 15 basis points. It was
decreased to this amount from LIBOR + 0.875% and a 17.5 basis point annual facility fee, due to an upgrade in the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating
in January and February 2006.

Other Financing Activity—During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the portion of the $200.0 million term financing that was secured by
certain commercial mortgage-backed securities was extended for one month and then matured on February 13, 2006. The remaining portion of this financing
that was secured by corporate bonds was extended for one year to August 2007 and the rate on the loan was reduced to LIBOR + 0.22% to LIBOR + 0.65%
from LIBOR + 0.25% to LIBOR + 0.70%. In addition, on May 31, 2006, the Company began a loan participation program which serves as an alternative
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to borrowing funds from the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The loan participations are short-term bank loans funded in the secondary market with
fixed maturity dates typically ranging from overnight to 90 days. There was no amount outstanding under this program at September 30, 2006.

Hedging Activities—The Company has variable-rate lending assets and variable-rate debt obligations. These assets and liabilities create a natural hedge
against changes in variable interest rates. This means that as interest rates increase, the Company earns more on its variable-rate lending assets and pays more
on its variable-rate debt obligations and, conversely, as interest rates decrease, the Company earns less on its variable-rate lending assets and pays less on its
variable-rate debt obligations. When the amount of the Company’s variable-rate debt obligations exceeds the amount of its variable-rate lending assets, the
Company utilizes derivative instruments to limit the impact of changing interest rates on its net income. The Company has a policy in place, that is
administered by the Audit Committee, which requires the Company to enter into hedging transactions to mitigate the impact of rising interest rates on the
Company’s earnings. The policy states that a 100 basis point increase in short-term rates cannot have a greater than 2.5% impact on quarterly earnings. The
Company does not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The derivative instruments the Company uses are typically in the form of interest rate
swaps and interest rate caps. Interest rate swaps effectively can either change variable-rate debt obligations to fixed-rate debt obligations or convert fixed-rate
debt obligations into variable-rate debt obligations. Interest rate caps effectively limit the maximum interest rate on variable-rate debt obligations. In addition,
during 2005 the Company also began using derivative instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate movements.

The primary risks from the Company’s use of derivative instruments are the risks that a counterparty to a hedging arrangement could default on its
obligation and the risk that the Company may have to pay certain costs, such as transaction fees or breakage costs, if a hedging arrangement is terminated by
the Company. As a matter of policy, the Company enters into hedging arrangements with counterparties that are large, creditworthy financial institutions
typically rated at least A/A2 by S&P and Moody’s, respectively. The Company’s hedging strategy is approved and monitored by the Company’s Audit
Committee on behalf of its Board of Directors and may be changed by the Board of Directors without shareholder approval.



The following table represents the notional principal and fair value amounts of interest rate swaps by class and the corresponding hedged liability
positions and the Company’s foreign currency derivatives. The Company’s foreign currency derivatives do not use hedge accounting, but are marked to
market under SFAS No. 133 (in thousands):

Notional Amount Notional Amount Fair Value Fair Value
as of as of as of as of
September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005 September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps $ — $ 250,000 $ — $ 2,150
Forward-starting interest rate
swaps 1,125,000 650,000 (9,416) 8,771
Fair value hedges. 1,100,000 1,100,000 (30,896) (30,112)
Total interest rate hedges $ 2,225,000 $ 2,000,000 $ (40,312) $ (19,191)
Foreign currency hedges
Sell Canadian Dollar forward CAD — CAD 11,512 $ — $ 71
Buy Euro forward € — € 632 — (11)
Cross currency Euro swap € — € 3,740 — 134
Sell GBP forward £ 8,200 £ 16,077 (10) 477
Total foreign currency hedges $ (10) $ 671
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On September 29, 2006, the Company entered into a £8 million forward swap (approximately $15.4 million) maturing October 6, 2006. In addition, on
August 2, 2006, through TimberStar, the Company entered into a ten-year $75.0 million forward starting swap with a rate of 5.528%. On June 25, 2006, two
pay-fixed swaps each with notional amounts of $125.0 million expired. In April 2006, through TimberStar, the Company entered into seven forward starting
swaps, two with notional amounts of $50.0 million and five with notional amounts of $100.0 million. All seven forward starting swaps have ten-year terms
and rates ranging from 5.495% to 5.604%. On February 17, 2006, four forward starting swaps all with notional amounts of $50.0 million, ten-year terms and
rates from 4.610% to 4.483% were settled in connection with the Company’s issuance of $500.0 million of ten-year Senior Notes which were priced on
February 16, 2006. The cash settlement amount is being amortized into “Interest expense” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations through
the maturity of the Senior Notes.

At September 30, 2006, derivatives with a fair value of $9.7 million were included in “Deferred expenses and other assets” and derivatives with a fair
value of $50.0 million were included in “Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities” on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions—The Company is not dependent on the use of any off-balance sheet financing arrangements for liquidity. As of
September 30, 2006, the Company did not have any CTL joint ventures accounted for under the equity method, which had third-party debt.

The Company’s STARs Notes were all on-balance sheet financings. These securitizations were prepaid on September 28, 2005.

The Company has certain discretionary and non-discretionary unfunded commitments related to its loans and other lending investments that it may be
required to, or choose to, fund in the future. Discretionary commitments are those under which the Company has sole discretion with respect to future
funding. Non-discretionary commitments are those that the Company is generally obligated to fund at the request of the borrower or upon the occurrence of
events outside of the Company’s direct control. As of September 30, 2006, the Company had 52 loans with unfunded commitments totaling $2.19 billion, of
which $20.2 million was discretionary and $2.17 billion was non-discretionary. In addition, the Company had $91.1 million of unfunded commitments, of
which $4.2 million was discretionary and $86.9 million was non-discretionary related to 13 CTL investments. These commitments generally fall into two
categories: (1) pre-approved capital improvement projects; and (2) new or additional construction costs. Upon funding, the Company would receive additional
operating lease income from the customers. In addition, the Company has $17.8 million of non-discretionary unfunded commitments related to 20 existing
customers in the form of tenant improvements which were negotiated between the Company and the customers at the commencement of the leases. Further, the
Company had ten other investments with unfunded non-discretionary commitments of $83.0 million.

Ratings Triggers—The $2.20 billion unsecured revolving credit facility that the Company has in place at September 30, 2006 bears interest at
LIBOR + 0.525% per annum based on the Company’s senior unsecured credit ratings of BBB from S&P, Baa2 from Moody’s and BBB from Fitch Ratings.
Originally, this rate was reduced from LIBOR + 0.875% to LIBOR + 0.70% due to the Company achieving an investment grade senior unsecured debt rating
from S&P and Moody’s in February 2006 and from Fitch in January 2006 (see below). The rate was further reduced to the current rate of LIBOR + 0.525%
when the unsecured revolving credit facility was amended and restated in June 2006.

On February 9, 2006, S&P upgraded the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating to BBB from BBB- and raised the ratings on its preferred stock to BB+
from BB. On February 7, 2006, Moody’s upgraded the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating to Baa2 from Baa3 and raised the ratings on its preferred
stock to Bal from Ba2. On January 19, 2006, Fitch Ratings upgraded the Company’s senior unsecured debt rating to BBB from BBB- and raised its preferred
stock rating to BB+ from BB, with a stable outlook. The
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upgrades were primarily a result of the Company’s further migration to an unsecured capital structure, including the recent repayment of the STARs Notes.

As a result of the upgrades in 2006 of the Company’s senior unsecured debt ratings by S&P, Moody’s and Fitch, the financial covenants, including
limitations on incurrence of indebtedness and maintenance of unencumbered assets compared to unsecured indebtedness, in some series of the Company’s
publicly held debt securities are not operative. If the Company were to be downgraded from its current ratings by either S&P or Moody’s, these financial
covenants would become operative again.

Except as described above, there are no other ratings triggers in any of the Company’s debt instruments or other operating or financial agreements at
September 30, 2006.



Transactions with Related Parties—During 2005, the Company invested in a substantial minority interest of Oak Hill Advisors, L.P., Oak Hill Credit
Alpha MGP, OHSF GP Partners II, LL.C and Oak Hill Credit Opportunities MGP, LL.C (see Note 6 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for
more detail). In relation to the Company’s investment in these entities, it appointed to its Board of Directors a member that holds a substantial investment in
these same four entities. During 2005, the Company had an investment in iStar Operating Inc. (“iStar Operating™), a taxable subsidiary that, through a wholly-
owned subsidiary, services the Company’s loans and certain loan portfolios owned by third parties. The Company owned all of the non-voting preferred stock
and a 95% economic interest in iStar Operating. An entity controlled by a former director of the Company, owned all of the voting common stock and a 5%
economic interest in iStar Operating. On December 31, 2005, the Company acquired all the voting common stock and the remaining 5% economic interest in
iStar Operating for a nominal amount and simultaneously merged it into an existing taxable REIT subsidiary of the Company.

DRIP/Stock Purchase Plan—The Company maintains a dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan. Under the dividend reinvestment
component of the plan, the Company’s shareholders may purchase additional shares of Common Stock without payment of brokerage commissions or service
charges by automatically reinvesting all or a portion of their Common Stock cash dividends. Under the direct stock purchase component of the plan, the
Company’s shareholders and new investors may purchase shares of Common Stock directly from the Company without payment of brokerage commissions
or service charges. All purchases of shares in excess of $10,000 per month pursuant to the direct purchase component are at the Company’s sole discretion.
Shares issued under the plan may reflect a discount of up to 3% from the prevailing market price of the Company’s Common Stock. The Company is
authorized to issue up to 8.0 million shares of Common Stock pursuant to the dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan. During the three months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued a total of approximately 500,000 and 386,000 shares of its Common Stock, respectively, and during
the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued a total of approximately 532,000 and 411,000 shares of its Common stock,
respectively, through the direct stock purchase component of the plan. Net proceeds during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, were
approximately $20.6 million and $15.6 million, respectively, and $21.7 million and $16.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively. There are approximately 2.2 million shares available for issuance under the plan as of September 30, 2006.

Stock Repurchase Program—The Board of Directors approved, and the Company has implemented, a stock repurchase program under which the
Company is authorized to repurchase up to 5.0 million shares of its Common Stock from time to time, primarily using proceeds from the disposition of assets
or loan repayments and excess cash flow from operations, but also using borrowings under its credit facilities if the Company determines that it is
advantageous to do so. As of September 30, 2006, the Company had repurchased a total of approximately 2.3 million shares at an aggregate cost of
approximately $40.7 million. The Company has not repurchased any shares under the stock repurchase program since November 2000, however the Company
issued approximately 1.2 million shares of its treasury stock during 2005.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company has formed a disclosure committee that is responsible for considering the
materiality of information and determining the disclosure obligations of the Company on a timely basis. The disclosure committee reports directly to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer is currently a member of the disclosure committee.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
disclosure committee and other members of management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to timely alert them to material information relating to the
Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) and are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that
it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC
rules and forms.

There have been no changes during the last fiscal quarter in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it
will detect or uncover failures within the Company to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in the Company’s periodic reports.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGALPROCEEDINGS

None

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

No changes from those disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS



None

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

a. Exhibits
4.1 Form of Global Note evidencing 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 issued on September 22, 2006.
4.2 Form of Global Note evidencing Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009.
10.1 Indenture dated September 22, 2006, governing the 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013.
10.2 Indenture dated September 18, 2006, governing the Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009.
31.0 Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.0 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.
Registrant

Date: November 8, 2006 /s/ JAY SUGARMAN
Jay Sugarman
Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer (Principal executive officer)

Date: November 8, 2006 /s/ CATHERINE D. RICE
Catherine D. Rice
Chief Financial Officer (Principal financial and
accounting officer)
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Exhibit 4.1
[Face of Note]
[Insert the Global Note Legend and/or Private Placement Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]
CUSIP/CINS 45031U AY 7
5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

No. $700,000,000

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.
promises to pay to CEDE & Co., or registered assigns, the principal sum of Seven Hundred Million Dollars on October 15, 2013.
Interest Payment Dates: April 15 and October 15
Record Dates: April 1 and October 1
Dated: September 22, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
This is one of the Notes referred to
in the within-mentioned Indenture: Date:
U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee
By:
Authorized Signatory
C-1
[Back of Note]

5.95% Senior Notes due 2013
Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.

1. Interest. iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note at
5.95% per annum from September 22, 2006 until maturity. The Company will pay interest semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year,
or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day (each an “Interest Payment Date”). Interest on the Notes will accrue from the
most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from September 22, 2006; provided that if there is no existing Default in the
payment of interest, and if this Note is authenticated between a record date referred to on the face hereof and the next succeeding Interest Payment Date,
interest shall accrue from such next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, further, that the first Interest Payment Date shall be April 15, 2007. The
Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue principal and premium, if any, from
time to time on demand at the rate then in effect; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on
overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace periods) from time to time on demand at the same rate to the extent lawful. Interest
will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

2. Method of Payment. The Company will pay interest on the Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered Holders of
Notes at the close of business on April 15 and October 15 next preceding the Interest Payment Date, even if such Notes are canceled after such record date
and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with respect to defaulted interest. The Notes will be payable
as to principal, premium, if any, and interest at the office or agency of the Company maintained for such purpose within or without the City and State of New
York, or, at the option of the Company, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders,
and provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with respect to principal of and interest, and premium, if any, on,
all Global Notes and all other Notes the Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer instructions to the Company or the Paying Agent. Such payment
shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. The



Company reserves the right to pay interest to Holders of Notes by check mailed to such Holders at their registered addresses or by wire transfer to Holders of
at least $5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes.

3. Paying Agent and Registrar. Initially, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, the Trustee under the Indenture, will act as Paying Agent and

Registrar. The Company may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may act in any
such capacity.

4. Indenture. The Company issued the Notes under an Indenture dated as of September 22, 2006 (the “Indenture”) between the Company and
the Trustee. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture and those made part of the Indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939,
as amended (15 U.S. Code §§ 77aaa-77bbbb). The Notes are subject to all such terms, and Holders are referred to the Indenture and such Act for a statement
of such terms. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and
be controlling. The Notes are obligations of the Company. The Company is issuing

C-2

$700 million in aggregate principal amount on the Issue Date and may issue Additional Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

5. Optional Redemption. At any time on or prior to the Maturity Date, the Notes may be redeemed or purchased in whole but not in part at
the Company’s option at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued but unpaid interest, if any (the
“Redemption Price”), to, the date of redemption or purchase (the “Redemption Date™) (subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to
receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date). Such redemption or purchase may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to each Holder’s
registered address, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date.

“Applicable Premium” means, with respect to a Note at any Redemption Date, the greater of: (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note; and
(2) the excess of (a) the present value at such Redemption Date of (i) the Redemption Price of such Note on the Redemption Date plus (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on such Note through the Redemption Date, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 20
basis points; over (b) the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date. Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Company or
on behalf of the Company by such Person as the Company shall designate; provided, however, that such calculation shall not be a duty or obligation of the
Trustee.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to a Redemption Date, as determined by the Company, the yield to maturity at the time of computation of
United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) that
has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to such Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly
available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013; provided, however, that if the
period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013 is not equal to the constant maturity of the United States Treasury security for which a weekly
average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average
yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given, except that if the period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013 is less
than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

6. Mandatory Redemption. The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes.

7. Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the Redemption Date to
each Holder whose Notes are to be redeemed at its registered address. Notes in denominations larger than $1,000 may be redeemed in part but only in whole
multiples of $1,000, unless all of the Notes held by a Holder are to be redeemed. On and after the Redemption Date interest ceases to accrue on Notes or
portions thereof called for redemption.

8. Denominations, Transfer, Exchange. The Notes are in registered form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples
of $1,000. The transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged as provided in the Indenture. The Registrar and the Trustee may require a
Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Company and the Trustee may require a Holder to pay any
taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Company need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes during the period
between a record date and the corresponding Interest Payment Date.
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9. Persons Deemed Owners. The registered Holder of a Note may be treated as its owner for all purposes.
10. Amendment, Supplement and Waiver. Subject to certain exceptions, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or supplemented with the

written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class, and any existing default or
compliance with any provision of the Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the
then outstanding Notes voting as a single class. Without the consent of any Holder of a Note, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or supplemented to
cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes, to provide for the assumption
of the Company’s obligations to Holders of the Notes in case of a merger or consolidation, to make any change that would provide any additional rights or
benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely affect in any material respects the rights under the Indenture of any such Holder, to comply
with the requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act or to evidence and provide for
the acceptance of appointment under the Indenture of a successor Trustee.

11. Defaults and Remedies. Events of Default are set forth in the Indenture. If any Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee or
the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all the Notes to be due and payable. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable



without further action or notice. Holders may not enforce the Indenture or the Notes except as provided in the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations,
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the Trustee in writing in its exercise of any trust or power. The Trustee
may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default (except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of
principal or interest) if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest. The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then
outstanding by written notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its
consequences under the Indenture except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest on, or the principal of, the Notes. The Company
is required to deliver to the Trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the Indenture, and the Company is required upon becoming aware of any
Default or Event of Default, to deliver to the Trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event of Default.

12. Trustee Dealings with Company. The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may make loans to, accept deposits from, and
perform services for the Company or its Affiliates, and may otherwise deal with the Company or its Affiliates, as if it were not the Trustee.

13. No Recourse Against Others. A director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder, of the Company, as such, shall not have any
liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or
their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of
the Notes.

14. Authentication. This Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

15. Abbreviations. Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder or an assignee, such as: TEN COM (= tenants in common),
TEN ENT (= tenants by the entireties),
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JT TEN (= joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (= Custodian), and U/G/M/A (= Uniform Gifts to Minors Act).

16. CUSIP Numbers. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the
Company has caused CUSIP numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to
Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of purchase and reliance
may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

17. Additional Rights of Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes. In addition to the rights provided to Holders of
Notes under the Indenture, Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes shall have all the rights set forth in the Registration Rights
Agreement dated as of September 22, 2006, between the Company and the parties named on the signature pages thereof (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”).
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The Company will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture and/or the Registration Rights Agreement.
Requests may be made to:

iStar Financial Inc.
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036
Attention: Investor Relations

ASSIGNMENT FORM
To assign this Note, fill in the form below:

(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:

(Insert assignee’s legal name)

(Insert assignee’s soc. sec. or tax [.D. no.)

(Print or type assignee’s name, address and zip code)

and irrevocably appoint



to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for him.

Date:

Your Signature:

(Sign exactly as your name
appears on
the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*:

Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).
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SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of
another Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

Principal Amount

Amount of Amount of of this Global Note Signature of
decrease in increase in following such authorized officer
Principal Amount Principal Amount decrease of Trustee or Note
Date of Exchange of this Global Note of this Global Note (or increase) Custodian




Exhibit 4.2
[Face of Note]
[Insert the Global Note Legend and/or Private Placement Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]
CUSIP/CINS 45031U BA 8
Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009

No. $500,000,000

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.
promises to pay to CEDE & CO., or registered assigns, the principal sum of FIVE HUNDRED MILLION
Dollars on September 15, 2009.
Interest Payment Dates: March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15
Record Dates: March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1
Dated: September 18, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
This is one of the Notes referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture: Date:
U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee
By:
Authorized Signatory
[Back of Note]

Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009
Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.

1. INTEREST. iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note
quarterly in arrears on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding
Business Day (each an “Interest Payment Date”), at the rate per annum, reset quarterly, equal to three month LIBOR (as defined below) plus 0.34%. Interest
on the Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from September 18, 2006; provided that if
there is no existing Default in the payment of interest, and if this Note is authenticated between a record date referred to on the face hereof and the next
succeeding Interest Payment Date, interest shall accrue from such next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, further, that the first Interest Payment
Date shall be December 15, 2006. The Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue
principal and premium, if any, from time to time on demand at the rate then in effect; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding
under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace periods) from time to time on demand at the same rate
to the extent lawful. Interest on the Notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Period divided by 360, as
further described below.

“LIBOR,” with respect to an Interest Period, will be the rate (expressed as a percentage per annum) for deposits in United States dollars for a three-
month period beginning on the second London Banking Day after the Determination Date that appears on Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 a.m., London time,
on the Determination Date. If Telerate Page 3750 does not include such a rate or is unavailable on a Determination Date, the Calculation Agent will request
the principal London office of each of four major banks in the London interbank market, as selected by the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s offered
quotation (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such Determination Date, to prime banks in the London
interbank market for deposits in a Representative Amount in United States dollars for a three-month period beginning on the second London Banking Day
after the Determination Date. If at least two such offered quotations are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic mean of such
quotations. If fewer than two such quotations are so provided, the Calculation Agent will request each of three major banks in New York City, as selected by
the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s rate (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such



Determination Date, for loans in a Representative Amount in United States dollars to leading European banks for a three-month period beginning on the
second London Banking Day after the Determination Date. If at least two such rates are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic
mean of such rates. If fewer than two such rates are so provided, then LIBOR for the Interest Period will be LIBOR in effect with respect to the immediately
preceding Interest Period.

“Interest Period” means the period commencing on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on and including the day immediately
preceding the next succeeding interest Payment Date, with the exception that the first Interest Period shall commence on and include September 18, 2006 and
end on and include December 14, 2006.

»¢

“Determination Date,”* with respect to an Interest Period, will be the second London Banking Day preceding the first day of the Interest Period.
“London Banking Day” is any day in which dealings in United States dollars are transacted or, with respect to any future date, are expected to be
transacted in the London interbank market.

“Representative Amount” means a principal amount of not less than U.S. $1,000,000 for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant
time.

“Telerate Page 3750” means the display designated as “Page 3750” on the Moneyline Telerate service (or such other page as may replace Page 3750
on that service).

The amount of interest for each day that the Notes are outstanding (the “Daily Interest Amount”) will be calculated by dividing the interest rate in
effect for such day by 360 and multiplying the result by the principal amount of the Notes. The amount of interest to be paid on the Notes for each Interest
Period will be calculated by adding the Daily Interest Amounts for each day in the Interest Period.

All percentages resulting from any of the above calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage
point, with five one-millionths of a percentage point being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876545% (or .09876545) being rounded to 9.87655% (or .0987655)) and
all dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one-half cent being rounded upwards).

The interest rate on the Notes will in no event be higher than the maximum rate permitted by New York law as the same may be modified by United
States law of general application.

The Calculation Agent will, upon the request of the holder of any Note, provide the interest rate then in effect with respect to the Notes. All
calculations made by the Calculation Agent in the absence of manifest error will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Company and the holders
of the Notes.

2. METHOD OF PAYMENT. The Company will pay interest on the Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered
Holders of Notes at the close of business on the March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 next preceding the Interest Payment Date, even if such Notes
are canceled after such record date and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with respect to defaulted
interest. The Notes will be payable as to principal, premium, if any, and interest at the office or agency of the Company maintained for such purpose within
or without the City and State of New York, or, at the option of the Company, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders at their
addresses set forth in the register of Holders, and provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with respect to
principal of and interest, and premium, if any, on, all Global Notes and all other Notes the Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer instructions to
the Company or the Paying Agent. Such payment shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender
for payment of public and private debts. The Company reserves the right to pay interest to Holders of Notes by check mailed to such Holders at their
registered addresses or by wire transfer to Holders of at least $5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes.

3. PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR. Initially, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, the Trustee under the Indenture, will act as Paying
Agent and Registrar. The Company may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may
act in any such capacity.

4. INDENTURE. The Company issued the Notes under an Indenture dated as of September 18, 2006 (the “Indenture”) between the Company
and the Trustee. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture and those made part of the Indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended (15 U.S. Code §§ 77aaa-77bbbb). The Notes are subject to all such terms, and Holders are referred to the Indenture and such Act for a
statement of such terms. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall
govern and be controlling. The Notes are obligations of the Company. The Company is issuing $500 million in aggregate principal amount on the Issue Date
and may issue Additional Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

5. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. The Notes may not be redeemed prior to Maturity.

6. MANDATORY REDEMPTION.

The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes.

7. DENOMINATIONS, TRANSFER, EXCHANGE. The Notes are in registered form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 and
integral multiples of $1,000. The transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged as provided in the Indenture. The Registrar and the
Trustee may require a Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Company and the Trustee may require

a Holder to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Company need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes
during the period between a record date and the corresponding Interest Payment Date.



8. PERSONS DEEMED OWNERS. The registered Holder of a Note may be treated as its owner for all purposes.

9. AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER. Subject to certain exceptions, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or
supplemented with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class, and any
existing default or compliance with any provision of the Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class. Without the consent of any Holder of a Note, the Indenture or the Notes may be
amended or supplemented to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes, to
provide for the assumption of the Company’s obligations to Holders of the Notes in case of a merger or consolidation, to make any change that would provide
any additional rights or benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely affect in any material respects the rights under the Indenture of any
such Holder, to comply with the requirements of the SEC in order to

effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act or to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment under the
Indenture of a successor Trustee.

10. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. Events of Default are set forth in the Indenture. If any Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the
Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all the Notes to be due and payable. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable
without further action or notice. Holders may not enforce the Indenture or the Notes except as provided in the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations,
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the Trustee in writing in its exercise of any trust or power. The Trustee
may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default (except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of
principal or interest) if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest. The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then
outstanding by written notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its
consequences under the Indenture except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest on, or the principal of, the Notes. The Company
is required to deliver to the Trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the Indenture, and the Company is required upon becoming aware of any
Default or Event of Default, to deliver to the Trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event of Default.

11. TRUSTEE DEALINGS WITH COMPANY. The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may make loans to, accept deposits from,
and perform services for the Company or its Affiliates, and may otherwise deal with the Company or its Affiliates, as if it were not the Trustee.

12. NO RECOURSE AGAINST OTHERS. A director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder, of the Company, as such, shall not have
any liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or
their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of
the Notes.

13. AUTHENTICATION. This Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

14. ABBREVIATIONS. Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder or an assignee, such as: TEN COM (= tenants in
common), TEN ENT (= tenants by the entireties), JT TEN (= joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (= Custodian),
and U/G/M/A (= Uniform Gifts to Minors Act).

15. CUSIP NUMBERS. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the
Company has caused CUSIP numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to
Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of purchase and reliance
may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

16. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTES AND RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES. In addition to the
rights provided to Holders of Notes under the Indenture, Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes shall have all the rights set forth
in the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 18, 2006, between the Company and the parties named on the signature pages thereof (the
“Registration Rights Agreement”).

The Company will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture and/or the Registration Rights Agreement.
Requests may be made to:

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

Attention: Investor Relations

ASSIGNMENT FORM

To assign this Note, fill in the form below:



(D) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:

(Insert assignee’s legal name)

(Insert assignee’s soc. sec. or tax I.D. no.)

(Print or type assignee’s name, address and zip code)

and irrevocably appoint

to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for him.

Date:

Your Signature:

(Sign exactly as your name
appears on
the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*:

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).

SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of
another Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

Principal Amount

Amount of Amount of of this Global Note Signature of
decrease in increase in following such authorized officer
Principal Amount Principal Amount decrease of Trustee or Note

Date of Exchange of this Global Note of this Global Note (or increase) Custodian
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iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

5.95% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2013

INDENTURE

Dated as of September 22, 2006

U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION

Trustee

CROSS-REFERENCE TABLE*

Trust Indenture

Act Section Indenture Section
310(a)(1) 7.10
@(2) 7.10
@)(3) N.A.
(a)(4) N.A.
@)(5) 7.10
(b) 7.10
(0 N.A.
311(a) 7.11
(b) 7.11
(0 N.A.
312(a) 2.05
(b) 11.03
(o) 11.03
313(a) 7.06
b)) 7.07
(0 7.06;11.02
G) 7.06
314(a) 4.03;11.02
(o)1) 11.04
©(2) 11.04
©3) N.A.
(e) 11.05
) N.A.
315(a) 7.01
(b) 7.05,11.02
(0 7.01
G) 7.01
(e) 6.11
316(a) (last sentence) 2.09
(@)(1)(A) 6.05
(a)(1)(B) 6.04
@)(2) N.A.
(b) 6.07
(© 2.13
317(a)(1) 6.08
@)(2) 6.09
(b) 2.04
318(a) 11.01
(b) N.A.
(o) 11.01

N.A. means not applicable.
* This Cross-Reference Table is not part of the Indenture.
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INDENTURE dated as of September 22, 2006 between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company™), and U.S. Bank Trust National
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).

The Company and the Trustee agree as follows for the benefit of each other and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE



Section 1.01. Definitions.

“Acquired Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of a Person or any of its Subsidiaries existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the
Company or at the time it merges or consolidates with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or assumed in connection with the acquisition of assets from
such Person and in each case whether or not incurred by such Person in connection with, or in anticipation or contemplation of, such Person becoming a
Subsidiary of the Company or such acquisition, merger or consolidation.

“Additional Interest” has the meaning given such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Additional Notes” means additional Notes (other than the Initial Notes) issued under this Indenture in accordance with Section 2.02 and 4.09.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, or is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person. The term “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct
or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms
“controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative of the foregoing.

“Agent” means any Registrar, Paying Agent or co-registrar.

“Applicable Procedures” means, with respect to any transfer or exchange of or for beneficial interests in any Global Note, the rules and procedures
of the Depositary that apply to such transfer or exchange.

“Asset Acquisition” means: (1) an Investment by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any other Person pursuant to which such
Person shall become a Subsidiary of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or shall be merged with or into the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company; or (2) the acquisition by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of the assets of any Person (other than a Subsidiary of the Company) that
constitute all or substantially all of the assets of such Person or comprises any division or line of business of such Person or any other properties or assets of
such Person other than in the ordinary course of business.

“Asset Sale” means any direct or indirect sale, issuance, conveyance, transfer, lease (other than operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of
business), assignment or other transfer for value by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (including any sale and leaseback transaction) to any

Person other than the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company of:

1) any Capital Stock of any Subsidiary of the Company; or

) any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ other property or assets other than sales of loan-related assets made in the ordinary
course of the Company’s real estate lending business and other asset sales made in the ordinary course of the Company’s business.

“Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, United States Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended, or any similar United States federal or state law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization or relief of debtors or any amendment to, succession to or change in any such
law.

“Board of Directors” means, as to any Person, the board of directors of such Person or any duly authorized committee thereof.
“Board Resolution” means, with respect to any Person, a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person to
have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors of such Person and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification, and delivered to the

Trustee.

“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which commercial banks are authorized
or required by law, regulation or executive order to close in New York City and that is a London Banking Day.

“Capitalized Lease Obligation” means, as to any Person, the obligations of such Person under a lease that are required to be classified and accounted
for as capital lease obligations under GAAP and, for purposes of this definition, the amount of such obligations at any date shall be the capitalized amount of
such obligations at such date, determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Capital Stock” means:

(€8 with respect to any Person that is a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however
designated and whether or not voting) of corporate stock, including each class of Common Stock and Preferred Stock of such Person; and

2) with respect to any Person that is not a corporation, any and all partnership, membership or other equity interests of such Person.
“Clearstream” means Clearstream Banking, S.A.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute thereto, as interpreted by the rules and regulations
thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time.

“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, as from time to time constituted, created under the Exchange Act, or if at any time
after the execution of this Indenture such Commission is not existing and performing the duties now assigned to it under the Trust Indenture Act, then the

body performing such duties at such time.

“Common Stock” of any Person means any and all shares, interests or other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether
voting or non-voting) of such Person’s common stock, and includes, without limitation, all series and classes of such common stock.

“Company” means iStar Financial Inc. and any and all successors thereto that become a party to this Indenture in accordance with its terms.



“Consolidated EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the sum (without duplication) of:

(1) Consolidated Net Income; and
2) to the extent Consolidated Net Income has been reduced thereby:
(a) all income taxes of such Person and its Subsidiaries paid or accrued in accordance with GAAP for such period (other

than income taxes attributable to extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the
Company’s assets);

(b) Consolidated Interest Expense; and
(o) depreciation, depletion and amortization;
all as determined on a consolidated basis for such Person and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Person, the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA of such Person during the four
full fiscal quarters (the “Four Quarter Period”) ending prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio for which financial statements are available (the “Transaction Date”) to Consolidated Fixed Charges of such Person for the Four Quarter

Period. In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, for purposes of this definition, “Consolidated EBITDA” and “Consolidated Fixed Charges”
shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis for the period of such calculation to:

1) the incurrence or repayment of any Indebtedness of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (and the application of the proceeds
thereof) giving rise to the need to make such calculation and any incurrence or repayment of other Indebtedness (and the application of the proceeds
thereof), other than the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness in the ordinary course of business for working capital purposes pursuant to working
capital facilities, occurring during the Four Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the
Transaction Date, as if such incurrence or repayment, as the case may be (and the application of the proceeds thereof), occurred on the first day of
the Four Quarter Period; and

2) any asset sales or other dispositions or any asset originations, asset purchases, Investments and Asset Acquisitions (including,
without limitation, any Asset Acquisition giving rise to the need to make such calculation as a result of such Person or one of its Subsidiaries
(including any Person who becomes a Subsidiary as a result of the Asset Acquisition) incurring, assuming or otherwise being liable for Acquired
Indebtedness and also including any Consolidated EBITDA (including any pro forma expense and cost reductions calculated on a basis consistent
with Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act) attributable to the assets which are originated or purchased, the Investments that are made and the
assets that are the subject of the Asset Acquisition or asset sale or other disposition during the Four Quarter Period) occurring during the Four
Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the Transaction Date, as if such asset sale or
other disposition or asset origination, asset purchase, Investment or Asset Acquisition (including the incurrence, assumption or liability for any such
Acquired Indebtedness) occurred on the first day of the Four Quarter Period. If such Person or any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly
guarantees Indebtedness of a third Person, the preceding sentence shall give effect to the incurrence of such

guaranteed Indebtedness as if such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person had directly incurred or otherwise assumed such guaranteed
Indebtedness.

“Consolidated Fixed Charges” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:
1) Consolidated Interest Expense; plus

) the amount of all dividend payments on any series of Preferred Stock of such Person and, to the extent permitted under this
Indenture, its Subsidiaries (other than dividends paid in Qualified Capital Stock) paid, accrued or scheduled to be paid or accrued during such period.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum of, without duplication:

1) the aggregate of the interest expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, including without limitation: (a) any amortization of debt discount; (b) the net costs under Interest Swap Obligations; (c) all
capitalized interest; and (d) the interest portion of any deferred payment obligation; and

) to the extent not already included in clause (1), the interest component of Capitalized Lease Obligations paid, accrued and/or
scheduled to be paid or accrued by such Person and its Subsidiaries during such period as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the aggregate net income (or loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries
before the payment of dividends on Preferred Stock for such period on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that there shall
be excluded therefrom:

) after-tax gains and losses from Asset Sales or abandonments or reserves relating thereto (including gains and losses from the sale
of corporate tenant lease assets);



2) after-tax items classified as extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the
Company’s assets;

3) the net income (but not loss) of any Subsidiary of the referent Person to the extent that the declaration of dividends or similar
distributions by that Subsidiary of that income is restricted by a contract, operation of law or otherwise, except for such restrictions permitted by
clauses (f), (g) and (h) of Section 4.08 whether such permitted restrictions exist on the Measurement Date or are created thereafter;

4 the net income or loss of any other Person, other than a Consolidated Subsidiary of the referent Person, except:

(€) to the extent (in the case of net income) of cash dividends or distributions paid to the referent Person, or to a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the referent Person (other than a Subsidiary described in clause (4) above), by such other Person; or
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(b) that the referent Person’s share of any net income or loss of such other Person under the equity method of accounting for
Affiliates shall not be excluded;
) any restoration to income of any contingency reserve of an extraordinary, nonrecurring or unusual nature;
(6) income or loss attributable to discontinued operations (including, without limitation, operations disposed of during such period

whether or not such operations were classified as discontinued, but not including revenues, expenses, gains and losses relating to real estate
properties sold or held for sale, even if they were classified as attributable to discontinued operations under the provisions of SFAS No. 144); and

7) in the case of a successor to the referent Person by consolidation or merger or as a transferee of the referent Person’s assets, any
earnings of the successor corporation prior to such consolidation, merger or transfer of assets.

“Consolidated Net Worth” of any Person means the consolidated stockholders’ equity of such Person, as of the end of the last completed fiscal
quarter ending on or prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate Consolidated Net Worth determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, less (without duplication) amounts attributable to Disqualified Capital Stock of such Person and interests in such Person’s
Consolidated Subsidiaries not owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person.

“Consolidated Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, a Subsidiary of such Person, the financial statements of which are consolidated with
the financial statements of such Person in accordance with GAAP.

“Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee” shall be at the address of the Trustee specified in Section 11.02 or such other address as to which the Trustee
may give notice to the Company.

“Currency Agreements” means any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to
protect the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company against fluctuations in currency values.

“Custodian” means any custodian, receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.

“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which is, or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of
Default.

“Definitive Note” means a certificated Note registered in the name of the Holder thereof and issued in accordance with Section 2.06, in the form of
Exhibit A except that such Note shall not bear the Global Note Legend and shall not have the “Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note”
attached thereto.

“Depositary” means, with respect to the Notes issuable or issued in whole or in part in global form, the Person specified in Section 2.03 as the
Depositary with respect to the Notes, and any and all successors thereto appointed as depositary hereunder and having become such pursuant to the applicable
provision of this Indenture.

“Disqualified Capital Stock” means that portion of any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or
for which it is exchangeable at the option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a
sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof on or prior to the final maturity date of the Notes.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute or statutes thereto.

“Exchange Notes” means the 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 to be issued in exchange for (1) the Initial Notes pursuant to the Registration Rights
Agreement and (2) the Additional Notes, if any, issued under Section 2.02 pursuant to a registration rights agreement substantially similar to the Registration
Rights Agreement.

“Exchange Offer” means the Exchange Offer as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Exchange Offer Registration Statement” means the Exchange Offer Registration Statement as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.



“Existing Credit Agreements” mean: (1) the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2004 and as amended as of December 17, 2004,
September 16, 2005 and June 28, 2006, among the Company, the lenders party thereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank, as administrative agent; (2) the amended
and restated credit facility between Deutsche Bank AG, Cayman Islands Branch, and iStar DB Seller LLC, dated as of January 9, 2006, in each case, together
with the related documents thereto (including, without limitation, any security documents), in each case as such agreements may be amended (including any
amendment and restatement thereof), supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, including any agreement extending the maturity of, refinancing,
replacing or otherwise restructuring (including increasing the amount of available borrowings thereunder (provided that such increase in borrowings is
permitted by Section 4.07 hereof) or adding Subsidiaries of the Company as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder) all or any portion of the
Indebtedness under such agreement or any successor or replacement agreement and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders.

“Euroclear” means the Euroclear System.

“fair market value” means, with respect to any asset or property, the price which could be negotiated in an arm’s-length, free market transaction, for
cash, between a willing seller and a willing and able buyer, neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. Fair market
value shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company acting reasonably and in good faith and shall be evidenced by a Board Resolution of the
Board of Directors of the Company delivered to the Trustee.

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings or any successor agency.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other
statements by such other entity as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession of the United States. For the avoidance of doubt,
revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in results of discontinued operations because of the application of SFAS No. 144 will be treated as
revenues, expenses, gains and losses from continuing operations.

“Global Note Legend” means the legend set forth in Section 2.06(f) which is required to be placed on all Global Notes issued under this Indenture.

“Global Notes” means, individually and collectively, each of the Restricted Global Notes and the Unrestricted Global Notes, in the form of
Exhibit A, issued in accordance with Section 2.01 or 2.06.

“Government Securities” means direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, and for the payment of which the
United States pledges its full faith and credit.

“Guarantor” means: each of the Company’s Subsidiaries that in the future executes a supplemental indenture in which such Subsidiary agrees to be
bound by the terms of this Indenture as a Guarantor; provided that any Person constituting a Guarantor as described above shall cease to constitute a
Guarantor when its respective Guarantee is released in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.

“Holder” or “Noteholder” means a Person in whose name a Note is registered.
“IAI Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Notes in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement
Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal to the

outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold to Institutional Accredited Investors.

“Indebtedness” means with respect to any Person, without duplication:

1) all Obligations of such Person for borrowed money;

) all Obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments;

3) all Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person;

4) all Obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations and all

Obligations under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of
business that are not overdue by 90 days or more or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently

conducted);

5) all Obligations for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction;

(6) guarantees and other contingent obligations in respect of Indebtedness referred to in clauses (1) through (5) above and clause (8)
below;

7 all Obligations of any other Person of the type referred to in clauses (1) through (6) above which are secured by any lien on any

property or asset of such Person, the amount of such Obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the fair market value of such property or asset and
the amount of the Obligation so secured,;

(€) all Obligations under Currency Agreements and Interest Swap Obligations of such Person; and




(©) all Disqualified Capital Stock issued by such Person with the amount of Indebtedness represented by such Disqualified Capital
Stock being equal to the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference and its maximum fixed repurchase price, but excluding accrued
dividends, if any.

For purposes hereof, the “maximum fixed repurchase price” of any Disqualified Capital Stock which does not have a fixed repurchase price shall be
calculated in accordance with the terms of such Disqualified Capital Stock as if such Disqualified Capital Stock were purchased on any date on which
Indebtedness shall be required to be determined pursuant to this Indenture, and if such price is based upon, or measured by, the fair market value of such
Disqualified Capital Stock, such fair market value shall be determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the issuer of such
Disqualified Capital Stock.

“Indenture” means this Indenture, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Indirect Participant” means a Person who holds a beneficial interest in a Global Note through a Participant.

“Initial Notes” means the $700 million principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013 of the Company issued on the Issue Date.

“Institutional Accredited Investor” means an institution that is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or (7) under the
Securities Act that is not also a QIB.

“Interest Payment Date” means April 15 and October 15 of each year commencing April 15, 2007.

“Interest Period” means the period commencing on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on and including the day immediately
preceding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, with the exception that the first Interest Period shall commence on and include September 22, 2006 and
end on and include April 14, 2007.

“Interest Swap Obligations” means the obligations of any Person pursuant to any arrangement with any other Person, whereby, directly or indirectly,
such Person is entitled to receive from time to time periodic payments calculated by applying either a floating or a fixed rate of interest on a stated notional
amount in exchange for periodic payments made by such other Person calculated by applying a fixed or a floating rate of interest on the same notional amount
and shall include, without limitation, interest rate swaps, caps, floors, collars and similar agreements.

“Investment” means, with respect to any Person, any direct or indirect loan or other extension of credit (including, without limitation, a guarantee),
or corporate tenant lease to or capital contribution to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for property or services for
the account or use of others), or any purchase or acquisition by such Person of any Capital Stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities or evidences or
Indebtedness issued by, any Person. “Investment” shall exclude extensions of trade credit by the Company and any Subsidiary of the Company on
commercially reasonable terms in accordance with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ normal trade practices, as the case may be.

“Issue Date” means September 22, 2006, the date of original issuance of the Initial Notes.

“Lien” means any lien, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any conditional sale or other
title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof and any agreement to give any security interest).

“Maturity” when used with respect to the Notes means the date on which the principal of the Notes becomes due and payable as therein provided or
as provided in this Indenture, whether at Stated Maturity by declaration of acceleration, call for redemption, purchase or otherwise.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any successor rating agency.
“Non-Recourse Indebtedness” means any of the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ Indebtedness that is:

1) specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of investment assets and secured only by the assets to which such Indebtedness
relates without recourse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or
its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so
long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to
any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for
GAAP purposes);

) advanced to any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or group of its Subsidiaries formed for the sole purpose of acquiring or holding
investment assets against which a loan is obtained that is made without recourse to, and with no cross-collateralization against, the Company or any
of the Company’s Subsidiaries’ other assets (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts
as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for
payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary
carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes) and
upon complete or partial liquidation of which the loan must be correspondingly completely or partially repaid, as the case may be; or

3) specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of real property and secured by only the real property to which such Indebtedness
relates without recourse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or
its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so
long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to
any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for
GAAP purposes).



“Notes” means, collectively, the Initial Notes and the Additional Notes, if any, and treated as a single class of securities, as amended or supplemented
from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof, that are issued pursuant to this Indenture.

“Obligations” means all obligations for principal, premium, interest, penalties, fees, indemnification, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities
payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

“Officer” means, with respect to any Person, the President, Chief Executive Officer, any Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, Treasurer,
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer of such Person.

“Officers’ Certificate” means, with respect to any Person, a certificate signed by two Officers of such Person; provided, however, that every
Officers’ Certificate with respect to compliance with a covenant or condition provided for in this Indenture shall include (i) a statement that the Officers
making or giving such Officers’ Certificate have read such condition and any definitions or other provisions contained in this Indenture relating thereto and
(ii) a statement as to whether, in the opinion of the signers, such conditions have been complied with.

“144A Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Notes in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement
Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal to the
outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on Rule 144A.

“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the Trustee that meets the requirements of
Section 11.05. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or the Trustee.

“Participant” means, with respect to the Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, a Person who has an account with the Depositary, Euroclear or
Clearstream, respectively.

“Permitted Indebtedness” means, without duplication, each of the following:

(@) Indebtedness under: (a) The Initial Notes and up to $240 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes that may be
offered in connection with the Company’s exchange offer to commence September 19, 2006; (b) the Company’s $500 million aggregate principal
amount of Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009 issued on September 18, 2006; (c) the Company’s $500 million aggregate principal amount of
5.875% Senior Notes and the $500 million principal aggregate amount of 5.650% Senior Notes that were issued on February 16, 2006; (d) the
Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.80% Senior Fixed Rate Notes Due 2011 and the $225.0 million Senior Floating Rate
Notes due 2009 that were issued on December 14, 2005; (e) the Company’s $100.0 million in unsecured floating rate trust preferred securities that
were issued on September 14, 2005; (f) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% Senior Notes due 2010 and the
Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.05% Senior Notes due 2015 that were issued on April 21, 2005; (g) the Company’s
$700.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.15% Senior Notes due 2012 and the $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes
due 2008 that were issued on March 1, 2005; (h) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.70% Notes due 2014 issued on
March 9, 2004, and an additional $117.0 million aggregate amount of 5.70% Notes due 2014 issued on March 1, 2005 in connection with the
Company’s exchange offer for TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc.’s 7.70% Notes due 2017; (i) the Company’s $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of floating rate notes due 2007 that were issued on March 12, 2004 and May 10, 2004; (j) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 5.125% Notes due 2011 that were issued on March 30, 2004; (k) the Company’s $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875%
Senior Notes due 2009 that were issued on January 23, 2004; (1) the Company’s $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.00% Senior Notes
due 2010 that were issued on December 12, 2003; (m) the Company’s $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2013
that were issued on December 12, 2003; (n) the Company’s $185.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.00% Senior Notes due 2008 that were
issued in March and April of 2003; and (o) the Company’s
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$240.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 that were issued on August 16, 2001;

2) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreements in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to
exceed the maximum aggregate amount available under the Existing Credit Agreements in existence on the Measurement Date and as in effect on the
Measurement Date reduced by any required permanent repayments (which are accompanied by a corresponding permanent commitment reduction)
thereunder;

3) other Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding on the Measurement Date reduced by the amount of any
scheduled amortization payments or mandatory prepayments when actually paid or permanent reductions thereon;

4) Interest Swap Obligations of the Company covering Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and Interest Swap
Obligations of any Subsidiary of the Company covering Indebtedness of such Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Interest Swap Obligations are
entered into to protect the Company and its Subsidiaries from fluctuations in interest rates on Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this
Indenture to the extent the notional principal amount of such Interest Swap Obligation does not exceed the principal amount of the Indebtedness to
which such Interest Swap Obligation relates;

5) Indebtedness under Currency Agreements; provided that in the case of Currency Agreements which relate to Indebtedness, such
Currency Agreements do not increase the Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding other than as a result of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates or by reason of fees, indemnities and compensation payable thereunder;




(6) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as
such Indebtedness is held by the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company;

7 Indebtedness of the Company to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as such Indebtedness is held by a
Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company, in each case subject to no Lien; provided that: (a) any Indebtedness of the Company to any Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the Company is unsecured and subordinated, pursuant to a written agreement, to the Company’s obligations under this
Indenture and the Notes; and (b) if as of any date any Person other than a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company owns or holds any such
Indebtedness or any Person holds a Lien in respect of such Indebtedness, such date shall be deemed the incurrence of Indebtedness not constituting
Permitted Indebtedness by the Company;

8) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently
(except in the case of daylight overdrafts) drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business; provided, however, that such
Indebtedness is extinguished within two business days of incurrence;

) Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries represented by letters of credit for the account of the Company or such
Subsidiary, as the case may be, in order to provide security for workers’ compensation claims, payment obligations in connection with self-insurance
or similar requirements in the ordinary course of business;

(10) Refinancing Indebtedness; and
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(11) additional Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $15.0 million at any
one time outstanding (which amount may, but need not, be incurred in whole or in part under the Existing Credit Agreements).

For purposes of determining compliance with Section 4.07 hereof, in the event that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the
categories of Permitted Indebtedness described in clauses (1) through (11) above or is entitled to be incurred pursuant to the second paragraph of such
covenant, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, classify (or later reclassify) such item of Indebtedness in any manner that complies with this covenant.
Accrual of interest, accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness
with the same terms, and the payment of dividends on Disqualified Capital Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Capital
Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Capital Stock for purposes of the “Limitation on Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” covenant.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, unincorporated organization, trust or joint venture, or a governmental agency or political
subdivision thereof.

“Preferred Stock™ of any Person means any Capital Stock of such Person that has preferential rights to any other Capital Stock of such Person with
respect to dividends or redemptions or upon liquidation.

“Private Placement Legend” means the legend set forth in Section 2.06(g)(i) to be placed on all Notes issued under this Indenture except where
otherwise permitted by the provisions of this Indenture.

“QIB” means a “qualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A.
“Qualified Capital Stock” means any Capital Stock that is not Disqualified Capital Stock.

“Rating Agencies” means S&P, Moody’s and Fitch.

“Redemption Date” has the meaning given such term in Section 3.07.

“Redemption Price” has the meaning given such term in Section 3.07.

“Refinance” means, in respect of any security or Indebtedness, to refinance, extend, renew, refund, repay, prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to
issue a security or Indebtedness in exchange or replacement for, such security or Indebtedness in whole or in part. “Refinanced” and “Refinancing” shall
have correlative meanings.

“Refinancing Indebtedness” means any Refinancing by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with
Section 4.07 hereof (other than pursuant to clauses (2), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9) or (11) of the definition of Permitted Indebtedness), in each case that does not:

) result in an increase in the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of such Person as of the date of such proposed Refinancing

(plus the amount of any premium required to be paid under the terms of the instrument governing such Indebtedness and plus the amount of
reasonable expenses incurred by the Company in connection with such Refinancing); or

12

) create Indebtedness with: (a) a Weighted Average Life to Maturity that is less than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the
Indebtedness being Refinanced; or (b) a final maturity earlier than the final maturity of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; provided that (i) if such
Indebtedness being Refinanced is Indebtedness of the Company, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be Indebtedness solely of the Company,




and (ii) if such Indebtedness being Refinanced is subordinate or junior to the Notes, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be subordinate to the
Notes at least to the same extent and in the same manner as the Indebtedness being Refinanced.

“Registrable Notes” has the meaning given such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Registration Rights Agreement” means the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of the date hereof by and among the Company and the initial
purchasers named therein as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Regulation S” means Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Regulation S Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Note in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private
Placement Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal
to the outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on, Regulation S.

“REIT” means Real Estate Investment Trust.

“Representative Amount” means a principal amount of not less than U.S. $1,000,000 for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant
time.

“Responsible Officer” means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any vice president, assistant vice president, assistant treasurer, trust officer or
any other officer within the corporate trust department of the Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those performed by any of the above
designated officers and also shall mean, with respect to a particular corporate trust matter, any other officer to whom such matter is referred because of his
knowledge and familiarity with the particular subject.

“Restricted Definitive Note” means a Definitive Note bearing the Private Placement Legend.

“Restricted Global Note” means a Global Note bearing the Private Placement Legend.

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 144A” means Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 903” means Rule 903 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 904” means Rule 904 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Secured Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness secured by a Lien upon the property of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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“Senior Recourse Indebtedness” means all Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness that is Non-Recourse
Indebtedness and other than Subordinated Indebtedness).

“Shelf Registration Statement” means the Shelf Registration Statement as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Significant Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person, means any Subsidiary of such Person that satisfies the criteria for a “significant subsidiary” set
forth in Rule 1.02(w) of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, a division of McGraw Hill Inc., a New York corporation, or any successor rating agency.

“Stated Maturity” when used with respect to any Indebtedness or any installment of interest thereon means the dates specified in such Indebtedness
as the fixed date on which the principal of or premiums on such Indebtedness or such installment of interest is due and payable.

“Subordinated Indebtedness” means all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Indebtedness that expressly provides that such Indebtedness shall be
subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness and matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is
redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof on or after the final maturity date of the Notes.

“Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person, means:

) any corporation of which the outstanding Capital Stock having at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of
directors under ordinary circumstances shall at the time be owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person; or

2) any other Person of which at least a majority of the voting interest under ordinary circumstances is at the time, directly or
indirectly, owned by such Person.

“Total Unencumbered Assets” as of any date means the sum of:

) those Undepreciated Real Estate Assets not securing any portion of Secured Indebtedness; and

2) all other assets (but excluding intangibles and accounts receivable) of the Company and its Subsidiaries not securing any portion
of Secured Indebtedness determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.



“Trustee” means the party named as such above until a successor replaces it in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture and
thereafter means the successor serving hereunder.

“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
“Undepreciated Real Estate Assets” means, as of any date, the cost (being the original cost to the Company or any of Subsidiaries plus capital

improvements) of real estate assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on such date, before depreciation and amortization of such real estate assets,
determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
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“Unrestricted Definitive Note” means one or more Definitive Notes that do not bear and are not required to bear the Private Placement Legend.

“Unrestricted Global Note” means a Global Note in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto that bears the Global Note Legend and that has the
“Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note” attached thereto, but that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, and that is deposited with or
on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee.

“Unsecured Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is not Secured Indebtedness.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing: (1) the then
outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness into; (2) the sum of the total of the products obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then
remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payment of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the
number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) which will elapse between such date and the making of such payment.

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” of any Person means any Subsidiary of such Person of which all the outstanding voting securities (other than in the case
of a foreign Subsidiary, directors’ qualifying shares or an immaterial amount of shares required to be owned by other Persons pursuant to applicable law) are
owned by such Person or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of such Person.

Section 1.02. Other Definitions.
Defined in

Term Section
“Authentication Order” 2.02
“Covenant Defeasance” 8.03
“DTC” 2.03
“Event of Default” 6.01
“incur” 4.07
“Legal Defeasance” 8.02
“Paying Agent” 2.03
“Registrar” 2.03
“Surviving Entity” 5.01

Section 1.03. Incorporation by Reference of Trust Indenture Act. Whenever this Indenture refers to a provision of the TIA, the provision is

incorporated by reference in and made a part of this Indenture.

All terms used in this Indenture that are defined by the TIA, defined by TIA reference to another statute or defined by SEC rule under the TIA have
the meanings so assigned to them.

Section 1.04. Rules of Construction. Unless the context otherwise requires:
(a) a term has the meaning assigned to it;
(b) an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with GAAP;
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(©) “or” is not exclusive;
(d) words in the singular include the plural, and in the plural include the singular;
(e) provisions apply to successive events and transactions; and
® references to sections of or rules under the Securities Act shall be deemed to include substitute, replacement of successor sections

or rules adopted by the SEC from time to time.
ARTICLE 2

THE NOTES



Section 2.01. Form and Dating.

€8 General. The Notes and the Trustee’s certificate of authentication shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. The
Notes may have notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage. Each Note shall be dated the date of its
authentication. The Notes shall be in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof.

The terms and provisions contained in the Notes shall constitute, and are hereby expressly made, a part of this Indenture and the Company and the
Trustee, by their execution and delivery of this Indenture, expressly agree to such terms and provisions and to be bound thereby. However, to the extent any
provision of any Note conflicts with the express provisions of this Indenture, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and be controlling.

2) Global Notes. Notes issued in global form shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto (including the Global
Note Legend thereon and the “Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note” attached thereto). Notes issued in definitive form shall be
substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto (but without the Global Note Legend thereon and without the “Schedule of Exchanges of
Interests in the Global Note” attached thereto). Each Global Note shall represent such of the outstanding Notes as shall be specified therein and each
shall provide that it shall represent the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate
principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as appropriate, to reflect exchanges and
redemptions. Any endorsement of a Global Note to reflect the amount of any increase or decrease in the aggregate principal amount of outstanding
Notes represented thereby shall be made by the Trustee or the Custodian, at the direction of the Trustee, in accordance with written instructions given
by the Holder thereof as required by Section 2.06 hereof.

3) Euroclear and Clearstream Procedures Applicable. The provisions of the “Operating Procedures of the Euroclear System” and
“Terms and Conditions Governing Use of Euroclear” and the “General Terms and Conditions of Clearstream” and “Customer Handbook” of Cedel
Bank (as adopted by Clearstream) and any alternative or additional procedures from time to time adopted by Euroclear or Clearstream shall be
applicable to transfers of beneficial interests in the Regulation S Global Notes that are held by Participants through Euroclear or Clearstream.
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4 Book-Entry Provisions. Participants and Indirect Participants shall have no rights either under this Indenture or under any Global
Note with respect to such Global Note held on their behalf of the custodian for the Depositary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall
prevent the Company, the Trustee or any Agent from giving effect to any written certification, proxy or other authorization furnished by the
Depositary or impair, as between the Depositary and its Participants, the operation of customary practices of the Depositary governing the exercise
of the rights of an owner of a beneficial interest in any Global Note.

Section 2.02. Execution and Authentication. One or more Officers shall sign the Notes for the Company by manual or facsimile signature.
If an Officer whose signature is on a Note no longer holds that office at the time a Note is authenticated, the Note shall nevertheless be valid.

A Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee. The signature shall be conclusive evidence that the Note has
been authenticated under this Indenture.

The Trustee shall, upon a written order of the Company signed by one or more Officers (an “Authentication Order”), authenticate Notes for original
issue on the Issue Date in aggregate principal amount not to exceed $700 million (other than as provided in Section 2.07). The Trustee shall authenticate
Additional Notes thereafter (so long as permitted by the terms of this Indenture) for original issue upon one or more Authentication Orders in aggregate
principal amount as specified in such order (other than as provided in Section 2.07). Each such Authentication Order shall specify the amount of Notes to be
authenticated, whether the Notes are to be Initial Notes, Additional Notes or Exchange Notes and whether the Notes are to be issued as Definitive Notes or
Global Notes or such other information as the Trustee shall reasonably request.

The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent acceptable to the Company to authenticate Notes. An authenticating agent may authenticate Notes
whenever the Trustee may do so. Each reference in this Indenture to authentication by the Trustee includes authentication by such agent. An authenticating
agent has the same rights as an Agent to deal with Holders or an Affiliate of the Company.

Section 2.03. Registrar and Paying Agent. The Company shall maintain an office or agency where Notes may be presented for registration of
transfer or for exchange (“Registrar”) and an office or agency where Notes may be presented for payment (“Paying Agent”). The Registrar shall keep a
register of the Notes and of their transfer and exchange. The Company may appoint one or more co-registrars and one or more additional paying agents. The
term “Registrar” includes any co-registrar and the term “Paying Agent” includes any additional paying agent. The Company may change any Paying Agent
or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the name and address of any Agent not a party to this
Indenture. If the Company fails to appoint or maintain another entity as Registrar and Paying Agent, the Trustee shall act as such. The Company or any of its

Subsidiaries may act as Paying Agent or Registrar.
The Company initially appoints The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) to act as Depositary with respect to the Global Notes.
The Company initially appoints the Trustee to act as the Registrar and Paying Agent and to act as Custodian with respect to the Global Notes.

Section 2.04. Paying Agent To Hold Money in Trust. The Company shall require each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing
that the Paying Agent will hold in trust for the benefit of
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Holders or the Trustee all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes, and will notify the Trustee
in writing of any default by the Company in making any such payment. While any such default continues, the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all
money held by it to the Trustee. The Company at any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. Upon payment over to the
Trustee, the Paying Agent (if other than the Company or a Subsidiary) shall have no further liability for the money. If the Company or a Subsidiary acts as
Paying Agent, it shall segregate and hold in a separate trust fund for the benefit of the Holders all money held by it as Paying Agent. Upon any bankruptcy or
reorganization proceedings relating to the Company, the Trustee shall serve as Paying Agent for the Notes.

Section 2.05. Holder Lists. The Trustee shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the
names and addresses of all Holders and shall otherwise comply with TIA § 312(a). If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Company shall furnish to the
Trustee at least seven Business Days before each interest payment date and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, a list in such form and as
of such date as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Holders and the Company shall otherwise comply with TIA § 312(a).

Section 2.06. Transfer and Exchange. (1) Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes. A Global Note may not be transferred as a whole except by
the Depositary to a nominee of the Depositary, by a nominee of the Depositary to the Depositary or to another nominee of the Depositary, or by the
Depositary or any such nominee to a successor Depositary or a nominee of such successor Depositary. All Global Notes will be exchanged by the Company
for Definitive Notes if (i) the Company delivers to the Trustee written notice from the Depositary that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as Depositary
or that it is no longer a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, a successor Depositary is not appointed by the Company within
120 days after the date of such notice from the Depositary or (ii) the Company in its sole discretion determines that the Global Notes (in whole but not in part)
should be exchanged for Definitive Notes and delivers a written notice to such effect to the Trustee. Upon the occurrence of either of the preceding events in
(i) or (ii) above, Definitive Notes shall be issued in such names as the Depositary shall instruct the Trustee in writing. Global Notes also may be exchanged or
replaced, in whole or in part, as provided in Sections 2.07 and 2.10 hereof. Every Note authenticated and delivered in exchange for, or in lieu of, a Global
Note or any portion thereof, pursuant to this Section 2.06 or Section 2.07 or 2.10 hereof, shall be authenticated and delivered in the form of, and shall be, a
Global Note. A Global Note may not be exchanged for another Note other than as provided in this Section 2.06(a); provided, however, that beneficial
interests in a Global Note may be transferred and exchanged as provided in Section 2.06(b), (c) or (f) hereof.

) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in the Global Notes. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in the Global
Notes shall be effected through the Depositary, in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Applicable Procedures. Beneficial
interests in the Restricted Global Notes shall be subject to restrictions on transfer comparable to those set forth herein to the extent required by the
Securities Act. Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes also shall require compliance with either subparagraph (i) or (ii) below, as
applicable, as well as one or more of the other following subparagraphs, as applicable:

(a Transfer of Beneficial Interests in the Same Global Note. Beneficial interests in any Restricted Global Note may be
transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in the same Restricted Global Note in accordance with
the transfer restrictions set forth in the Private Placement Legend. Beneficial interests in any Unrestricted Global Note may be transferred
to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note.
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No written orders or instructions shall be required to be delivered to the Registrar to effect the transfers described in this Section 2.06(b)(i).

(b) All Other Transfers and Exchanges of Beneficial Interests in Global Notes. In connection with all transfers and
exchanges of beneficial interests that are not subject to Section 2.06(b)(i) above, the transferor of such beneficial interest must deliver to the
Registrar either (A) (1) a written order from a Participant or an Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the
Applicable Procedures directing the Depositary to credit or cause to be credited a beneficial interest in another Global Note in an amount
equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred or exchanged and (2) instructions given in accordance with the Applicable Procedures
containing information regarding the Participant account to be credited with such increase or (B) (1) a written order from a Participant or an
Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the Applicable Procedures directing the Depositary to cause to be issued a
Definitive Note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred or exchanged and (2) instructions given by the Depositary to
the Registrar containing information regarding the Person in whose name such Definitive Note shall be registered to effect the transfer or
exchange referred to in (1) above. Upon consummation of an Exchange Offer by the Company in accordance with Section 2.06(f) hereof,
the requirements of this Section 2.06(b)(ii) shall be deemed to have been satisfied upon receipt by the Registrar of the instructions contained
in the Letter of Transmittal delivered by the holder of such beneficial interests in the Restricted Global Notes. Upon satisfaction of all of
the requirements for transfer or exchange of beneficial interests in Global Notes contained in this Indenture and the Notes or otherwise
applicable under the Securities Act, the Trustee shall adjust the principal amount of the relevant Global Note(s) pursuant to Section 2.06(h)
hereof.

(©) Transfer of Beneficial Interests to Another Restricted Global Note. A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note
may be transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Restricted Global Note if the
transfer complies with the requirements of Section 2.06(b)(ii) above and the Registrar receives the following:

@) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the 144A Global Note, then the
transferor must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

(ii) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the Regulation S Global Note, then the
transferor must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2) thereof; and

(iii) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the IAI Global Note, then the transferor
must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications and certificates and Opinion of Counsel
required by item (3)(d) thereof, if applicable.

(d) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in a Restricted Global Note for Beneficial Interests in an Unrestricted
Global Note. A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note may be exchanged by any holder thereof for a beneficial interest in an
Unrestricted Global Note or transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in
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the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note if the exchange or transfer complies with the requirements of
Section 2.06(b)(ii) above and:

@) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the holder of the beneficial interest to be transferred, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a
transfer, certifies in the applicable Letter of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the
distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a Person who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

(ii) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
(iii) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement

in accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
@iv) the Registrar receives the following:

) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest
for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the
certifications in item (1)(a) thereof; or

2) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to transfer such beneficial interest
to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from
such holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities
Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

If any such transfer or exchange is effected pursuant to this clause (iv) at a time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the
Company shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02 hereof, the Trustee shall authenticate one or more
Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of beneficial interests transferred or exchanged pursuant

to this clause (iv).

Beneficial interests in an Unrestricted Global Note cannot be exchanged for, or transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of, a
beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note.

3) Transfer or Exchange of Beneficial Interests for Definitive Notes.
(a) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in a

Restricted Global Note proposes to

20

exchange such beneficial interest for a Restricted Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes delivery
thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note, then, upon receipt by the Registrar of the following documentation:

@) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest
for a Restricted Definitive Note, a certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item
(2)(a) thereof;

(ii) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act, a

certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

(iii) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance
with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the
certifications in item (2) thereof;

@iv) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto,
including the certifications in item (3)(a) thereof;

W) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to an Institutional Accredited Investor in reliance on an exemption
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than those listed in subparagraphs (B) through (D) above, a
certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and Opinion of Counsel required by
item (3)(d) thereof, if applicable;



(vi) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, a certificate to the
effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(b) thereof; or

(vii) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities
Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(c) thereof,

the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to Section 2.06(h) hereof,
and the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the
appropriate principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note pursuant to this

Section 2.06(c) shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial
interest shall instruct the Registrar through instructions from the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee shall deliver
such Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest
in a Restricted Global Note pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(i) shall bear the Private Placement Legend and shall be subject to all restrictions on
transfer contained therein.
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b) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A holder of a beneficial interest in a
Restricted Global Note may exchange such beneficial interest for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or may transfer such beneficial interest to
a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note only if:

@) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the holder of such beneficial interest, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies
in the applicable Letter of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange
Notes or (3) a Person who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

(ii) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
(iii) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement

in accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
@iv) the Registrar receives the following:

1) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest
for a Definitive Note that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, a certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit C
hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(b) thereof; or

2) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to transfer such beneficial interest
to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, a
certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities
Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

(o) Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in
an Unrestricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a
Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note, then, upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2.06(b)(ii)
hereof, the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to
Section 2.06(h) hereof, and the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Person designated in the
instructions a Definitive Note in the appropriate principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant
to this Section 2.06(c)(iii) shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the
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holder of such beneficial interest shall instruct the Registrar through instructions from the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect
Participant. The Trustee shall deliver such Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive
Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(iii) shall not bear the Private Placement Legend.

4) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Beneficial Interests.

(a) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes. If any Holder of a Restricted Definitive
Note proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note or to transfer such Restricted Definitive Notes to a
Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note, then, upon receipt by the Registrar of the
following documentation:



@) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Note proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a
Restricted Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (2)(b)
thereof;

(ii) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A under the
Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

(iii) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in
accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including
the certifications in item (2) thereof;

@iv) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in
Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(a) thereof;

W) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to an Institutional Accredited Investor in reliance on an
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than those listed in subparagraphs (B) through (D) above,
a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and Opinion of Counsel required by
item (3)(d) thereof, if applicable;

(vi) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, a certificate to
the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(b) thereof; or

(vii) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration statement under the
Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(c) thereof,
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the Trustee shall cancel the Restricted Definitive Note, increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of, in the case of clause (A)
above, the appropriate Restricted Global Note, in the case of clause (B) above, the 144A Global Note, in the case of clause (C) above, the
Regulation S Global Note, and in all other cases, the IAI Global Note.

(b) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of a Restricted Definitive
Note may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Restricted Definitive Note to a
Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note only if:

@) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the Holder, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies in the applicable Letter
of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a Person
who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

(ii) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
(iii) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement

in accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
@iv) the Registrar receives the following:

1) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for a beneficial interest in the
Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(c)
thereof; or

2) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take delivery
thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in the Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit B
hereto, including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities
Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

Upon satisfaction of the conditions of any of the subparagraphs in this Section 2.06(d)(ii), the Trustee shall cancel the Definitive Notes and
increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of the Unrestricted Global Note.

(o) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of an Unrestricted
Definitive Note may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Definitive Notes to a
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Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note at any time. Upon receipt of a request
for such an exchange or transfer, the Trustee shall cancel the applicable Unrestricted Definitive Note and increase or cause to be increased
the aggregate principal amount of one of the Unrestricted Global Notes.

If any such exchange or transfer from a Definitive Note to a beneficial interest is effected pursuant to subparagraphs (ii) or (iii) above at a
time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the Company shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with
Section 2.02 hereof, the Trustee shall authenticate one or more Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of
Definitive Notes so exchanged or transferred.

5) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Definitive Notes. Upon written request by a Holder of Definitive Notes and such
Holder’s compliance with the provisions of this Section 2.06(e), the Registrar shall register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Notes. Prior to
such registration of transfer or exchange, the requesting Holder shall present or surrender to the Registrar the Definitive Notes duly endorsed or
accompanied by a written instruction of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by such Holder or by its attorney, duly authorized
in writing. In addition, the requesting Holder shall provide any additional certifications, documents and information, as applicable, required pursuant
to the following provisions of this Section 2.06(e).

(@ Restricted Definitive Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be transferred to and
registered in the name of Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note if the Registrar receives the
following:

@) if the transfer will be made pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, then the transferor must deliver a

certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

(ii) if the transfer will be made pursuant to Rule 903 or Rule 904, then the transferor must deliver a certificate in the
form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2) thereof; and

(iii) if the transfer will be made pursuant to any other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities
Act, then the transferor must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and
Opinion of Counsel required by item (3) thereof, if applicable.

(b) Restricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be exchanged by the
Holder thereof for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or transferred to a Person or Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of an
Unrestricted Definitive Note if:

@) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the Holder, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies in the applicable Letter
of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a Person
who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;
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(ii) any such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration
Rights Agreement;
(iii) any such transfer is effected by a Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement in

accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or

@iv) the Registrar receives the following:

1) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for an Unrestricted
Definitive Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(d) thereof;
or

2) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take

delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto,
including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable
to the Company to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer
contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act.

(o) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A Holder of Unrestricted Definitive Notes may transfer
such Notes to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note. Upon receipt of a written request to
register such a transfer, the Registrar shall register the Unrestricted Definitive Notes pursuant to the instructions from the Holder thereof.

(6) Exchange Offer. Upon the occurrence of the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement, the
Company shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02, the Trustee shall authenticate (i) one or more
Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the beneficial interests in the Restricted Global Notes
tendered for acceptance by Persons that certify in the applicable Letters of Transmittal that (x) they are not broker-dealers, (y) they are not
participating in a distribution of the Exchange Notes and (z) they are not affiliates (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company, and accepted for
exchange in the Exchange Offer and (ii) Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Restricted Definitive
Notes accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer. Concurrently with the issuance of such Notes, the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal




amount of the applicable Restricted Global Notes to be reduced accordingly, and the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and
deliver to the Persons designated by the Holders of Definitive Notes so accepted Definitive Notes in the appropriate principal amount.

7) Legends. The following legends shall appear on the face of all Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued under this Indenture
unless specifically stated otherwise in the applicable provisions of this Indenture.
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(a) Private Placement Legend.

@) Except as permitted by subparagraph (B) below, each Global Note and each Definitive Note (and all Notes
issued in exchange therefor or substitution thereof) shall bear the legend in substantially the following form:

“THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR
THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT AS SET FORTH BELOW. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF, THE
HOLDER (1) REPRESENTS THAT (A) IT IS A “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER” (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT), (B) IT IS NOT A U.S. PERSON AND IS ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY IN AN OFFSHORE
TRANSACTION IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR (C) IT IS AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR
(AS DEFINED IN RULE 501(a)(1), (2), (3), OR (7) UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (AN “ACCREDITED INVESTOR”), (2) AGREES
THAT IT WILL NOT WITHIN TWO YEARS AFTER THE ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OF THIS SECURITY RESELL OR OTHERWISE
TRANSFER THIS SECURITY EXCEPT (A) TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, (B) INSIDE THE UNITED
STATES TO A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT,

(C) INSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR THAT, PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER, FURNISHES (OR HAS
FURNISHED ON ITS BEHALF BY A U.S. BROKER-DEALER) TO THE TRUSTEE A SIGNED LETTER CONTAINING CERTAIN
REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY (THE
FORM OF WHICH LETTER CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE TRUSTEE FOR THIS SECURITY), (D) OUTSIDE THE UNITED
STATES IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF
AVAILABLE), (E) PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE), (F) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT (AND BASED UPON AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IF THE COMPANY SO
REQUESTS), OR (G) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND

(3) AGREES THAT IT WILL GIVE TO EACH PERSON TO WHOM THIS SECURITY IS TRANSFERRED A NOTICE
SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE EFFECT OF THIS LEGEND. IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY WITHIN
TWO YEARS AFTER THE ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OF THIS SECURITY, IF THE PROPOSED TRANSFEREE IS AN ACCREDITED
INVESTOR, THE HOLDER MUST, PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER, FURNISH TO THE TRUSTEE AND THE COMPANY SUCH
CERTIFICATIONS, LEGAL OPINIONS OR OTHER INFORMATION AS EITHER OF THEM MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO
CONFIRM THAT SUCH TRANSFER IS BEING MADE PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT
SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. AS USED HEREIN, THE TERMS “OFFSHORE
TRANSACTION,” “UNITED STATES” AND “U.S. PERSON” HAVE THE MEANING GIVEN TO THEM BY REGULATION S
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.”
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(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Global Note or Definitive Note issued pursuant to subparagraphs (b)(iv), (c)
(ii), (o)(iii), (d)(ii), (d)(ii), (e)(ii), (e)(iii) or (f) to this Section 2.06 (and all Notes issued in exchange therefor or substitution
thereof) shall not bear the Private Placement Legend.

(b) Global Note Legend. Each Global Note shall bear a legend in substantially the following form:

“THIS GLOBAL NOTE IS HELD BY THE DEPOSITARY (AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THIS NOTE) OR ITS
NOMINEE IN CUSTODY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS HEREOF, AND IS NOT TRANSFERABLE TO ANY
PERSON UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEPT THAT (I) THE TRUSTEE MAY MAKE SUCH NOTATIONS HEREON AS MAY BE
REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06 OF THE INDENTURE, (II) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE EXCHANGED IN WHOLE BUT
NOT IN PART PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06(a) OF THE INDENTURE, (III) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE DELIVERED TO THE
TRUSTEE FOR CANCELLATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.11 OF THE INDENTURE AND (IV) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE
TRANSFERRED TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY WITH THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE COMPANY.”

8) Cancellation and/or Adjustment of Global Notes. At such time as all beneficial interests in a particular Global Note have been
exchanged for Definitive Notes or a particular Global Note has been redeemed, repurchased or canceled in whole and not in part, each such Global
Note shall be returned to or retained and canceled by the Trustee in accordance with Section 2.11 hereof. At any time prior to such cancellation, if
any beneficial interest in a Global Note is exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest
in another Global Note or for Definitive Notes, the principal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note shall be reduced accordingly and an
endorsement shall be made on such Global Note by the Trustee or by the Depositary at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such reduction; and if
the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another
Global Note, such other Global Note shall be increased accordingly and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note by the Trustee or by the
Depositary at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such increase.

) General Provisions Relating to Transfers and Exchanges.



(a) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate Global
Notes and Definitive Notes upon the Company’s order or at the Registrar’s request.

(b) No service charge shall be made to a holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or to a Holder of a Definitive Note
for any registration of transfer or exchange, but the Company and the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any transfer
tax or similar governmental charge payable in connection therewith (other than any such transfer taxes or similar governmental charge
payable upon exchange or transfer pursuant to Sections 2.10, 4.13, and 9.05 hereof).

(o) All Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Global Notes or Definitive
Notes shall be the valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this
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Indenture, as the Global Notes or Definitive Notes surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.

(d) The Company shall not be required to register the transfer of or to exchange a Note between a record date and the next
succeeding Interest Payment Date.

(e) Prior to due presentment for the registration of a transfer of any Note, the Trustee, any Agent and the Company may
deem and treat the Person in whose name any Note is registered as the absolute owner of such Note for the purpose of receiving payment of
principal of and interest on such Notes and for all other purposes, and none of the Trustee, any Agent or the Company shall be affected by
notice to the contrary.

) The Trustee shall authenticate Global Notes and Definitive Notes in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.02
hereof.

(8 All certifications, certificates and Opinions of Counsel required to be submitted to the Registrar pursuant to this
Section 2.06 to effect a registration of transfer or exchange may be submitted by facsimile.

Section 2.07. Replacement Notes. If any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Trustee or the Company and the Trustee receives evidence to its
satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any Note, the Company shall issue and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, shall authenticate a
replacement Note if the Trustee’s requirements are met. If required by the Trustee or the Company, an indemnity bond must be supplied by the Holder that is
sufficient in the judgment of the Trustee and the Company to protect the Company, the Trustee, any Agent and any authenticating agent from any loss that any
of them may suffer if a Note is replaced. The Company may charge for its expenses in replacing a Note.

Every replacement Note is an additional obligation of the Company and shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

Section 2.08. Outstanding Notes. The Notes outstanding at any time are all the Notes authenticated by the Trustee except for those canceled by
it, those delivered to it for cancellation, those reductions in the interest in a Global Note effected by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions hereof, and
those described in this Section as not outstanding. Except as set forth in Section 2.09 hereof, a Note does not cease to be outstanding because the Company or
an Affiliate of the Company holds the Note.

If a Note is replaced pursuant to Section 2.07 hereof, it ceases to be outstanding unless the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the replaced
Note is held by a bona fide purchaser.

If the principal amount of any Note is considered paid under Section 4.01 hereof, it ceases to be outstanding and interest on it ceases to accrue.

If the Paying Agent (other than the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate of any thereof) holds, on a maturity date, money sufficient to pay Notes
payable on that date, then on and after that date such Notes shall be deemed to be no longer outstanding and shall cease to accrue interest.

Section 2.09. Treasury Notes. In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction,
waiver or consent, Notes owned by the Company, or by any Affiliate of the Company, shall be considered as though not outstanding, except that for the
purposes
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of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes that a responsible officer of the Trustee
actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.

Section 2.10. Temporary Notes. Until certificates representing Notes are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and the Trustee, upon
receipt of an Authentication Order, shall authenticate temporary Notes. Temporary Notes shall be substantially in the form of certificated Notes but may have
variations that the Company considers appropriate for temporary Notes and as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Trustee. Without unreasonable delay, the
Company shall prepare and the Trustee shall authenticate definitive Notes in exchange for temporary Notes.

Holders of temporary Notes shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture.

Section 2.11. Cancellation. The Company at any time may deliver Notes to the Trustee for cancellation. The Registrar and Paying Agent shall
forward to the Trustee any Notes surrendered to them for registration of transfer, exchange or payment. The Trustee and no one else shall cancel all Notes



surrendered for registration of transfer, exchange, payment, replacement or cancellation and shall destroy canceled Notes (subject to the record retention
requirement of the Exchange Act). The Company may not issue new Notes to replace Notes that it has paid or that have been delivered to the Trustee for
cancellation.

Section 2.12. Defaulted Interest. If the Company defaults in a payment of interest on the Notes, it shall pay the defaulted interest in any lawful
manner plus, to the extent lawful, interest payable on the defaulted interest, to the Persons who are Holders on a subsequent special record date, in each case
at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 4.01 hereof. The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of defaulted interest proposed to
be paid on each Note and the date of the proposed payment. The Company shall fix or cause to be fixed each such special record date and payment date;
provided that no such special record date shall be less than 10 days prior to the related payment date for such defaulted interest. At least 15 days before the
special record date, the Company (or, upon the written request of the Company, the Trustee in the name and at the expense of the Company) shall mail or
cause to be mailed to Holders a notice that states the special record date, the related payment date and the amount of such interest to be paid.

Section 2.13. Record Date. The Company may set a record date for purposes of determining the identity of Holders entitled to vote or to
consent to any action by vote or consent authorized or permitted by Sections 6.04 and 6.05.

Section 2.14. CUSIP Numbers. The Company in issuing the Notes may use “CUSIP” numbers (if then generally in use), and, if so, the Trustee
shall use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to Holders; provided that any such notice may state that no representation is made as to the
correctness of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of a purchase and that reliance may be placed only on the other
identification numbers printed on the Notes, and any such purchase shall not be affected by any defect in or the omission of such numbers. The Company
will promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any change in the CUSIP numbers.

ARTICLE 3
REDEMPTION AND PREPAYMENT

Section 3.01. Notices to Trustee. If the Company elects to redeem Notes pursuant to the optional redemption provisions of Section 3.07 hereof,
it shall furnish to the Trustee, at least 45 days but not more than 60 days before a redemption date, an Officers’ Certificate setting forth (i) the clause of this
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Indenture pursuant to which the redemption shall occur, (ii) the Redemption Date, (iii) the principal amount of Notes to be redeemed, (iv) the Redemption
Price and (v) the CUSIP numbers of the Notes to be redeemed.

Section 3.02. Selection of Notes to be Redeemed. In the event that the Company chooses to redeem less than all of the Notes, selection of the
Notes for redemption will be made by the Trustee either:

1) in compliance with the requirements of the principal national securities exchange, if any, on which the Notes are listed; or
) on a pro rata basis, by lot or by such method as the Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate.

No Notes of a principal amount of $1,000 or less shall be redeemed in part.

The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company in writing of the Notes selected for redemption and, in the case of any Note selected for partial
redemption, the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. Notes and portions of Notes selected shall be in amounts of $1,000 or whole multiples of $1,000;
except that if all of the Notes of a Holder are to be redeemed, the entire outstanding amount of Notes held by such Holder, even if not a multiple of $1,000,
shall be redeemed. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, provisions of this Indenture that apply to Notes called for redemption also apply to portions

of Notes called for redemption.

Section 3.03. Notice of Redemption. At least 30 days but not more than 60 days before a redemption date, the Company shall mail or cause to
be mailed, by first class mail (at its own expense), a notice of redemption to each Holder whose Notes are to be redeemed at its registered address.

The notice shall identify the Notes to be redeemed, including the CUSIP numbers, and shall state:

(a) the Redemption Date;
(b) the Redemption Price;
(o) if any Note is being redeemed in part, the portion of the principal amount of such Note to be redeemed and that, after the

Redemption Date upon surrender of such Note, a new Note or Notes in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion shall be issued upon
cancellation of the original Note;

(d) the name and address of the Paying Agent;
(e) that Notes called for redemption must be surrendered to the Paying Agent to collect the Redemption Price;
® that, unless the Company defaults in making such redemption payment, interest on Notes called for redemption ceases to accrue

on and after the Redemption Date;

(g) the paragraph of the Notes and/or Section of this Indenture pursuant to which the Notes called for redemption are being redeemed,;
and
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(h) that no representation is made as to the correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP number, if any, listed in such notice or printed on the
Notes.

At the Company’s written request, the Trustee shall give the notice of redemption in the Company’s name and at its expense; provided, however, that
the Company shall have provided to the Trustee, at least 45 days prior to the Redemption Date (unless a shorter notice shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), the
information required by clauses (a) through (d) above.

Section 3.04. Effect of Notice of Redemption. Once notice of redemption is mailed in accordance with Section 3.03 hereof, Notes called for
redemption become irrevocably due and payable on the Redemption Date at the Redemption Price. A notice of redemption may not be conditional.

Section 3.05. Deposit of Redemption Price. One Business Day prior to the Redemption Date, the Company shall deposit with the Trustee or
with the Paying Agent money sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of all Notes to be redeemed on that date and any amounts owed the Trustee. The
Trustee or the Paying Agent shall promptly return to the Company any money deposited with the Trustee or the Paying Agent by the Company in excess of
the amounts necessary to pay the Redemption Price of all Notes to be redeemed and any amounts owed the Trustee.

If the Company complies with the provisions of the preceding paragraph, on and after the Redemption Date, interest shall cease to accrue on the
Notes or the portions of Notes called for redemption. If a Note is redeemed on or after an interest record date but on or prior to the related interest payment
date, then any accrued and unpaid interest shall be paid to the Person in whose name such Note was registered at the close of business on such record date. If
any Note called for redemption shall not be so paid upon surrender for redemption because of the failure of the Company to comply with the preceding
paragraph, interest shall be paid on the unpaid principal, from the Redemption Date until such principal is paid, and to the extent lawful on any interest not
paid on such unpaid principal, in each case at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 4.01 hereof.

Section 3.06. Notes Redeemed in Part. Upon surrender of a Note that is redeemed in part, the Company shall issue and, upon the Company’s
written request, the Trustee shall authenticate for the Holder at the expense of the Company a new Note equal in principal amount to the unredeemed portion
of the Note surrendered.

Section 3.07. Optional Redemption. At any time on or prior to the maturity of the Notes may be redeemed or purchased in whole but not in
part at the Company’s option at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued but unpaid interest, if
any (the “Redemption Price”), to, the date of redemption or purchase (which shall be a Business Day) (the “Redemption Date”) (subject to the right of
Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date).

“Applicable Premium” means, with respect to a Note at any Redemption Date, the greater of: (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note; and
(2) the excess of (a) the present value at such Redemption Date of (i) the principal amount of such Note on the Redemption Date plus (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on such Note through the Maturity Date, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis
points; over (b) the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date. Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Company or on
behalf of the Company by such Person as the Company shall designate; provided, however, that such calculation shall not be a duty or obligation of the
Trustee.
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“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to a Redemption Date, as determined by the Company, the yield to maturity at the time of computation of
United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) that
has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to such Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly
available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such Redemption Date to the Maturity Date; provided, however, that if the
period from such Redemption Date to the Maturity Date is not equal to the constant maturity of the United States Treasury security for which a weekly
average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average
yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given, except that if the period from such Redemption Date to the Maturity Date is less
than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

Other than as specifically provided in this Section 3.07, any redemption pursuant to this Section 3.07 shall be made pursuant to the provisions of
Sections 3.01 through 3.06 hereof.

Section 3.08. Mandatory Redemption. The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes
prior to Maturity.

ARTICLE 4
COVENANTS

Section 4.01. Payment of Notes. The Company shall pay or cause to be paid the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes on the
dates and in the manner provided in the Notes. Principal, premium, if any, and interest shall be considered paid on the date due if the Paying Agent, if other
than the Company or a Subsidiary, holds as of 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time on the due date money deposited by the Company in immediately available funds and
designated for and sufficient to pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest then due.

The Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue principal at the rate equal
to the then applicable interest rate on the Notes to the extent lawful; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any
Bankruptcy Law) on overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace period) at the same rate to the extent lawful.



Section 4.02. Maintenance of Office or Agency. The Company shall maintain in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, an office or
agency (which may be an office of the Trustee or an affiliate of the Trustee, Registrar or co-registrar) where Notes may be surrendered for registration of
transfer or for exchange and where notices and demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be served. The Company
shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the location, and any change in the location, of such office or agency. If at any time the Company shall fail
to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands
may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee.

The Company may also from time to time designate one or more other offices or agencies where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for any

or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; provided, however, that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner
relieve the Company of its obligation to maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of
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New York for such purposes. The Company shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any such designation or rescission and of any change in the
location of any such other office or agency.

The Company hereby designates the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee as one such office or agency of the Company in accordance with
Section 2.03.

Section 4.03. Reports to Holders. Whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, so long as any Notes are
outstanding, the Company shall furnish the Holders of Notes:

@8 all quarterly and annual financial information that would be required to be contained in a filing with the Commission on Forms
10-Q and 10-K if the Company were required to file such Forms, including a “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” that describes the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (showing in
reasonable detail, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto and in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries) and, with respect to the
annual information only, a report thereon by the Company’s certified independent accountants; and

2) all current reports that would be required to be filed with the Commission on Form 8-K if the Company were required to file such
reports, in each case within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and regulations.

In addition, whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, the Company shall file a copy of all such information and
reports with the Commission for public availability within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and regulations (unless the Commission will
not accept such a filing) and make such information available to securities analysts and prospective investors upon request. In addition, the Company has
agreed that, for so long as any Notes remain outstanding, it will furnish to the Holders and to securities analysts and prospective investors, upon their request,
the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

Section 4.04. Compliance Certificate. (1) The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, an
Officers’ Certificate stating that a review of the activities of the Company and its Subsidiaries during the preceding fiscal year has been made under the
supervision of the signing Officers with a view to determining whether the Company has kept, observed, performed and fulfilled their obligations under this
Indenture, and further stating, as to each such Officer signing such certificate, that to the best of his or her knowledge the Company has kept, observed,
performed and fulfilled each and every covenant contained in this Indenture and is not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms,
provisions and conditions of this Indenture (or, if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which
he or she may have knowledge and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto) and that to the best of his or her knowledge no
event has occurred and remains in existence by reason of which payments on account of the principal of or interest, if any, on the Notes is prohibited or if
such event has occurred, a description of the event and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.

) The Company shall, so long as any of the Notes are outstanding, promptly deliver to the Trustee, forthwith upon any Officer

becoming aware of any Default or Event of Default, an Officers’ Certificate specifying such Default or Event of Default and what action the
Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.
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Section 4.05. Taxes. The Company shall pay, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to pay, prior to delinquency, all material taxes,
assessments, and governmental levies except such as are contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings or where the failure to effect such payment is
not adverse in any material respect to the Holders.

Section 4.06. Stay, Extension and Usury Laws. The Company covenants (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) that it shall not at any time
insist upon, plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, extension or usury law wherever enacted, now or at any
time hereafter in force, that may affect the covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Company (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) hereby
expressly waives all benefit or advantage of any such law, and covenants that it shall not, by resort to any such law, hinder, delay or impede the execution of
any power herein granted to the Trustee, but shall suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no such law has been enacted.

Section 4.07. Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness. The Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to,
directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume, guarantee, become liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to, or otherwise become responsible for payment
of (collectively, “incur”) any Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness) other than Permitted Indebtedness.



Notwithstanding the foregoing, if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of or as a consequence of the
incurrence of any such Indebtedness, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may incur Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness),
in each case if on the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness, after giving effect to the incurrence thereof, the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
of the Company is greater than 1.50 to 1.0.

Section 4.08. Corporate Existence. Subject to Article 5 hereof, the Company shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and
keep in full force and effect (i) its corporate existence, and the corporate, partnership or other existence of each of its Subsidiaries, in accordance with the
respective organizational documents (as the same may be amended from time to time) of the Company or any such Subsidiary and (ii) the rights (charter and
statutory), licenses and franchises of the Company and its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to preserve any such right,
license or franchise, or the corporate, partnership or other existence of any of its Subsidiaries, if the Board of Directors of the Company shall determine that
the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and that the loss thereof is
not adverse in any material respect to the Holders.

Section 4.09. Maintenance of Total Unencumbered Assets. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall maintain Total Unencumbered Assets of
not less than 120% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Unsecured Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case on a
consolidated basis.

Section 4.10. Termination of Certain Covenants if Certain Ratings are Assigned. The obligations under the covenants contained in
Sections 4.07 and 4.09 hereof shall cease to apply to the Company in the event, and only for so long as, (1) the Notes are rated BBB or Baa2, or higher by at
least two of the three Rating Agencies, and (2) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

Section 4.11. Maintenance of Properties; Books and Records; Compliance with Law.

1) The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to at all times cause all properties used or useful in the conduct of its
business to be maintained and kept in good
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condition, repair and working order (reasonable wear and tear excepted) and supplied with all necessary equipment, and shall cause to be made all
necessary repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereto; provided that nothing in this Section 4.11 shall prevent the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries from discontinuing the operation or maintenance of any of such properties, or disposing of any of them, if such
discontinuance or disposal is either (i) in the ordinary course of business, (ii) in the reasonable and good faith judgment of the Board of Directors or
management of the Company or the Subsidiary concerned, as the case may be, desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company or such
Subsidiary, as the case may be, or (iii) otherwise permitted by this Indenture.

) The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to keep proper and true books of record and account, in which full and
correct entries shall be made of all financial transactions and the assets and business of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, and reflect on its
financial statements adequate accruals and appropriations to reserves, all in accordance with GAAP consistently applied to the Company and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

3) The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply in all material respects with all statutes, laws, ordinances, or
government rules and regulations to which it is subject, non-compliance with which would materially adversely affect the business, earnings,
properties, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Section 4.12. Registration Rights. (1) The Company agrees that the Holders (and any Person that has a beneficial interest in a Note) from time
to time of Registrable Notes are entitled to the benefits of the Registration Rights Agreement. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company
has agreed for the benefit of the Holders from time to time of Registrable Notes, at the Company’s expense, to file an Exchange Offer Registration Statement
with respect to an Exchange Offer to exchange the Notes for Exchange Notes of the Company, which Exchange Notes will have terms substantially identical
in all material respects to the Notes. In certain circumstance, the Company may be required by the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement to file a Shelf
Registration Statement covering resales of the Notes.

) Any amounts of Additional Interest due pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement shall be payable in cash on the regular
Interest Payment Dates.

Whenever in this Indenture there is mentioned, in any context, the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or in respect of, any Note, such
mention shall be deemed to include mention of the payment of Additional Interest provided for in this Section 4.12.

Section 4.13. Additional Interest. If Additional Interest is payable pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company shall deliver to
the Trustee a certificate to that effect stating the amount of such Additional Interest that is payable.

ARTICLE 5

SUCCESSORS

Section 5.01. Merger, Consolidation, or Sale of Assets. The Company shall not, in a single transaction or series of related transactions,
consolidate or merge with or into any Person, or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of (or cause or permit any Subsidiary of the
Company to sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of) all or substantially all of the Company’s assets
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(determined on a consolidated basis for the Company and the Company’s Subsidiaries) whether as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any Person
unless:

1) either:
(a) the Company shall be the surviving or continuing corporation; or
(b) the Person (if other than the Company) formed by such consolidation or into which the Company is merged or the Person

which acquires by sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition the properties and assets of the Company and of the
Company’s Subsidiaries substantially as an entirety (the “Surviving Entity”):

@) shall be a corporation organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or
the District of Columbia; and

(ii) shall expressly assume, by supplemental indenture (in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee), executed
and delivered to the Trustee, the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on all of the Notes
and the performance of every covenant of the Notes and this Indenture on the part of the Company to be performed or observed;

2) immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii) above (including giving
effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred in connection with or in respect of such transaction), the
Company or such Surviving Entity, as the case may be: (a) shall have a Consolidated Net Worth equal to or greater than the Consolidated Net Worth
of the Company immediately prior to such transaction; and (b) shall be able to incur at least $1.00 of additional Indebtedness (other than Permitted
Indebtedness) pursuant to Section 4.07 hereof;

3) immediately before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii)
above (including, without limitation, giving effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred and any
Lien granted in connection with or in respect of the transaction), no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred or be continuing; and

4 the Company or the Surviving Entity shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each
stating that such consolidation, merger, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition and, if a supplemental indenture is required
in connection with such transaction, such supplemental indenture comply with the applicable provisions of this Indenture and that all conditions
precedent in this Indenture relating to such transaction have been satisfied.

For purposes of the foregoing, the transfer (by lease, assignment, sale or otherwise, in a single transaction or series of transactions) of all or
substantially all of the properties or assets of one or more Subsidiaries of the Company the Capital Stock of which constitutes all or substantially all of the
properties and assets of the Company, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company.

Section 5.02. Successor Corporation Substituted. Upon any consolidation or merger, or any sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or

other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof, in which the Company is not the continuing
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corporation, the successor corporation formed by such consolidation or into or with which the Company is merged or to which such sale, assignment, transfer,
lease, conveyance or other disposition is made shall succeed to, and be substituted for (so that from and after the date of such consolidation, merger, sale,
lease, conveyance or other disposition, the provisions of this Indenture referring to the “Company” shall refer instead to the successor corporation and not to
the Company), and may exercise every right and power of, the Company under this Indenture and the Notes with the same effect as if such successor
corporation had been named as the Company herein; provided, however, that, in the case of a transfer by lease, the predecessor Company shall not be relieved
from the obligation to pay the principal of and interest on the Notes.

ARTICLE 6
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
Section 6.01. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default”:
(@) the failure to pay interest on any Notes when the same becomes due and payable and the default continues for a period of 30 days;
) the failure to pay the principal on any Notes, when such principal becomes due and payable, at maturity, or otherwise;
3) a default in the observance or performance of any other covenant or agreement contained in this Indenture and such default

continues for a period of 30 days after the Company receives written notice specifying the default (and demanding that such default be remedied)
from the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes (except in the case of a default with respect to
Section 5.01 hereof, which will constitute an Event of Default with such notice requirement but without such passage of time requirement);

4) the failure to pay at final maturity (giving effect to any applicable grace periods and any extensions thereof) the principal amount
of any Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or the acceleration of the final
stated maturity of any such Indebtedness (which acceleration is not rescinded, annulled or otherwise cured within 20 days of receipt by the Company
or such Subsidiary of notice of any such acceleration) if the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of
any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at final maturity or which has been accelerated, aggregates $50.0 million or more
at any time;

5) there shall have been the entry by a court of competent jurisdiction of:



(a) a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding
under any applicable Bankruptcy Law; or

b) a decree or order adjudging the Company or any Significant Subsidiary bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization,
arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary under any applicable federal or state
law, or appointing a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the Company or any Significant
Subsidiary or of any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and any such decree or order for
relief shall continue to be in effect, or any such other decree or order shall be unstayed and in effect, for a period of 60 consecutive days; or
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(6) (a) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary commences a voluntary case or proceeding under any applicable Bankruptcy
Law or any other case or proceeding to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent;

(@ the Company or any Significant Subsidiary consents to the entry of a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company
or such Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding under any applicable Bankruptcy Law or to the commencement of any
bankruptcy or insolvency case or proceeding against it;

b) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary files a petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization or relief under
any applicable federal or state law;

(o) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary:
@) consents to the filing of such petition or the appointment of, or taking possession by, a custodian, receiver,

liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or similar official of the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or of any substantial
part of its property;

(ii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or
(iii) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; or
(d) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary takes any corporate action in furtherance of any such actions in this
clause (7).
Section 6.02. Acceleration. If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in clauses (6) or (7) above with respect to the

Company) shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of outstanding Notes may declare the principal of and
accrued interest on all the Notes to be due and payable by notice in writing to the Company and the Trustee specifying the respective Event of Default and
that it is a “notice of acceleration” (the “Acceleration Notice”), and the same shall become immediately due and payable.

If an Event of Default specified in clauses (6) or (7) above with respect to the Company occurs and is continuing, then all unpaid principal of, and
premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on all of the outstanding Notes shall ipso facto become and be immediately due and payable without any

declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any Holder.

At any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to the Notes as described in the preceding paragraph, the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the Notes may rescind and cancel such declaration and its consequences:

1) if the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree;

) if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived except nonpayment of principal or interest that has become due solely
because of the acceleration;

3) to the extent the payment of such interest is lawful, interest on overdue installments of interest and overdue principal, which has
become due otherwise than by such declaration of acceleration, has been paid;

39
4) if the Company has paid the Trustee its reasonable compensation and reimbursed the Trustee for its expenses, disbursements and
advances; and
5) in the event of the cure or waiver of an Event of Default of the type described in clauses (6) or (7) of Section 6.01 hereof, the

Trustee shall have received an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel that such Event of Default has been cured or waived. No such
rescission shall affect any subsequent Default or impair any right consequent thereto.

Section 6.03. Other Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the
payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Notes or this Indenture.

The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any of them in the proceeding. A delay or
omission by the Trustee or any Holder of a Note in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or
constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. All remedies are cumulative to the extent permitted by law.



Section 6.04. Waiver of Past Defaults. Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by
notice in writing to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive an existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences hereunder,
except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the Notes (provided, however, that the
Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may rescind an acceleration and its consequences, including any related
payment default that resulted from such acceleration). Upon any such waiver, such Default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom
shall be deemed to have been cured for every purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or impair any right
consequent thereon.

Section 6.05. Control by Majority. Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may, by written notice, direct the
time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on it.
However, the Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture that the Trustee determines may be unduly prejudicial to the
rights of other Holders of Notes or that may involve the Trustee in any personal liability.

Section 6.06. Limitation on Suits. A Holder of a Note may pursue a remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes only if:
(a) a Holder gives to the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default;
(b) the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes make a written request to the Trustee to

pursue the remedy;

() such Holder or Holders offer and, if requested, provide to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against any
loss, liability or expense;

(d) the Trustee does not comply with the request within 60 days after receipt of the request and the offer and, if requested,
the provision of indemnity; and
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(e) during such 60-day period the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes do not give the
Trustee a written direction inconsistent with the request.

A Holder may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Holder or to obtain a preference or priority over another Holder.

Section 6.07. Rights of Holders of Notes To Receive Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder
to receive payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes so held, on or after the respective due dates expressed in the Notes (including in
connection with an offer to purchase), or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be impaired or
affected without the consent of such Holder.

Section 6.08. Collection Suit by Trustee. If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(1) or (2) occurs and is continuing, the Trustee is
authorized to recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Company for the whole amount of principal of, premium, if any,
and interest remaining unpaid on the Notes and interest on overdue principal and, to the extent lawful, interest and such further amount as shall be sufficient
to cover the costs and expenses of collection, including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and
counsel and any amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.07 hereof.

Section 6.09. Trustee May File Proofs of Claim. The Trustee is authorized to file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents as may
be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and
advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and the Holders allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Company (or any other obligor upon the
Notes), its creditors or its property and shall be entitled and empowered to collect, receive and distribute any money or other property payable or deliverable
on any such claims and any custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to the Trustee, and in the
event that the Trustee shall consent in writing to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the
reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under
Section 7.07 hereof. To the extent that the payment of any such compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel,
and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.07 hereof out of the estate in any such proceeding, shall be denied for any reason, payment of the
same shall be secured by a Lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, money, securities and other properties that the Holders may
be entitled to receive in such proceeding whether in liquidation or under any plan of reorganization or arrangement or otherwise. Nothing herein contained
shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement,
adjustment or composition affecting the Notes or the rights of any Holder, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such
proceeding.

Section 6.10. Priorities. If the Trustee collects any money pursuant to this Article, it shall pay out the money in the following order:

First: to the Trustee, its agents and attorneys for amounts due under Section 7.07 hereof, including payment of all compensation, expense
and liabilities incurred, and all advances made, by the Trustee and the costs and expenses of collection;

Second: to Holders of Notes for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for principal, premium, if any, and interest, ratably, without
preference or priority of any kind, according to the
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amounts due and payable on the Notes for principal, premium, if any and interest, respectively; and
Third: to the Company or to such party as a court of competent jurisdiction shall direct.
The Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to Holders of Notes pursuant to this Section 6.10.
Section 6.11. Undertaking for Costs. In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the
Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as a Trustee, a court in its discretion may require the filing by any party litigant in the suit of an undertaking to
pay the costs of the suit, and the court in its discretion may assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, against any party litigant in the suit,
having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant. This Section does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit
by a Holder of a Note pursuant to Section 6.07 hereof, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes.
ARTICLE 7
TRUSTEE
Section 7.01. Duties of Trustee. (1) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the
circumstances in the conduct of such person’s own affairs.

) Except during the continuance of an Event of Default:

(a) the Trustee undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no
implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and

(b) the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein,
upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture in the absence of bad faith on the
Trustee’s part; provided, however, that the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions to determine whether or not they substantially
conform to the requirements of this Indenture.

3) The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act, or its own willful
misconduct, except that:

(a this paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section 7.01;
(b) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it is proved

that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;
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() the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in accordance with a
written direction received by it pursuant to Section 6.05; and

(d) the Trustee shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance
of any of its duties under this Indenture or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it has reasonable grounds to believe repayment of
the funds or adequate indemnity against the risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.

4) Every provision of this Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee is
subject to the provisions of this Section 7.01 and to the provisions of the TIA.

5) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against
any loss, liability or expense.

(6) The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Trustee may agree in writing with the
Company. Money and Government Securities held in trust by the Trustee need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by
law.

@) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the

direction of the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding given pursuant to Section 6.05 of this
Indenture, relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or
power conferred upon the Trustee under this Indenture.

Section 7.02. Rights of Trustee. (1) The Trustee may conclusively rely on any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed
or presented by the proper Person. The Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document.

2 Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require an Officers’ Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel that conforms to
Section 11.04. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on such Officers’ Certificate or Opinion
of Counsel.

3) The Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent appointed with due

care.



4 The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith that it believes to be authorized or within its
rights or powers, except conduct that constitutes willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith.

5) The Trustee may consult with counsel, and the Trustee will not be liable for any action it takes or omits in reliance on, and in
accordance with, written advice of counsel.

(6) The Trustee will not be required to investigate any facts or matters stated in any document, but if it decides to investigate any
matters or facts, the Trustee or its agents or attorneys will be entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Company.

43

Section 7.03. Individual Rights of Trustee. The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Notes and
may otherwise deal with the Company or any Affiliate of the Company with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee. Any Paying Agent,
Registrar, co-registrar or co-paying agent may do the same with like rights. However, the Trustee must comply with Sections 7.10 and 7.11 hereof.

Section 7.04. Trustee’s Disclaimer. The Trustee (i) is not responsible for and makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this
Indenture, (ii) shall not be accountable for the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Notes and (iii) shall not be responsible for any statement of the
Company in this Indenture, other than the Trustee’s certificate of authentication, or in any prospectus used in the sale of any of the Notes, other than
statements, if any, provided in writing by the Trustee for use in such prospectus.

Section 7.05. Notice of Defaults. The Trustee will give to the Holders notice of any Default with regard to the Notes actually known to a
Responsible Officer within 90 days after receipt of such knowledge and in the manner and to the extent provided in TIA § 313(c), and otherwise as provided
in Section 11.02 of this Indenture; provided, however, that except in the case of a Default in payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any
Note, the Trustee will be protected in withholding notice of Default if and so long as a committee of its Responsible Officers in good faith determines that
withholding of the notice is in the interests of the Holders of the Notes.

Section 7.06. Reports by Trustee. Within 60 days after each October 15 beginning with the October 15 following the date of this Indenture, the
Trustee will mail to each Holder, at the name and address which appears on the registration books of the Company, and to each Holder who has, within the
two years preceding the mailing, filed that person’s name and address with the Trustee for that purpose and each Holder whose name and address have been
furnished to the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.05, a brief report dated as of that October 15 which complies with TTA § 313(a). Reports to Noteholders
pursuant to this Section 7.06 shall be transmitted in the manner and to the extent provided in TIA § 313(c). The Trustee also will comply with TIA § 313(b).

A copy of each report will at the time of its mailing to Holders be filed with each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed and also with the
SEC. The Company will promptly notify the Trustee when the Notes are listed on any stock exchange and of any delisting of the Notes.

Section 7.07. Compensation and Indemnity. The Company shall pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for its services.
The Trustee’s compensation shall not be limited by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust. The Company shall reimburse the Trustee upon
request for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred or made by it, including costs of collection, in addition to the compensation for its services. Such
expenses shall include the reasonable compensation and expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee’s agents, counsel, accountants and experts.

The Company shall indemnify the Trustee against any and all loss, liability or expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees) incurred by it in
connection with the administration of the trust created by this Indenture and the performance of its duties under this Indenture. The Trustee shall notify the
Company promptly of any claim for which it may seek indemnity. Failure by the Trustee to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of its
obligations hereunder. The Company shall defend the claim and the Trustee may have separate counsel and the Company shall pay the fees and expenses of
such counsel. The Company need not pay for any settlement made without its consent. The Company need not reimburse any expense or indemnify against
any loss, expense or liability incurred by the Trustee to the extent it is due to the Trustee’s own willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith.
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To secure the Company’s obligations to make payments to the Trustee under this Section 7.07, the Trustee shall have a Lien prior to the Notes on all
money or property held or collected by the Trustee, other than money or property held in trust to pay principal or interest on particular Notes. Those
obligations of the Company shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture.

When the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services after an Event of Default specified in Sections 6.01(6) or (7) hereof occurs, the expenses and
the compensation for the services of the Trustee are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any Bankruptcy Law.

For purposes of this Section 7.07, “Trustee” will include any predecessor Trustee, but the willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith of any Trustee
shall not affect the rights of any other Trustee under this Section 7.07.

Section 7.08. Replacement of Trustee. The Trustee may resign at any time by so notifying the Company. The Holders of a majority in
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may remove the Trustee by so notifying the Trustee and the Company and may appoint a successor
Trustee. The Company may remove the Trustee if:

(€) the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10;
(b) he Trustee is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent or an order for relief is entered with respect to the Trustee under any
Bankruptcy Law;

(o) a custodian or public officer takes charge of the Trustee or its property; or



(d) the Trustee becomes incapable of acting.

If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of Trustee for any reason, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor
Trustee. Within one year after the successor Trustee takes office, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may
appoint a successor Trustee to replace the successor Trustee appointed by the Company.

No removal or appointment of a Trustee will be valid if that removal or appointment would conflict with any law applicable to the Company.

A successor Trustee will deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the Company. Immediately after that, the
retiring Trustee will, subject to the Lien provided for in Section 7.07, transfer all property held by it as Trustee to the successor Trustee, the resignation or
removal of the retiring Trustee will become effective, and the successor Trustee will have all the rights, powers and duties of the Trustee under this Indenture.
A successor Trustee will mail notice of its succession to each Holder.

If a successor Trustee does not take office within 60 days after the retiring Trustee resigns or is removed, the retiring Trustee, the Company or the
Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a
successor Trustee.

If the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10, any Holder may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the

appointment of a successor Trustee.
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Notwithstanding the replacement of the Trustee pursuant to this Section, the Company’s obligations under Section 7.07 shall continue for the benefit
of the retiring Trustee.

Section 7.09. Successor Trustee by Merger, etc. If the Trustee consolidates with, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all of
its corporate trust assets to, another Person, the resulting, surviving or transferee Person will, without any further act, be the successor Trustee.

If at the time a successor by merger, conversion or consolidation to the Trustee succeeds to the trusts created by this Indenture any of the Notes have
been authenticated but not delivered, the successor to the Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of the predecessor Trustee, and deliver the Notes
which were authenticated by the predecessor Trustee; and if at that time any of the Notes have not been authenticated, the successor to the Trustee may
authenticate those Notes in its own name as the successor to the Trustee; and in either case the certificates of authentication will have the full force provided
in this Indenture for certificates of authentication.

Section 7.10. Eligibility; Disqualification. The Trustee will at all times satisfy the requirements of TIA § 310(a). The Trustee will at all times
have (or shall be a member of a bank holding company system whose parent corporation has) a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 as set
forth in its most recently published annual report of condition, which will be deemed for this paragraph to be its combined capital and surplus. The Trustee

will comply with TIA § 310(b).

Section 7.11. Preferential Collection of Claims. The Trustee shall comply with TIA § 311(a), excluding any creditor relationship listed in TIA
§ 311(b). A Trustee who has resigned or been removed shall be subject to TIA § 311(a) to the extent indicated therein.

ARTICLE 8
LEGAL DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE

Section 8.01. Option To Effect Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance. The Company may, at the option of its Board of Directors
evidenced by a Board Resolution set forth in an Officers’ Certificate, at any time, elect to have either Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof be applied to all outstanding
Notes upon compliance with the conditions set forth below in this Article 8.

Section 8.02. Legal Defeasance and Discharge. Upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this
Section 8.02, the Company shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, be deemed to have been discharged from its
obligations with respect to all outstanding Notes on the date the conditions set forth below are satisfied (hereinafter, “Legal Defeasance”). For this purpose,
Legal Defeasance means that the Company shall be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire Indebtedness represented by the outstanding Notes, which
shall thereafter be deemed to be “outstanding” only for the purposes of Section 8.05 hereof and the other Sections of this Indenture referred to in (a) and (b)
below, and to have satisfied all its other obligations under such Notes and this Indenture (and the Trustee, on written demand of and at the expense of the
Company, shall execute proper instruments acknowledging the same), except for the following provisions which shall survive until otherwise terminated or
discharged hereunder: (a) the rights of Holders of outstanding Notes to receive solely from the trust fund described in Section 8.04 hereof, and as more fully
set forth in such Section, payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Notes when such payments are due, (b) the Company’s
obligations with respect to such Notes under Article 2 and Section 4.02 hereof, (c) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee hereunder
and the Company’s obligations in connection therewith and (d) this Article 8. Subject to
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compliance with this Article 8, the Company may exercise its option under this Section 8.02 notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option under
Section 8.03 hereof.

Section 8.03. Covenant Defeasance. Upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this Section 8.03, the
Company shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, be released from its obligations under the covenants contained in



Sections 4.07, 4.09 and 4.10 hereof and clause (2) of Section 5.01 hereof with respect to the outstanding Notes on and after the date the conditions set forth in
Section 8.04 are satisfied (hereinafter, “Covenant Defeasance”), and the Notes shall thereafter be deemed not “outstanding” for the purposes of any direction,
waiver, consent or declaration or act of Holders (and the consequences of any thereof) in connection with such covenants, but shall continue to be deemed
“outstanding” for all other purposes hereunder (it being understood that such Notes shall not be deemed outstanding for accounting purposes). For this
purpose, Covenant Defeasance means that, with respect to the outstanding Notes, the Company may omit to comply with and shall have no liability in respect
of any term, condition or limitation set forth in any such covenant, whether directly or indirectly, by reason of any reference elsewhere herein to any such
covenant or by reason of any reference in any such covenant to any other provision herein or in any other document and such omission to comply shall not
constitute a Default or an Event of Default under Section 6.01 hereof, but, except as specified above, the remainder of this Indenture and such Notes shall be
unaffected thereby. In addition, upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this Section 8.03 hereof, subject to the
satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, Sections 6.01(4) and (5) hereof shall not constitute Events of Default.

Section 8.04. Conditions to Legal or Covenant Defeasance. The following shall be the conditions to the application of either Section 8.02 or
8.03 hereof to the outstanding U.S. Notes:

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance:

(a) the Company must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders, cash in United States dollars, non-
callable Government Securities, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, in the written opinion of a nationally recognized firm
of independent public accountants addressed to the Trustee, to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the outstanding Notes on the
stated date for payment thereof and any other amounts owing under this Indenture;

b) in the case of an election under Section 8.02 hereof, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the
United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that (i) the Company has received from, or there has been published by, the Internal
Revenue Service a ruling or (ii) since the date of this Indenture, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case to the
effect that, and based thereon such Opinion of Counsel shall confirm that, the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or
loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same
manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(o) in the case of an election under Section 8.03 hereof, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the
United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for
federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same
manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;
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(d) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit or insofar as Events of Default
from bankruptcy or insolvency events are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after the date of deposit;

(e) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under this
Indenture or any other material agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries is bound;

® the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate stating that the deposit was not made by the Company
with the intent of preferring the Holders over any other creditors of the Company or with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding
any other creditors of the Company or others;

() the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all
conditions precedent provided for or relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance, as the case may be, have been complied with; and

(h) the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that, assuming no intervening bankruptcy of
the Company between the date of deposit and the 91st day following the date of deposit and that no Holder is an insider of the Company, after the
91st day following the date of deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the opinion of counsel required by clause (b) above with respect to Legal Defeasance need not be delivered if all
Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable.

Section 8.05. Deposited Money and Government Securities To Be Held in Trust; Other Miscellaneous Provisions. Subject to Section 8.06
hereof, all money and non-callable Government Securities (including the proceeds thereof) deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 8.04 hereof in
respect of the outstanding Notes shall be held in trust and applied by the Trustee, in accordance with the provisions of such Notes and this Indenture, to the
payment, either directly or through any Paying Agent (including the Company acting as Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Holders of such
Notes of all sums due and to become due thereon in respect of principal, premium, if any, and interest, but such money need not be segregated from other
funds except to the extent required by law.

The Company shall pay and indemnify the Trustee against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against the cash or non-callable
Government Securities deposited pursuant to Section 8.04 hereof or the principal and interest received in respect thereof other than any such tax, fee or other
charge which by law is for the account of the Holders of the outstanding Notes.

Anything in this Article 8 to the contrary notwithstanding, the Trustee shall deliver or pay to the Company from time to time upon the written request
of the Company any money or non-callable Government Securities held by it as provided in Section 8.04 hereof which, in the opinion of a nationally
recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee (which may be the opinion delivered
under Section 8.04(a) hereof), are in excess of the amount thereof that would then be required to be deposited to effect an equivalent Legal Defeasance or
Covenant Defeasance.
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Section 8.06. Repayment to Company. Any money deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent, or then held by the Company, in trust for
the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Note and remaining unclaimed for two years after such principal, and premium, if any, or
interest has become due and payable shall be paid to the Company on its written request or (if then held by the Company) shall be discharged from such trust;
and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter look only to the Company for payment thereof, and all liability of the Trustee or such Paying Agent with respect
to such trust money, and all liability of the Company as trustee thereof, shall thereupon cease; provided, however, that the Trustee or such Paying Agent,
before being required to make any such repayment, may at the expense of the Company cause to be published once, in the New York Times and The Wall
Street Journal (national edition), notice that such money remains unclaimed and that, after a date specified therein, which shall not be less than 30 days from

the date of such notification or publication, any unclaimed balance of such money then remaining will be repaid to the Company.

Section 8.07. Reinstatement. If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any United States dollars or non-callable Government Securities
in accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof, as the case may be, by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining,
restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, then the Company’s obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as
though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof until such time as the Trustee or Paying Agent is permitted to apply all such money in
accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof, as the case may be; provided, however, that, if the Company makes any payment of principal of, premium, if
any, or interest on any Note following the reinstatement of its obligations, the Company shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to
receive such payment from the money held by the Trustee or Paying Agent.

ARTICLE 9
AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER

Section 9.01. Without Consent of Holders of Notes. Notwithstanding Section 9.02 of this Indenture, the Company and the Trustee may amend
or supplement this Indenture or the Notes without the consent of any Holder of a Note:

(a) to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency that does not adversely affect in any material respect the rights hereunder of any
Holder of the Notes;

b) to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes or to alter the provisions of Article 2 hereof
(including the related definitions) in a manner that does not materially adversely affect any Holder;

(0) to provide for the assumption of the Company’s obligations to the Holders by a successor to the Company pursuant to Article 5
hereof;

(d) to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely
affect in any material respect the rights hereunder of any Holder of the Notes;

(e) to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of this Indenture under the TIA; or
(€3] to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment under this Indenture of a successor Trustee.
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Upon the written request of the Company accompanied by, to the extent necessary, a Board Resolution authorizing the execution of any such
amended or supplemental Indenture, and upon receipt by the Trustee of the documents described in Section 7.02 hereof, the Trustee shall join with the
Company in the execution of any amended or supplemental Indenture authorized or permitted by the terms of this Indenture and to make any further
appropriate agreements and stipulations that may be therein contained, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into such amended or supplemental
Indenture that affects its own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

Section 9.02. With Consent of Holders of Notes. Except as provided below in this Section 9.02, the Company and the Trustee may amend or
supplement this Indenture, and the Notes with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding
voting as a single class (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for, or purchase of, the Notes), and, subject to
Sections 6.04 and 6.07 hereof, any existing Default or Event of Default (other than a Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, premium,
if any, or interest on the Notes, except a payment default resulting from an acceleration that has been rescinded) or compliance with any provision of this
Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a
single class (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for, or purchase of, the Notes).

Upon the written request of the Company accompanied by a Board Resolution authorizing the execution of any such amended or supplemental
Indenture, and upon the filing with the Trustee of evidence satisfactory to the Trustee of the consent of the Holders of Notes as aforesaid, and upon receipt by
the Trustee of the documents described in Section 7.02 hereof, the Trustee shall join with the Company in the execution of such amended or supplemental
Indenture unless such amended or supplemental Indenture directly affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in
which case the Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into such amended or supplemental Indenture.

It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Holders of Notes under this Section 9.02 to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment
or waiver, but it shall be sufficient if such consent approves the substance thereof.

After an amendment, supplement or waiver under this Section becomes effective, the Company shall mail to the Holders affected thereby a notice
briefly describing the amendment, supplement or waiver. Any failure of the Company to mail such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any
way impair or affect the validity of any such amended or supplemental Indenture or waiver. Subject to Sections 6.04 and 6.07 hereof, the Holders of a



majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class may waive in writing compliance in a particular instance by the
Company with any provision of this Indenture or the Notes. However, without the written consent of each Holder affected, an amendment or waiver under
this Section 9.02 may not (with respect to any Notes held by a non-consenting Holder):

(a) reduce the amount of Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment;

(b) reduce the rate of or change or have the effect of changing the time for payment of interest, including defaulted interest,
on any Notes;

(o) reduce the principal of or change or have the effect of changing the fixed maturity of any Notes;
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(d) make any Notes payable in money other than that stated in the Notes;
(e) make any change in provisions of this Indenture protecting the right of each Holder to receive payment of principal of

and interest on such Note on or after the due date thereof or to bring suit to enforce such payment, or permitting Holders of a majority in
principal amount of Notes to waive Defaults or Events of Default; or

® modify or change any provision of this Indenture or the related definitions affecting the subordination or ranking of the
Notes in a manner which adversely affects the Holders.

Section 9.03. Compliance with Trust Indenture Act. Every amendment or supplement to this Indenture or the Notes shall be set forth in a
amended or supplemental Indenture that complies with the TIA as then in effect.

Section 9.04. Revocation and Effect of Consents. Until an amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder is
a continuing consent by the Holder of a Note and every subsequent Holder of a Note or portion of a Note that evidences the same debt as the consenting
Holder’s Note, even if notation of the consent is not made on any Note. However, any such Holder or subsequent Holder may revoke the consent as to its
Note if the Trustee receives written notice of revocation before the date the waiver, supplement or amendment becomes effective. An amendment,
supplement or waiver becomes effective in accordance with its terms and thereafter binds every Holder.

Section 9.05. Notation on or Exchange of Notes. The Trustee may place an appropriate notation about an amendment, supplement or waiver
on any Note thereafter authenticated. The Company in exchange for all Notes may issue and the Trustee shall, upon receipt of an Authentication Order,
authenticate new Notes that reflect the amendment, supplement or waiver.

Failure to make the appropriate notation or issue a new Note shall not affect the validity and effect of such amendment, supplement or waiver.

Section 9.06. Trustee To Sign Amendments, etc. The Trustee shall sign any amended or supplemental Indenture authorized pursuant to this
Article 9 if the amendment or supplement does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of the Trustee. The Company may not sign an
amendment or supplemental Indenture until the Board of Directors approves it. In executing any amended or supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall be
entitled to receive and (subject to Section 7.01 hereof) shall be fully protected in relying conclusively upon, in addition to the documents required by
Section 11.04 hereof, an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that the execution of such amended or supplemental Indenture is authorized
or permitted by this Indenture.
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ARTICLE 10
SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

Section 10.01. Satisfaction and Discharge. This Indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect (except as to surviving rights
or registration of transfer or exchange of the Notes, as expressly provided for in this Indenture) as to all outstanding Notes, when:

(a) either:

@3) all the Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered (except lost, stolen or destroyed Notes that have been replaced or
paid and Notes for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and
thereafter repaid to the Company or discharged from such trust) have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or

(ii) all Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable and the Company has
irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee funds in an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness
on the Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes to the date
of deposit together with irrevocable instructions from the Company directing the Trustee to apply such funds to the payment thereof at
maturity or redemption, as the case may be;

(b) the Company has paid all other sums payable under this Indenture by the Company; and

(o) the Company has delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that all conditions precedent
under this Indenture relating to the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture have been complied with.



Section 10.02. Application of Trust Money. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.06, all money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to
Section 10.01 shall be held in trust and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, either directly or
through any Paying Agent (including the Company acting as its own Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Persons entitled thereto, of the
principal (and premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the Trustee; but such money need not be segregated from
other funds except to the extent required by law.

If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any money or Government Securities in accordance with Section 10.01 by reason of any legal
proceeding or by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, the
Company’s obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 10.01;
provided that if the Company has made any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Notes because of the reinstatement of its obligations,
the Company shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money or Government Securities held by the
Trustee or Paying Agent.
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ARTICLE 11
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 11.01. Trust Indenture Act Controls. If any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with the duties imposed by TIA §
318(c), the imposed duties shall control.
Section 11.02. Notices. Any notice or communication by the Company or the Trustee to the others is duly given if in writing and delivered in

Person or mailed by first class mail (registered or certified, return receipt requested), telex, telecopier or overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery,
to the others’ address:

If to the Company:

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

Facsimile: (212) 930-9494

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

With a copy to:

Clifford Chance US LLP

200 Park Avenue, 52nd Floor

New York, NY 10166-0153
Facsimile: (212) 878-8375
Attention: Kathleen L. Werner, Esq.

If to the Trustee:

U.S. Bank Trust National Association
100 Wall Street, 19th Floor

New York, NY 10005

Facsimile: (212) 361-6153

Attention: Corporate Trust Department

The Company or the Trustee, by notice to the others may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or communications.

All notices and communications (other than those sent to Holders) shall be deemed to have been duly given: at the time delivered by hand, if
personally delivered; five Business Days after being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, if mailed; when answered back, if telexed; when receipt
acknowledged, if telecopied; and the next Business Day after timely delivery to the courier, if sent by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery.

Any notice or communication to a Holder shall be mailed by first class mail, certified or registered, return receipt requested, or by overnight air
courier guaranteeing next day delivery to its address shown on the register kept by the Registrar. Any notice or communication shall also be so mailed to any
Person described in TIA § 313(c), to the extent required by the TIA. Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect
its sufficiency with respect to other Holders.
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If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above within the time prescribed, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee
receives it.

If the Company mails a notice or communication to Holders, it shall mail a copy to the Trustee and each Agent at the same time.



Section 11.03. Communication by Holders of Notes with Other Holders of Notes. Holders may communicate pursuant to TIA § 312(b) with
other Holders with respect to their rights under this Indenture or the Notes. The Company, the Trustee, the Registrar and anyone else shall have the protection
of TIA § 312(c).

Section 11.04. Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent. Upon any request or application by the Company to the Trustee to take any
action under this Indenture, the Company shall furnish to the Trustee:

(a) an Officers’ Certificate in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which shall include the statements set forth in
Section 11.05 hereof) stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent and covenants, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating
to the proposed action have been satisfied; and

(b) an Opinion of Counsel in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which shall include the statements set forth in
Section 11.05 hereof) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent and covenants have been satisfied.

Section 11.05. Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion. Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or
covenant provided for in this Indenture (other than a certificate provided pursuant to TIA § 314(a)(4)) shall comply with the provisions of TIA § 314(e) and
shall include:

(a) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;

(b) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained
in such certificate or opinion are based;

() a statement that, in the opinion of such Person, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him
to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been satisfied; and

(d) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or covenant has been satisfied.

Section 11.06. Rules by Trustee and Agents. The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or at a meeting of Holders. The Registrar or
Paying Agent may make reasonable rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions.

Section 11.07. No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders. No past, present or future director, officer, employee,
incorporator or stockholder of the Company, as such, shall have any liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes, this Indenture or for any
claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The

waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes.
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Section 11.08. Governing Law. THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO
CONSTRUE THIS INDENTURE AND THE NOTES WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.

Section 11.009. No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements. This Indenture may not be used to interpret any other indenture, loan or debt
agreement of the Company or its Subsidiaries or of any other Person. Any such indenture, loan or debt agreement may not be used to interpret this Indenture.

Section 11.10. Successors. All agreements of the Company in this Indenture and the Notes shall bind its successors. All agreements of the
Trustee in this Indenture shall bind its successors.

Section 11.11. Severability. In case any provision in this Indenture or in the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality
and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 11.12. Counterpart Originals. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but
all of them together represent the same agreement.

Section 11.13. Table of Contents, Headings, etc. The Table of Contents, Cross-Reference Table and Headings of the Articles and Sections of
this Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part of this Indenture and shall in no way modify or restrict any
of the terms or provisions hereof.

[Signatures on following page]
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SIGNATURES

Dated as of September 22, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.



By:

Name:
Title:

U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
not in its individual capacity, but solely as Trustee

By:
Name:
Title:
EXHIBIT A
[Face of Note]

[Insert the Global Note Legend and/or Private Placement Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]
CUSIP/CINS 45031U AY 7
5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

No. $700,000,000

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.
promises to pay to CEDE & Co., or registered assigns, the principal sum of Seven Hundred Million Dollars on October 15, 2013.
Interest Payment Dates: April 15 and October 15
Record Dates: April 1 and October 1

Dated: September 22, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
This is one of the Notes referred to
in the within-mentioned Indenture: Date:
U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee
By:
Authorized Signatory
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[Back of Note]

5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.



1. Interest. iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note at
5.95% per annum from September 22, 2006 until maturity. The Company will pay interest semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year,
or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day (each an “Interest Payment Date”). Interest on the Notes will accrue from the
most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from September 22, 2006; provided that if there is no existing Default in the
payment of interest, and if this Note is authenticated between a record date referred to on the face hereof and the next succeeding Interest Payment Date,
interest shall accrue from such next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, further, that the first Interest Payment Date shall be April 15, 2007. The
Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue principal and premium, if any, from
time to time on demand at the rate then in effect; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on
overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace periods) from time to time on demand at the same rate to the extent lawful. Interest
will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

2. Method of Payment. The Company will pay interest on the Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered Holders of
Notes at the close of business on April 15 and October 15 next preceding the Interest Payment Date, even if such Notes are canceled after such record date
and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with respect to defaulted interest. The Notes will be payable
as to principal, premium, if any, and interest at the office or agency of the Company maintained for such purpose within or without the City and State of New
York, or, at the option of the Company, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders,
and provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with respect to principal of and interest, and premium, if any, on,
all Global Notes and all other Notes the Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer instructions to the Company or the Paying Agent. Such payment
shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. The
Company reserves the right to pay interest to Holders of Notes by check mailed to such Holders at their registered addresses or by wire transfer to Holders of
at least $5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes.

Registrar. The Company may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may act in any
such capacity.

3. Paying Agent and Registrar. Initially, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, the Trustee under the Indenture, will act as Paying Agent and

4. Indenture. The Company issued the Notes under an Indenture dated as of September 22, 2006 (the “Indenture”) between the Company and
the Trustee. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture and those made part of the Indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939,
as amended (15 U.S. Code §§ 77aaa-77bbbb). The Notes are subject to all such terms, and Holders are referred to the Indenture and such Act for a statement
of such terms. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and
be controlling. The Notes are obligations of the Company. The Company is issuing
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$700 million in aggregate principal amount on the Issue Date and may issue Additional Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

5. Optional Redemption. At any time on or prior to the Maturity Date, the Notes may be redeemed or purchased in whole but not in part at
the Company’s option at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued but unpaid interest, if any (the
“Redemption Price”), to, the date of redemption or purchase (the “Redemption Date”) (subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to
receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date). Such redemption or purchase may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to each Holder’s
registered address, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date.

“Applicable Premium” means, with respect to a Note at any Redemption Date, the greater of: (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note; and
(2) the excess of (a) the present value at such Redemption Date of (i) the Redemption Price of such Note on the Redemption Date plus (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on such Note through the Redemption Date, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 20
basis points; over (b) the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date. Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Company or
on behalf of the Company by such Person as the Company shall designate; provided, however, that such calculation shall not be a duty or obligation of the
Trustee.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to a Redemption Date, as determined by the Company, the yield to maturity at the time of computation of
United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) that
has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to such Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly
available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013; provided, however, that if the
period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013 is not equal to the constant maturity of the United States Treasury security for which a weekly
average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average
yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given, except that if the period from such Redemption Date to October 15, 2013 is less
than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

6. Mandatory Redemption. The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes.

7. Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the Redemption Date to
each Holder whose Notes are to be redeemed at its registered address. Notes in denominations larger than $1,000 may be redeemed in part but only in whole
multiples of $1,000, unless all of the Notes held by a Holder are to be redeemed. On and after the Redemption Date interest ceases to accrue on Notes or
portions thereof called for redemption.

8. Denominations, Transfer, Exchange. The Notes are in registered form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples
of $1,000. The transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged as provided in the Indenture. The Registrar and the Trustee may require a
Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Company and the Trustee may require a Holder to pay any
taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Company need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes during the period
between a record date and the corresponding Interest Payment Date.
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9. Persons Deemed Owners. The registered Holder of a Note may be treated as its owner for all purposes.

10. Amendment, Supplement and Waiver. Subject to certain exceptions, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or supplemented with the
written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class, and any existing default or
compliance with any provision of the Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the
then outstanding Notes voting as a single class. Without the consent of any Holder of a Note, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or supplemented to
cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes, to provide for the assumption
of the Company’s obligations to Holders of the Notes in case of a merger or consolidation, to make any change that would provide any additional rights or
benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely affect in any material respects the rights under the Indenture of any such Holder, to comply
with the requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act or to evidence and provide for
the acceptance of appointment under the Indenture of a successor Trustee.

11. Defaults and Remedies. Events of Default are set forth in the Indenture. If any Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee or
the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all the Notes to be due and payable. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable
without further action or notice. Holders may not enforce the Indenture or the Notes except as provided in the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations,
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the Trustee in writing in its exercise of any trust or power. The Trustee
may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default (except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of
principal or interest) if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest. The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then
outstanding by written notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its
consequences under the Indenture except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest on, or the principal of, the Notes. The Company
is required to deliver to the Trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the Indenture, and the Company is required upon becoming aware of any
Default or Event of Default, to deliver to the Trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event of Default.

12. Trustee Dealings with Company. The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may make loans to, accept deposits from, and
perform services for the Company or its Affiliates, and may otherwise deal with the Company or its Affiliates, as if it were not the Trustee.

13. No Recourse Against Others. A director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder, of the Company, as such, shall not have any
liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or
their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of
the Notes.

14. Authentication. This Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

15. Abbreviations. Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder or an assignee, such as: TEN COM (= tenants in common),
TEN ENT (= tenants by the entireties),

A-4

JT TEN (= joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (= Custodian), and U/G/M/A (= Uniform Gifts to Minors Act).

16. CUSIP Numbers. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the
Company has caused CUSIP numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to
Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of purchase and reliance
may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

17. Additional Rights of Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes. In addition to the rights provided to Holders of
Notes under the Indenture, Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes shall have all the rights set forth in the Registration Rights
Agreement dated as of September 22, 2006, between the Company and the parties named on the signature pages thereof (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”).
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The Company will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture and/or the Registration Rights Agreement.
Requests may be made to:

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

Attention: Investor Relations
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ASSIGNMENT FORM
To assign this Note, fill in the form below:

(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:

(Insert assignee’s legal name)

(Insert assignee’s soc. sec. or tax I.D. no.)

(Print or type assignee’s name, address and zip code)

and irrevocably appoint
to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for him.

Date:

Your Signature:

(Sign exactly as your name appears
on the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*:

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).
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SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of
another Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

Principal Amount

Amount of Amount of of this Global Note Signature of
decrease in increase in following such authorized officer
Principal Amount Principal Amount decrease of Trustee or Note
Date of Exchange of this Global Note of this Global Note (or increase) Custodian
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EXHIBIT B

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFER
iStar Financial Inc.
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036
[Registrar address block]

Re: 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

, (the “Transferor”) owns and proposes to transfer the Note[s] or interest in such Note[s] specified in Annex A hereto, in the principal
amount of $ in such Note[s] or interests (the “Transfer”), to (the “Transferee™), as further specified in Annex A hereto. In connection
with the Transfer, the Transferor hereby certifies that:




[CHECK ALL THAT APPLY]

1. o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the 144A Global Note or a Definitive Note Pursuant to
Rule 144A. The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144A under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and, accordingly, the Transferor hereby further certifies that the beneficial interest or Definitive Note is being transferred to a Person that
the Transferor reasonably believed and believes is purchasing the beneficial interest or Definitive Note for its own account, or for one or more accounts with
respect to which such Person exercises sole investment discretion, and such Person and each such account is a “qualified institutional buyer” within the
meaning of Rule 144A in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and such Transfer is in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities
laws of any state of the United States. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial
interest or Definitive Note will be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the applicable 144A Global
Note and/or the applicable Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.

2. o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the Regulation S Global Note or a Definitive Note pursuant to
Regulation S. The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act and, accordingly, the
Transferor hereby further certifies that (i) the Transfer is not being made to a person in the United States and (x) at the time the buy order was originated, the
Transferee was outside the United States or such Transferor and any Person acting on its behalf reasonably believed and believes that the Transferee was
outside the United States or (y) the transaction was executed in, on or through the facilities of a designated offshore securities market and neither such
Transferor nor any Person acting on its behalf knows that the transaction was prearranged with a buyer in the United States, (ii) no directed selling efforts
have been made in contravention of the requirements of Rule 903(b) or Rule 904(b) of Regulation S under the Securities Act and (iii) the transaction is not
part of a plan or scheme to evade the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed transfer in accordance with the
terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will be subject to the
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restrictions on Transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the applicable Regulation S Global Note and/or the applicable Definitive Note
and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.

3. o Check and complete if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the IAI Global Note or a Definitive Note pursuant
to any provision of the Securities Act other than Rule 144A or Regulation S. The Transfer is being effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions
applicable to beneficial interests in Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act and any
applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States, and accordingly the Transferor hereby further certifies that (check one):

(a) o such Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act;
or
(b) o such Transfer is being effected to the Company or a subsidiary thereof;
or
(o) o such Transfer is being effected pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and in compliance with

the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act;
or

(d) o such Transfer is being effected to an Institutional Accredited Investor and pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act other than Rule 144A, Rule 144 or Rule 904, and the Transferor hereby further certifies that it has not engaged in
any general solicitation within the meaning of Regulation D under the Securities Act and the Transfer complies with the transfer restrictions
applicable to beneficial interests in a Restricted Global Note or Restricted Definitive Notes and the requirements of the exemption claimed, which
certification is supported by (1) a certificate executed by the Transferee in the form of Exhibit D to the Indenture and (2) if such Transfer is in respect
of a principal amount of Notes at the time of transfer of less than $250,000, an Opinion of Counsel provided by the Transferor or the Transferee (a
copy of which the Transferor has attached to this certification), to the effect that such Transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act. Upon
consummation of the proposed transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will be
subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the applicable IAI Global Note and/or the applicable
Definitive Notes and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.

4. o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or of an Unrestricted Definitive

Z
=]
=
o]

(a) o Check if Transfer is pursuant to Rule 144. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144
under the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any
state of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to
maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the

terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the
Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture.



Dated:

(b) o Check if Transfer is Pursuant to Regulation S. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with
Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky
securities laws of any state of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are
not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of
the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private
Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture.

(o) 0 Check if Transfer is Pursuant to Other Exemption. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in compliance with an
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than Rule 144, Rule 903 or Rule 904 and in compliance with the transfer
restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any State of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer
contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon
consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will not
be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes or Restricted Definitive
Notes and in the Indenture.

This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Company.

[Insert Name of Transferor]

By:

Name:
Title:
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ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFER
1. The Transferor owns and proposes to transfer the following:
[CHECK ONE OF (a) OR (b)]
(a) o a beneficial interest in the:
@] 0 144A Global Note (CUSIP __), or
(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP __ ), or

(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ); or

(b) o a Restricted Definitive Note.
2. After the Transfer the Transferee will hold:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) o a beneficial interest in the:
@) 0 144A Global Note (CUSIP ___ ), or

(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ____ ), or
(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP __ ), or
>iv) o Unrestricted Global Note (CUSIP ____ ); or
(b) o a Restricted Definitive Note; or
(©) o an Unrestricted Definitive Note,

in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.
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EXHIBIT C



FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF EXCHANGE
iStar Financial Inc.
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036
[Registrar address block]

Re: 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

(CUSIP )

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

, (the “Owner”) owns and proposes to exchange the Note[s] or interest in such Note[s] specified in Annex A hereto, in the
principal amount of $ in such Note[s] or interests (the “Exchange”). In connection with the Exchange, the Owner hereby certifies that:

1. Exchange of Restricted Definitive Notes or Beneficial Interests in a Restricted Global Note for Unrestricted Definitive Notes or
Beneficial Interests in an Unrestricted Global Note

(€) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global
Note. In connection with the Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted
Global Note in an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s own account
without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Global Notes and pursuant to and
in accordance with the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the
Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the beneficial interest
in an Unrestricted Global Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

(b) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to Unrestricted Definitive Note. In connection
with the Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies
(i) the Definitive Note is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the
transfer restrictions applicable to the Restricted Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on
transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and
(iv) the Definitive Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.
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(o) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note. In connection
with the Owner’s Exchange of a Restricted Definitive Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the
beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the
transfer restrictions applicable to Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on
transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and
(iv) the beneficial interest is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

(d) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to Unrestricted Definitive Note. In connection with the Owner’s
Exchange of a Restricted Definitive Note for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the Unrestricted Definitive Note is being
acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable
to Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture
and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the Unrestricted Definitive Note
is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

2. Exchange of Restricted Definitive Notes or Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes for Restricted Definitive Notes or
Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes

(a) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to Restricted Definitive Note. In connection
with the Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for a Restricted Definitive Note with an equal principal amount, the
Owner hereby certifies that the Restricted Definitive Note is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer. Upon consummation of
the proposed Exchange in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the Restricted Definitive Note issued will continue to be subject to the
restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities
Act.

(b) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note. In connection
with the Exchange of the Owner’s Restricted Definitive Note for a beneficial interest in the [CHECK ONE] 144A Global Note, Regulation S Global
Note, IAI Global Note with an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s own
account without transfer and (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Restricted Global
Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, and in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the
United States. Upon consummation of the proposed Exchange in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the beneficial interest issued will be
subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the relevant Restricted Global Note and in the Indenture
and the Securities Act.
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This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Company.

[Insert Name of Owner]

By:

Name:
Title:

Dated:
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ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF EXCHANGE

1. The Owner currently owns and proposes to exchange the following:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) o a beneficial interest in the:
@) o 144A Global Note (CUSIP ____ ), or

(i) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or

(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(b) o a Restricted Definitive Note.
2. After the exchange the Owner will hold:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) o a beneficial interest in the:
@) o 144A Global Note (CUSIP ___ ), or

(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ), or

@iv) o Unrestricted Global Note (CUSIP ), or

(b) o a Restricted Definitive Note; or
(o) o an Unrestricted Definitive Note.
3. The Owner requests that Definitive Notes be registered in the following name:

and sent to the Owner at the following address:
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EXHIBIT D



FORM OF CERTIFICATE FROM
ACQUIRING INSTITUTIONAL ACCREDITED INVESTOR

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

[Registrar address block]

Re: 5.95% Senior Notes due 2013

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

In connection with our proposed purchase of $ aggregate principal amount of:

(a) o a beneficial interest in a Global Note, or
(b) o a Definitive Note,
we confirm that:

1. We understand that any subsequent transfer of the Notes or any interest therein is subject to certain restrictions and conditions set forth in
the Indenture and the undersigned agrees to be bound by, and not to resell, pledge or otherwise transfer the Notes or any interest therein except in compliance
with, such restrictions and conditions and the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).

2. We understand that the offer and sale of the Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act, and that the Notes and any interest
therein may not be offered or sold except as permitted in the following sentence. We agree, on our own behalf and on behalf of any accounts for which we
are acting as hereinafter stated, that if we should sell the Notes or any interest therein, we will do so only (A) to the Company or any subsidiary thereof, (B) in
accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act to a “qualified institutional buyer” (as defined therein), (C) to an institutional “accredited investor” (as
defined below) that, prior to such transfer, furnishes (or has furnished on its behalf by a U.S. broker-dealer) to you and to the Company a signed letter
substantially in the form of this letter and, if such transfer is in respect of a principal amount of Notes, at the time of transfer of less than $250,000, an
Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that such transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act, (D) outside the
United States in accordance with Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, (E) pursuant to the provisions of Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act or
(F) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, and we further agree to provide to any person purchasing the Definitive Note or
beneficial interest in a Global Note from us in a transaction meeting the requirements of clauses (A) through (E) of this paragraph a notice advising such
purchaser that resales thereof are restricted as stated herein.

3. We understand that, on any proposed resale of the Notes or beneficial interest therein, we will be required to furnish to you and the
Company such certifications, legal opinions and other
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information as you and the Company may reasonably require to confirm that the proposed sale complies with the foregoing restrictions. We further
understand that the Notes purchased by us will bear a legend to the foregoing effect.

4, We are an institutional “accredited investor” (as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or (7) of Regulation D under the Securities Act) and
have such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of our investment in the Notes, and
we and any accounts for which we are acting are each able to bear the economic risk of our or its investment.

5. We are acquiring the Notes or beneficial interest therein purchased by us for our own account or for one or more accounts (each of which
is an institutional “accredited investor”) as to each of which we exercise sole investment discretion.

You and the Company are entitled to rely upon this letter and are irrevocably authorized to produce this letter or a copy hereof to any interested party
in any administrative or legal proceedings or official inquiry with respect to the matters covered hereby.

[Insert Name of Accredited Investor]
By:

Name:
Title:

Dated:
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INDENTURE dated as of September 18, 2006 between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), and U.S. Bank Trust National
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).

The Company and the Trustee agree as follows for the benefit of each other and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE
Section 1.01. Definitions.

“Acquired Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of a Person or any of its Subsidiaries existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the
Company or at the time it merges or consolidates with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or assumed in connection with the acquisition of assets from
such Person and in each case whether or not incurred by such Person in connection with, or in anticipation or contemplation of, such Person becoming a
Subsidiary of the Company or such acquisition, merger or consolidation.

“Additional Interest” has the meaning given such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Additional Notes” means additional Notes (other than the Initial Notes) issued under this Indenture in accordance with Section 2.02 and 4.09.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, or is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person. The term “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct
or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms
“controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative of the foregoing.

“Agent” means any Registrar, Paying Agent or co-registrar.

“Applicable Procedures” means, with respect to any transfer or exchange of or for beneficial interests in any Global Note, the rules and procedures
of the Depositary that apply to such transfer or exchange.

“Asset Acquisition” means: (1) an Investment by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any other Person pursuant to which such Person
shall become a Subsidiary of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or shall be merged with or into the Company or

any Subsidiary of the Company; or (2) the acquisition by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of the assets of any Person (other than a Subsidiary
of the Company) that constitute all or substantially all of the assets of such Person or comprises any division or line of business of such Person or any other
properties or assets of such Person other than in the ordinary course of business.

“Asset Sale” means any direct or indirect sale, issuance, conveyance, transfer, lease (other than operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of
business), assignment or other transfer for value by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (including any sale and leaseback transaction) to any

Person other than the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company of:

(1) any Capital Stock of any Subsidiary of the Company; or



(2) any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ other property or assets other than sales of loan-related assets made in the ordinary
course of the Company’s real estate lending business and other asset sales made in the ordinary course of the Company’s business.

“Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, United States Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended, or any similar United States federal or state law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization or relief of debtors or any amendment to, succession to or change in any such
law.

“Board of Directors” means, as to any Person, the board of directors of such Person or any duly authorized committee thereof.

“Board Resolution” means, with respect to any Person, a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person to
have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors of such Person and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification, and delivered to the

Trustee.

“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which commercial banks are authorized
or required by law, regulation or executive order to close in New York City and that is a London Banking Day.

“Calculation Agent” has the meaning provided in Section 2.03.

“Capitalized Lease Obligation” means, as to any Person, the obligations of such Person under a lease that are required to be classified and accounted
for as capital lease obligations under GAAP and, for purposes of this definition, the amount of such obligations at any date shall

be the capitalized amount of such obligations at such date, determined in accordance with GAAP.
“Capital Stock” means:

(1) with respect to any Person that is a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however
designated and whether or not voting) of corporate stock, including each class of Common Stock and Preferred Stock of such Person; and

(2) with respect to any Person that is not a corporation, any and all partnership, membership or other equity interests of such Person.
“Clearstream” means Clearstream Banking, S.A.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute thereto, as interpreted by the rules and regulations
thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time.

“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, as from time to time constituted, created under the Exchange Act, or if at any time
after the execution of this Indenture such Commission is not existing and performing the duties now assigned to it under the Trust Indenture Act, then the

body performing such duties at such time.

“Common Stock” of any Person means any and all shares, interests or other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether
voting or non-voting) of such Person’s common stock, and includes, without limitation, all series and classes of such common stock.

“Company” means iStar Financial Inc. and any and all successors thereto that become a party to this Indenture in accordance with its terms.
“Consolidated EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the sum (without duplication) of:

(1) Consolidated Net Income; and

(2) to the extent Consolidated Net Income has been reduced thereby:

(a) all income taxes of such Person and its Subsidiaries paid or accrued in accordance with GAAP for such period (other than
income taxes attributable

to extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the Company’s assets);
(b) Consolidated Interest Expense; and
(o) depreciation, depletion and amortization;
all as determined on a consolidated basis for such Person and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Person, the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA of such Person during the four

full fiscal quarters (the “Four Quarter Period”) ending prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio for which financial statements are available (the “Transaction Date”) to Consolidated Fixed Charges of such Person for the Four Quarter



Period. In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, for purposes of this definition, “Consolidated EBITDA” and “Consolidated Fixed Charges”
shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis for the period of such calculation to:

(1) the incurrence or repayment of any Indebtedness of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (and the application of the proceeds
thereof) giving rise to the need to make such calculation and any incurrence or repayment of other Indebtedness (and the application of the proceeds
thereof), other than the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness in the ordinary course of business for working capital purposes pursuant to working
capital facilities, occurring during the Four Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the
Transaction Date, as if such incurrence or repayment, as the case may be (and the application of the proceeds thereof), occurred on the first day of
the Four Quarter Period; and

(2) any asset sales or other dispositions or any asset originations, asset purchases, Investments and Asset Acquisitions (including,
without limitation, any Asset Acquisition giving rise to the need to make such calculation as a result of such Person or one of its Subsidiaries
(including any Person who becomes a Subsidiary as a result of the Asset Acquisition) incurring, assuming or otherwise being liable for Acquired
Indebtedness and also including any Consolidated EBITDA (including any pro forma expense and cost reductions calculated on a basis consistent
with Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act) attributable to the assets which are originated or purchased, the Investments that are made and the
assets that are the subject of the Asset Acquisition or asset sale or other disposition during the Four Quarter Period) occurring during the Four
Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the Transaction Date, as if such asset sale or
other disposition or asset origination, asset purchase,

Investment or Asset Acquisition (including the incurrence, assumption or liability for any such Acquired Indebtedness) occurred on the first day of
the Four Quarter Period. If such Person or any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly guarantees Indebtedness of a third Person, the preceding
sentence shall give effect to the incurrence of such guaranteed Indebtedness as if such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person had directly incurred
or otherwise assumed such guaranteed Indebtedness.

“Consolidated Fixed Charges” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:
(1) Consolidated Interest Expense; plus

(2) the amount of all dividend payments on any series of Preferred Stock of such Person and, to the extent permitted under this
Indenture, its Subsidiaries (other than dividends paid in Qualified Capital Stock) paid, accrued or scheduled to be paid or accrued during such period.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum of, without duplication:

(1) the aggregate of the interest expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, including without limitation: (a) any amortization of debt discount; (b) the net costs under Interest Swap Obligations; (c) all
capitalized interest; and (d) the interest portion of any deferred payment obligation; and

(2) to the extent not already included in clause (1), the interest component of Capitalized Lease Obligations paid, accrued and/or
scheduled to be paid or accrued by such Person and its Subsidiaries during such period as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the aggregate net income (or loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries
before the payment of dividends on Preferred Stock for such period on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that there shall
be excluded therefrom:

(1) after-tax gains and losses from Asset Sales or abandonments or reserves relating thereto (including gains and losses from the sale
of corporate tenant lease assets);

(2) after-tax items classified as extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the
Company’s assets;

(3) the net income (but not loss) of any Subsidiary of the referent Person to the extent that the declaration of dividends or similar
distributions by that Subsidiary of that income is restricted by a contract, operation of law or otherwise, except for such restrictions permitted by
clauses (f), (g) and (h) of Section 4.08 whether such permitted restrictions exist on the Measurement Date or are created thereafter;

(4) the net income or loss of any other Person, other than a Consolidated Subsidiary of the referent Person, except:

(a) to the extent (in the case of net income) of cash dividends or distributions paid to the referent Person, or to a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the referent Person (other than a Subsidiary described in clause (3) above), by such other Person; or

(b) that the referent Person’s share of any net income or loss of such other Person under the equity method of accounting for
Affiliates shall not be excluded;

(5) any restoration to income of any contingency reserve of an extraordinary, nonrecurring or unusual nature;



(6) income or loss attributable to discontinued operations (including, without limitation, operations disposed of during such period
whether or not such operations were classified as discontinued, but not including revenues, expenses, gains and losses relating to real estate
properties sold or held for sale, even if they were classified as attributable to discontinued operations under the provisions of SFAS No. 144); and

(7) in the case of a successor to the referent Person by consolidation or merger or as a transferee of the referent Person’s assets, any
earnings of the successor corporation prior to such consolidation, merger or transfer of assets.

“Consolidated Net Worth” of any Person means the consolidated stockholders’ equity of such Person, as of the end of the last completed fiscal
quarter ending on or prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate Consolidated Net Worth determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, less (without duplication) amounts attributable to Disqualified Capital Stock of such Person and interests in such Person’s
Consolidated Subsidiaries not owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person.

“Consolidated Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, a Subsidiary of such Person, the financial statements of which are consolidated with
the financial statements of such Person in accordance with GAAP.

“Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee” shall be at the address of the Trustee specified in Section 11.02 or such other address as to which the Trustee
may give notice to the Company.

“Currency Agreements” means any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to
protect the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company against fluctuations in currency values.

“Custodian” means any custodian, receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.

“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which is, or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of
Default.

“Definitive Note” means a certificated Note registered in the name of the Holder thereof and issued in accordance with Section 2.06, in the form of
Exhibit A except that such Note shall not bear the Global Note Legend and shall not have the “Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note”
attached thereto.

“Depositary” means, with respect to the Notes issuable or issued in whole or in part in global form, the Person specified in Section 2.03 as the
Depositary with respect to the Notes, and any and all successors thereto appointed as depositary hereunder and having become such pursuant to the applicable
provision of this Indenture.

“Determination Date,” with respect to an Interest Period, will be the second London Banking Day preceding the first day of the Interest Period.

“Disqualified Capital Stock” means that portion of any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or
for which it is exchangeable at the option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a
sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof on or prior to the final maturity date of the Notes.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute or statutes thereto.

“Exchange Notes” means the Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009 to be issued in exchange for (1) the Initial Notes pursuant to the Registration
Rights Agreement and (2) the Additional Notes, if any, issued under Section 2.02 pursuant to a registration rights agreement substantially similar to the

Registration Rights Agreement.

“Exchange Offer” means the Exchange Offer as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Exchange Offer Registration Statement” means the Exchange Offer Registration Statement as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Existing Credit Agreements” mean: (1) the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2004 and as amended as of December 17, 2004,
September 16, 2005 and June 28, 2006, among the Company, the lenders party thereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank, as administrative agent; and (2) the
amended and restated credit facility between Deutsche Bank AG, Cayman Islands Branch, and iStar DB Seller LLC, dated as of January 9, 2006, in each case,
together with the related documents thereto (including, without limitation, any security documents), in each case as such agreements may be amended
(including any amendment and restatement thereof), supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, including any agreement extending the maturity
of, refinancing, replacing or otherwise restructuring (including increasing the amount of available borrowings thereunder (provided that such increase in
borrowings is permitted by Section 4.07 hereof) or adding Subsidiaries of the Company as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder) all or any portion of
the Indebtedness under such agreement or any successor or replacement agreement and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders.

“Euroclear” means the Euroclear System.

“fair market value” means, with respect to any asset or property, the price which could be negotiated in an arm’s-length, free market transaction, for
cash, between a willing seller and a willing and able buyer, neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. Fair market
value shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company acting reasonably and in good faith and shall be evidenced by a Board Resolution of the
Board of Directors of the Company delivered to the Trustee.



“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings or any successor agency.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other
statements by such other entity as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession of the United States. For the avoidance of doubt,
revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in results of discontinued operations because of the application of SFAS No. 144 will be treated as
revenues, expenses, gains and losses from continuing operations.

“Global Note Legend” means the legend set forth in Section 2.06(f) which is required to be placed on all Global Notes issued under this Indenture.

“Global Notes” means, individually and collectively, each of the Restricted Global Notes and the Unrestricted Global Notes, in the form of Exhibit
A, issued in accordance with Section 2.01 or 2.06.

“Government Securities” means direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, and for the payment of which the
United States pledges its full faith and credit.

“Guarantor” means: each of the Company’s Subsidiaries that in the future executes a supplemental indenture in which such Subsidiary agrees to be
bound by the terms of this Indenture as a Guarantor; provided that any Person constituting a Guarantor as described above shall cease to constitute a
Guarantor when its respective Guarantee is released in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.
“Holder” or “Noteholder” means a Person in whose name a Note is registered.
“IAI Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Notes in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement
Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal to the
outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold to Institutional Accredited Investors.
“Indebtedness” means with respect to any Person, without duplication:
(1) all Obligations of such Person for borrowed money;
(2) all Obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments;
(3) all Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person;
(4) all Obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations and all
Obligations under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of
business that are not overdue by 90 days or more or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently

conducted);

(5) all Obligations for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction;

(6) guarantees and other contingent obligations in respect of Indebtedness referred to in clauses (1) through (5) above and clause (8)
below;

(7) all Obligations of any other Person of the type referred to in clauses (1) through (6) above which are secured by any lien on any
property or asset of such Person, the amount of such Obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the fair market value of such property or asset and
the amount of the Obligation so secured;

(8) all Obligations under Currency Agreements and Interest Swap Obligations of such Person; and
(9) all Disqualified Capital Stock issued by such Person with the amount of Indebtedness represented by such Disqualified Capital

Stock being equal to the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference and its maximum fixed repurchase price, but excluding accrued

dividends, if any.

For purposes hereof, the “maximum fixed repurchase price” of any Disqualified Capital Stock which does not have a fixed repurchase price shall be
calculated in accordance with the terms of such Disqualified Capital Stock as if such Disqualified Capital Stock were purchased on any date on which
Indebtedness shall be required to be determined pursuant to this Indenture, and if such price is based upon, or measured by, the fair market value of such
Disqualified Capital Stock, such fair market value shall be determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the issuer of such
Disqualified Capital Stock.

“Indenture” means this Indenture, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Indirect Participant” means a Person who holds a beneficial interest in a Global Note through a Participant.

“Initial Notes” means the $500 million principal amount of Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009 of the Company issued on the Issue Date.



“Institutional Accredited Investor” means an institution that is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or (7) under the
Securities Act that is not also a QIB.

“Interest Payment Date” means March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year commencing December 15, 2006.
“Interest Period” means the period commencing on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on and including the day immediately

preceding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, with the exception that the first Interest Period shall commence on and include September 18, 2006 and
end on and include December 14, 2006.
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“Interest Swap Obligations” means the obligations of any Person pursuant to any arrangement with any other Person, whereby, directly or indirectly,
such Person is entitled to receive from time to time periodic payments calculated by applying either a floating or a fixed rate of interest on a stated notional
amount in exchange for periodic payments made by such other Person calculated by applying a fixed or a floating rate of interest on the same notional amount
and shall include, without limitation, interest rate swaps, caps, floors, collars and similar agreements.

“Investment” means, with respect to any Person, any direct or indirect loan or other extension of credit (including, without limitation, a guarantee), or
corporate tenant lease to or capital contribution to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for property or services for the
account or use of others), or any purchase or acquisition by such Person of any Capital Stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities or evidences or
Indebtedness issued by, any Person. “Investment” shall exclude extensions of trade credit by the Company and any Subsidiary of the Company on
commercially reasonable terms in accordance with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ normal trade practices, as the case may be.

“Issue Date” means September 18, 2006, the date of original issuance of the Initial Notes.

“Lien” means any lien, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any conditional sale or other
title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof and any agreement to give any security interest).

“LIBOR,” with respect to an Interest Period, will be the rate (expressed as a percentage per annum) for deposits in United States dollars for a three-
month period beginning on the second London Banking Day after the Determination Date that appears on Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 a.m., London time,
on the Determination Date. If Telerate Page 3750 does not include such a rate or is unavailable on a Determination Date, the Calculation Agent will request
the principal London office of each of four major banks in the London interbank market, as selected by the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s offered
quotation (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such Determination Date, to prime banks in the London
interbank market for deposits in a Representative Amount in United States dollars for a three-month period beginning on the second London Banking Day
after the Determination Date. If at least two such offered quotations are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic mean of such
quotations. If fewer than two such quotations are so provided, the Calculation Agent will request each of three major banks in New York City, as selected by
the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s rate (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such
Determination Date, for loans in a Representative Amount in United States dollars to leading European banks for a three-month period beginning on the
second London Banking Day after the Determination Date. If at least two such rates are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic
mean of
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such rates. If fewer than two such rates are so provided, then LIBOR for the Interest Period will be LIBOR in effect with respect to the immediately
preceding Interest Period.

“London Banking Day” is any day in which dealings in United States dollars are transacted or, with respect to any future date, are expected to be
transacted in the London interbank market.

“Maturity” when used with respect to the Notes means the date on which the principal of the Notes becomes due and payable as therein provided or
as provided in this Indenture, whether at Stated Maturity by declaration of acceleration, purchase or otherwise.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any successor rating agency.
“Non-Recourse Indebtedness” means any of the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ Indebtedness that is:

(1) specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of investment assets and secured only by the assets to which such Indebtedness
relates without recourse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or
its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so
long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to
any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for
GAAP purposes);

(2) advanced to any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or group of its Subsidiaries formed for the sole purpose of acquiring or holding
investment assets against which a loan is obtained that is made without recourse to, and with no cross-collateralization against, the Company or any
of the Company’s Subsidiaries’ other assets (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts
as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for
payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary
carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes) and
upon complete or partial liquidation of which the loan must be correspondingly completely or partially repaid, as the case may be; or



(3) specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of real property and secured by only the real property to which such Indebtedness
relates without recourse to the
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Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts as a
guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for
payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary
carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes).

“Notes” means, collectively, the Initial Notes and the Additional Notes, if any, and treated as a single class of securities, as amended or supplemented
from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof, that are issued pursuant to this Indenture.

“Obligations” means all obligations for principal, premium, interest, penalties, fees, indemnification, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities
payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

“Officer” means, with respect to any Person, the President, Chief Executive Officer, any Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, Treasurer,
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer of such Person.

“Officers’ Certificate” means, with respect to any Person, a certificate signed by two Officers of such Person; provided, however, that every Officers’
Certificate with respect to compliance with a covenant or condition provided for in this Indenture shall include (i) a statement that the Officers making or
giving such Officers’ Certificate have read such condition and any definitions or other provisions contained in this Indenture relating thereto and (ii) a
statement as to whether, in the opinion of the signers, such conditions have been complied with.

“144A Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Notes in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement
Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal to the

outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on Rule 144A.

“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the Trustee that meets the requirements of Section
11.05. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or the Trustee.

“Participant” means, with respect to the Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, a Person who has an account with the Depositary, Euroclear or
Clearstream, respectively.
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“Permitted Indebtedness” means, without duplication, each of the following:

(1) Indebtedness under: (a) The Initial Notes; (b) the $700 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes that will be
issued on September 22, 2006 and up to $240 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Notes that may be offered in connection with the
Company’s exchange offer to commence September 19, 2006, (c) the Company’s $500 million aggregate principal amount of 5.875% Senior Notes
due 2016 and the $500 million principal aggregate amount of 5.650% Senior Notes due 2011 that were issued on February 16, 2006; (d) the
Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.80% Senior Fixed Rate Notes Due 2011 and the $225.0 million Senior Floating Rate
Notes due 2009 that were issued on December 14, 2005; (e) the Company’s $100.0 million in unsecured floating rate trust preferred securities that
were issued on September 14, 2005; (f) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% Senior Notes due 2010 and the
Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.05% Senior Notes due 2015 that were issued on April 21, 2005; (g) the Company’s
$700.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.15% Senior Notes due 2012 and the $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes
due 2008 that were issued on March 1, 2005; (h) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.70% Notes due 2014 issued on
March 9, 2004, and an additional $117.0 million aggregate amount of 5.70% Notes due 2014 issued on March 1, 2005 in connection with the
Company’s exchange offer for TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc.’s 7.70% Notes due 2017; (i) the Company’s $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of floating rate notes due 2007 that were issued on March 12, 2004 and May 10, 2004; (j) the Company’s $250.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 5.125% Notes due 2011 that were issued on March 30, 2004; (k) the Company’s $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875%
Senior Notes due 2009 that were issued on January 23, 2004; (1) the Company’s $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.00% Senior Notes
due 2010 that were issued on December 12, 2003; (m) the Company’s $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2013
that were issued on December 12, 2003; (n) the Company’s $185.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.00% Senior Notes due 2008 that were
issued in March and April of 2003; and (o) the Company’s $240.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 that were
issued on August 16, 2001;

(2) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreements in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to
exceed the maximum aggregate amount available under the Existing Credit Agreements in existence on the Measurement Date and as in effect on the
Measurement Date reduced by any required permanent repayments (which are accompanied by a corresponding permanent commitment reduction)
thereunder;
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(3) other Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding on the Measurement Date reduced by the amount of any
scheduled amortization payments or mandatory prepayments when actually paid or permanent reductions thereon;

(4) Interest Swap Obligations of the Company covering Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and Interest Swap
Obligations of any Subsidiary of the Company covering Indebtedness of such Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Interest Swap Obligations are
entered into to protect the Company and its Subsidiaries from fluctuations in interest rates on Indebtedness incurred in accordance with the Indenture
to the extent the notional principal amount of such Interest Swap Obligation does not exceed the principal amount of the Indebtedness to which such
Interest Swap Obligation relates;

(5) Indebtedness under Currency Agreements; provided that in the case of Currency Agreements which relate to Indebtedness, such
Currency Agreements do not increase the Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding other than as a result of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates or by reason of fees, indemnities and compensation payable thereunder;

(6) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as
such Indebtedness is held by the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company;

(7) Indebtedness of the Company to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as such Indebtedness is held by a
Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company, in each case subject to no Lien; provided that: (a) any Indebtedness of the Company to any Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the Company is unsecured and subordinated, pursuant to a written agreement, to the Company’s obligations under this
Indenture and the Notes; and (b) if as of any date any Person other than a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company owns or holds any such
Indebtedness or any Person holds a Lien in respect of such Indebtedness, such date shall be deemed the incurrence of Indebtedness not constituting
Permitted Indebtedness by the Company;

(8) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently
(except in the case of daylight overdrafts) drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business; provided, however, that such
Indebtedness is extinguished within two business days of incurrence;

(9) Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries represented by letters of credit for the account of the Company or such

Subsidiary, as the case may be, in

15

order to provide security for workers’ compensation claims, payment obligations in connection with self-insurance or similar requirements in the
ordinary course of business;

(10) Refinancing Indebtedness; and

(11) additional Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $15.0 million at any
one time outstanding (which amount may, but need not, be incurred in whole or in part under the Existing Credit Agreements).

For purposes of determining compliance with Section 4.07 hereof, in the event that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the
categories of Permitted Indebtedness described in clauses (1) through (11) above or is entitled to be incurred pursuant to the second paragraph of such
covenant, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, classify (or later reclassify) such item of Indebtedness in any manner that complies with this covenant.
Accrual of interest, accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness
with the same terms, and the payment of dividends on Disqualified Capital Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Capital
Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Capital Stock for purposes of the “Limitation on Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” covenant.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, unincorporated organization, trust or joint venture, or a governmental agency or political
subdivision thereof.

“Preferred Stock” of any Person means any Capital Stock of such Person that has preferential rights to any other Capital Stock of such Person with
respect to dividends or redemptions or upon liquidation.

“Private Placement Legend” means the legend set forth in Section 2.06(g)(i) to be placed on all Notes issued under this Indenture except where
otherwise permitted by the provisions of this Indenture.

“QIB” means a “qualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A.
“Qualified Capital Stock” means any Capital Stock that is not Disqualified Capital Stock.
“Refinance” means, in respect of any security or Indebtedness, to refinance, extend, renew, refund, repay, prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to

issue a security or Indebtedness in exchange or replacement for, such security or Indebtedness in whole or in part. “Refinanced” and “Refinancing” shall
have correlative meanings.
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“Rating Agencies” means S&P, Moody’s and Fitch.



“Refinancing Indebtedness” means any Refinancing by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with
Section 4.07 hereof (other than pursuant to clauses (2), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9) or (11) of the definition of Permitted Indebtedness), in each case that does not:

(1) result in an increase in the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of such Person as of the date of such proposed Refinancing
(plus the amount of any premium required to be paid under the terms of the instrument governing such Indebtedness and plus the amount of
reasonable expenses incurred by the Company in connection with such Refinancing); or

(2) create Indebtedness with: (a) a Weighted Average Life to Maturity that is less than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the
Indebtedness being Refinanced; or (b) a final maturity earlier than the final maturity of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; provided that (i) if such
Indebtedness being Refinanced is Indebtedness of the Company, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be Indebtedness solely of the Company,
and (ii) if such Indebtedness being Refinanced is subordinate or junior to the Notes, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be subordinate to the
Notes at least to the same extent and in the same manner as the Indebtedness being Refinanced.

“Registrable Notes” has the meaning given such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Registration Rights Agreement” means the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of the date hereof by and among the Company and the initial
purchasers named therein as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Regulation S” means Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Regulation S Global Note(s)” means one or more Global Note in the form of Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private
Placement Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in a denomination equal
to the outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on, Regulation S.

“REIT” means Real Estate Investment Trust.

“Representative Amount” means a principal amount of not less than U.S. $1,000,000 for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant

time.
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“Responsible Officer” means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any vice president, assistant vice president, assistant treasurer, trust officer or
any other officer within the corporate trust department of the Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those performed by any of the above
designated officers and also shall mean, with respect to a particular corporate trust matter, any other officer to whom such matter is referred because of his
knowledge and familiarity with the particular subject.

“Restricted Definitive Note” means a Definitive Note bearing the Private Placement Legend.

“Restricted Global Note” means a Global Note bearing the Private Placement Legend.

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 144A” means Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 903” means Rule 903 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Rule 904” means Rule 904 promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Secured Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness secured by a Lien upon the property of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Senior Recourse Indebtedness” means all Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness that is Non-Recourse
Indebtedness and other than Subordinated Indebtedness).

“Shelf Registration Statement” means the Shelf Registration Statement as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement.

“Significant Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person, means any Subsidiary of such Person that satisfies the criteria for a “significant subsidiary” set
forth in Rule 1.02(w) of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, a division of McGraw Hill Inc., a New York corporation, or any successor rating agency.

“Stated Maturity” when used with respect to any Indebtedness or any installment of interest thereon means the dates specified in such Indebtedness
as the fixed date on which the principal of or premiums on such Indebtedness or such installment of interest is due and payable.
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“Subordinated Indebtedness” means all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Indebtedness that expressly provides that such Indebtedness shall be
subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness and matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is



redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof on or after the final maturity date of the Notes.
“Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person, means:

(1) any corporation of which the outstanding Capital Stock having at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of
directors under ordinary circumstances shall at the time be owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person; or

(2) any other Person of which at least a majority of the voting interest under ordinary circumstances is at the time, directly or
indirectly, owned by such Person.

“Telerate Page 3750” means the display designated as “Page 3750” on the Moneyline Telerate service (or such other page as may replace Page 3750
on that service).

“Total Unencumbered Assets” as of any date means the sum of:
(1) those Undepreciated Real Estate Assets not securing any portion of Secured Indebtedness; and

(2) all other assets (but excluding intangibles and accounts receivable) of the Company and its Subsidiaries not securing any portion of
Secured Indebtedness determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Trustee” means the party named as such above until a successor replaces it in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture and
thereafter means the successor serving hereunder.

“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
“Undepreciated Real Estate Assets” means, as of any date, the cost (being the original cost to the Company or any of Subsidiaries plus capital
improvements) of real estate assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on such date, before depreciation and amortization of such real estate assets,

determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Unrestricted Definitive Note” means one or more Definitive Notes that do not bear and are not required to bear the Private Placement Legend.

19

“Unrestricted Global Note” means a Global Note in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto that bears the Global Note Legend and that has the
“Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note” attached thereto, but that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, and that is deposited with or
on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee.

“Unsecured Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is not Secured Indebtedness.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing: (1) the then
outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness into; (2) the sum of the total of the products obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then
remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payment of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the
number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) which will elapse between such date and the making of such payment.

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” of any Person means any Subsidiary of such Person of which all the outstanding voting securities (other than in the case
of a foreign Subsidiary, directors’ qualifying shares or an immaterial amount of shares required to be owned by other Persons pursuant to applicable law) are

owned by such Person or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of such Person.

Section 1.02. Other Definitions.

Defined in

Term Section

“Authentication Order” 2.02
“Covenant Defeasance” 8.03
“DTC” 2.03
“Event of Default” 6.01
“incur” 4.09
“Legal Defeasance” 8.02
“Paying Agent” 2.03
“Registrar” 2.03
“Surviving Entity” 5.01

Section 1.03. Incorporation by Reference of Trust Indenture Act. Whenever this Indenture refers to a provision of the TIA, the provision is
incorporated by reference in and made a part of this Indenture.
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All terms used in this Indenture that are defined by the TIA, defined by TIA reference to another statute or defined by SEC rule under the TIA have
the meanings so assigned to them.



Section 1.04. Rules of Construction. Unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) a term has the meaning assigned to it;

(b) an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with GAAP;

(o) “or” is not exclusive;

(d) words in the singular include the plural, and in the plural include the singular;

(e) provisions apply to successive events and transactions; and

® references to sections of or rules under the Securities Act shall be deemed to include substitute, replacement of successor sections

or rules adopted by the SEC from time to time.

ARTICLE 2
THE NOTES
Section 2.01. Form and Dating
(a) General. The Notes and the Trustee’s certificate of authentication shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. The Notes may

have notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage. Each Note shall be dated the date of its authentication. The Notes
shall be in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof.

The terms and provisions contained in the Notes shall constitute, and are hereby expressly made, a part of this Indenture and the Company and the

Trustee, by their execution and delivery of this Indenture, expressly agree to such terms and provisions and to be bound thereby. However, to the extent any
provision of any Note conflicts with the express provisions of this Indenture, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and be controlling.
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b) Global Notes. Notes issued in global form shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto (including the Global Note Legend
thereon and the “Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note” attached thereto). Notes issued in definitive form shall be substantially in the form
of Exhibit A attached hereto (but without the Global Note Legend thereon and without the “Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note” attached
thereto). Each Global Note shall represent such of the outstanding Notes as shall be specified therein and each shall provide that it shall represent the
aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes
represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as appropriate, to reflect exchanges and redemptions. Any endorsement of a Global Note
to reflect the amount of any increase or decrease in the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby shall be made by the Trustee or
the Custodian, at the direction of the Trustee, in accordance with written instructions given by the Holder thereof as required by Section 2.06 hereof.

(o) Euroclear and Clearstream Procedures Applicable. The provisions of the “Operating Procedures of the Euroclear System” and “Terms and
Conditions Governing Use of Euroclear” and the “General Terms and Conditions of Clearstream” and “Customer Handbook” of Cedel Bank (as adopted by
Clearstream) and any alternative or additional procedures from time to time adopted by Euroclear or Clearstream shall be applicable to transfers of beneficial
interests in the Regulation S Global Notes that are held by Participants through Euroclear or Clearstream.

(d) Book-Entry Provisions. Participants and Indirect Participants shall have no rights either under this Indenture or under any Global Note with
respect to such Global Note held on their behalf of the custodian for the Depositary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prevent the
Company, the Trustee or any Agent from giving effect to any written certification, proxy or other authorization furnished by the Depositary or impair, as
between the Depositary and its Participants, the operation of customary practices of the Depositary governing the exercise of the rights of an owner of a
beneficial interest in any Global Note.

Section 2.02. Execution and Authentication. One or more Officers shall sign the Notes for the Company by manual or facsimile signature.
If an Officer whose signature is on a Note no longer holds that office at the time a Note is authenticated, the Note shall nevertheless be valid.
A Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee. The signature shall be conclusive evidence that the Note has

been authenticated under this Indenture.
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The Trustee shall, upon a written order of the Company signed by one or more Officers (an “Authentication Order”), authenticate Notes for original
issue on the Issue Date in aggregate principal amount not to exceed $500 million (other than as provided in Section 2.07). The Trustee shall authenticate
Additional Notes thereafter (so long as permitted by the terms of this Indenture) for original issue upon one or more Authentication Orders in aggregate
principal amount as specified in such order (other than as provided in Section 2.07). Each such Authentication Order shall specify the amount of Notes to be
authenticated, whether the Notes are to be Initial Notes, Additional Notes or Exchange Notes and whether the Notes are to be issued as Definitive Notes or
Global Notes or such other information as the Trustee shall reasonably request.

The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent acceptable to the Company to authenticate Notes. An authenticating agent may authenticate Notes
whenever the Trustee may do so. Each reference in this Indenture to authentication by the Trustee includes authentication by such agent. An authenticating



agent has the same rights as an Agent to deal with Holders or an Affiliate of the Company.

Section 2.03. Registrar, Paying Agent and Calculation Agent. The Company shall maintain an office or agency where Notes may be presented for
registration of transfer or for exchange (“Registrar”) and an office or agency where Notes may be presented for payment (“Paying Agent”). The Registrar
shall keep a register of the Notes and of their transfer and exchange. The Company may appoint one or more co-registrars and one or more additional paying
agents. The term “Registrar” includes any co-registrar and the term “Paying Agent” includes any additional paying agent. In addition, the Company shall
appoint a calculation agent (the “Calculation Agent”) to determine the interest rate on the Notes. The Company may change any Paying Agent or Registrar
without notice to any Holder. The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the name and address of any Agent not a party to this Indenture. If the
Company fails to appoint or maintain another entity as Registrar, Paying Agent or Calculation Agent, the Trustee shall act as such. The Company or any of its
Subsidiaries may act as Paying Agent or Registrar.

The Company initially appoints The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) to act as Depositary with respect to the Global Notes.

The Company initially appoints the Trustee to act as the Registrar, Paying Agent, and Calculation Agent and to act as Custodian with respect to the
Global Notes.

Section 2.04. Paying Agent To Hold Money in Trust. The Company shall require each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing that
the Paying Agent will hold in trust for the benefit of Holders or the Trustee all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal, premium, if any,
or interest on the Notes, and will notify the Trustee in writing of any default by the Company in making any such payment. While any such default continues,
the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. The Company at
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any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. Upon payment over to the Trustee, the Paying Agent (if other than the
Company or a Subsidiary) shall have no further liability for the money. If the Company or a Subsidiary acts as Paying Agent, it shall segregate and hold in a
separate trust fund for the benefit of the Holders all money held by it as Paying Agent. Upon any bankruptcy or reorganization proceedings relating to the
Company, the Trustee shall serve as Paying Agent for the Notes.

Section 2.05. Holder Lists. The Trustee shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the
names and addresses of all Holders and shall otherwise comply with TIA § 312(a). If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Company shall furnish to the
Trustee at least seven Business Days before each interest payment date and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, a list in such form and as
of such date as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Holders and the Company shall otherwise comply with TIA § 312(a).

Section 2.06. Transfer and Exchange.

(a) Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes. A Global Note may not be transferred as a whole except by the Depositary to a nominee of the
Depositary, by a nominee of the Depositary to the Depositary or to another nominee of the Depositary, or by the Depositary or any such nominee to a
successor Depositary or a nominee of such successor Depositary. All Global Notes will be exchanged by the Company for Definitive Notes if (i) the
Company delivers to the Trustee written notice from the Depositary that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as Depositary or that it is no longer a
clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, a successor Depositary is not appointed by the Company within 120 days after the date
of such notice from the Depositary or (ii) the Company in its sole discretion determines that the Global Notes (in whole but not in part) should be exchanged
for Definitive Notes and delivers a written notice to such effect to the Trustee. Upon the occurrence of either of the preceding events in (i) or (ii) above,
Definitive Notes shall be issued in such names as the Depositary shall instruct the Trustee in writing. Global Notes also may be exchanged or replaced, in
whole or in part, as provided in Sections 2.07 and 2.10 hereof. Every Note authenticated and delivered in exchange for, or in lieu of, a Global Note or any
portion thereof, pursuant to this Section 2.06 or Section 2.07 or 2.10 hereof, shall be authenticated and delivered in the form of, and shall be, a Global Note.
A Global Note may not be exchanged for another Note other than as provided in this Section 2.06(a); provided, however, that beneficial interests in a Global
Note may be transferred and exchanged as provided in Section 2.06(b), (c) or (f) hereof.

(b) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in the Global Notes. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in the Global Notes

shall be effected through the Depositary, in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Applicable Procedures. Beneficial interests in the
Restricted Global Notes shall be subject to restrictions on transfer comparable to
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those set forth herein to the extent required by the Securities Act. Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes also shall require compliance with
either subparagraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable, as well as one or more of the other following subparagraphs, as applicable:

(i) Transfer of Beneficial Interests in the Same Global Note. Beneficial interests in any Restricted Global Note may be transferred to
Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in the same Restricted Global Note in accordance with the transfer restrictions
set forth in the Private Placement Legend. Beneficial interests in any Unrestricted Global Note may be transferred to Persons who take delivery
thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note. No written orders or instructions shall be required to be delivered to the
Registrar to effect the transfers described in this Section 2.06(b)(i).

(ii) All Other Transfers and Exchanges of Beneficial Interests in Global Notes. In connection with all transfers and exchanges of
beneficial interests that are not subject to Section 2.06(b)(i) above, the transferor of such beneficial interest must deliver to the Registrar either (A)
(1) a written order from a Participant or an Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the Applicable Procedures directing the
Depositary to credit or cause to be credited a beneficial interest in another Global Note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred
or exchanged and (2) instructions given in accordance with the Applicable Procedures containing information regarding the Participant account to be
credited with such increase or (B) (1) a written order from a Participant or an Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the



Applicable Procedures directing the Depositary to cause to be issued a Definitive Note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred
or exchanged and (2) instructions given by the Depositary to the Registrar containing information regarding the Person in whose name such
Definitive Note shall be registered to effect the transfer or exchange referred to in (1) above. Upon consummation of an Exchange Offer by the
Company in accordance with Section 2.06(f) hereof, the requirements of this Section 2.06(b)(ii) shall be deemed to have been satisfied upon receipt
by the Registrar of the instructions contained in the Letter of Transmittal delivered by the holder of such beneficial interests in the Restricted Global
Notes. Upon satisfaction of all of the requirements for transfer or exchange of beneficial interests in Global Notes contained in this Indenture and
the Notes or otherwise applicable under the Securities Act, the Trustee shall adjust the principal amount of the relevant Global Note(s) pursuant to
Section 2.06(h) hereof.

(iii) Transfer of Beneficial Interests to Another Restricted Global Note. A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note may be

transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Restricted Global Note if the transfer complies with
the requirements of Section 2.06(b)(ii) above and the Registrar receives the following:
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(A) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the 144A Global Note, then the transferor must
deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof; and

B) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the Regulation S Global Note, then the transferor
must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2) thereof;

©) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the IAI Global Note, then the transferor must
deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications and certificates and Opinion of Counsel required by item (3)
(d) thereof, if applicable.

(iv) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in a Restricted Global Note for Beneficial Interests in an Unrestricted Global Note.
A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note may be exchanged by any holder thereof for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note
or transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note if the exchange or transfer
complies with the requirements of Section 2.06(b)(ii) above and:

(A) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the holder of the beneficial interest to be transferred, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer,
certifies in the applicable Letter of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange
Notes or (3) a Person who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

(B) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
©) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement in

accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
D) the Registrar receives the following:
1) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest

for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such holder in
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the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(a) thereof; or

2) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to transfer such beneficial interest to
a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such
holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities
Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

If any such transfer or exchange is effected pursuant to this clause (iv) at a time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the
Company shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02 hereof, the Trustee shall authenticate one or more
Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of beneficial interests transferred or exchanged pursuant
to this clause (iv).

Beneficial interests in an Unrestricted Global Note cannot be exchanged for, or transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of, a
beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note.

(o) Transfer or Exchange of Beneficial Interests for Definitive Notes.



@) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in a Restricted
Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Restricted Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who
takes delivery thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note, then, upon receipt by the Registrar of the following documentation:

(A) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a
Restricted Definitive Note, a certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (2)(a) thereof;
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(B) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act, a
certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

©) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule
903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2)
thereof;

(D) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the

Securities Act in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the
certifications in item (3)(a) thereof;

(E) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to an Institutional Accredited Investor in reliance on an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act other than those listed in subparagraphs (B) through (D) above, a certificate to the effect set
forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and Opinion of Counsel required by item (3)(d) thereof, if applicable;

(F) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, a certificate to the effect set forth
in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(b) thereof; or

(G) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, a
certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(c) thereof,

the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to Section 2.06(h) hereof,
and the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the
appropriate principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note pursuant to this Section
2.06(c) shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest
shall instruct the Registrar through instructions from the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee shall deliver such
Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a
Restricted Global Note pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(i) shall bear the Private Placement Legend and shall be subject to all restrictions on transfer
contained therein.
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(ii) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Restricted
Global Note may exchange such beneficial interest for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or may transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes
delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note only if:

(A) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the holder of such beneficial interest, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies in the
applicable Letter of Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a
Person who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

(B) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
©) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement in

accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
(D) the Registrar receives the following:

1) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest
for a Definitive Note that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, a certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit C
hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(b) thereof; or

) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to transfer such beneficial interest to
a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, a
certificate from such holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities



Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

29

(iii) Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in an
Unrestricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who
takes delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note, then, upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2.06(b)(ii) hereof, the Trustee
shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to Section 2.06(h) hereof, and the
Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the appropriate
principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(iii) shall be registered in such
name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest shall instruct the Registrar through
instructions from the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee shall deliver such Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose
names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(iii) shall not
bear the Private Placement Legend.

(d) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Beneficial Interests.

@) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes. If any Holder of a Restricted Definitive Note
proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note or to transfer such Restricted Definitive Notes to a Person who
takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note, then, upon receipt by the Registrar of the following
documentation:

(A) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Note proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Restricted
Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (2)(b) thereof;

3B) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act, a
certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

©) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance with
Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2)
thereof;

(D) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the

Securities Act in accordance
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with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(a)
thereof;

(E) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to an Institutional Accredited Investor in reliance on an exemption
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than those listed in subparagraphs (B) through (D) above, a certificate to the
effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and Opinion of Counsel required by item (3)(d) thereof, if
applicable;

(F) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, a certificate to the effect
set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(b) thereof; or

(G) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities
Act, a certificate to the effect set forth in Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (3)(c) thereof,

the Trustee shall cancel the Restricted Definitive Note, increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of, in the case of clause (A)
above, the appropriate Restricted Global Note, in the case of clause (B) above, the 144A Global Note, in the case of clause (C) above, the Regulation
S Global Note, and in all other cases, the IAI Global Note.

(ii) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of a Restricted Definitive Note may
exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Restricted Definitive Note to a Person who takes
delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note only if:

(A) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement and the Holder, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies in the applicable Letter of
Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person participating in the distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a Person who is an
affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

B) such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
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©) such transfer is effected by a Participating Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement in
accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement; or

(D) the Registrar receives the following:

(€)) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for a beneficial interest in the
Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(c)
thereof; or

) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take delivery thereof
in the form of a beneficial interest in the Unrestricted Global Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto,
including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion
of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities
Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain
compliance with the Securities Act.

Upon satisfaction of the conditions of any of the subparagraphs in this Section 2.06(d)(ii), the Trustee shall cancel the Definitive Notes and
increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of the Unrestricted Global Note.

(iii) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of an Unrestricted Definitive Note
may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Definitive Notes to a Person who takes delivery
thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note at any time. Upon receipt of a request for such an exchange or transfer, the
Trustee shall cancel the applicable Unrestricted Definitive Note and increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of one of the
Unrestricted Global Notes.

If any such exchange or transfer from a Definitive Note to a beneficial interest is effected pursuant to subparagraphs (ii) or (iii) above at a

time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the Company shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with
Section 2.02 hereof, the Trustee shall authenticate one or more Unrestricted
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Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Definitive Notes so exchanged or transferred.

(e) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Definitive Notes. Upon written request by a Holder of Definitive Notes and such Holder’s
compliance with the provisions of this Section 2.06(e), the Registrar shall register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Notes. Prior to such registration of
transfer or exchange, the requesting Holder shall present or surrender to the Registrar the Definitive Notes duly endorsed or accompanied by a written
instruction of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by such Holder or by its attorney, duly authorized in writing. In addition, the
requesting Holder shall provide any additional certifications, documents and information, as applicable, required pursuant to the following provisions of this
Section 2.06(e).

(i) Restricted Definitive Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be transferred to and registered in
the name of Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note if the Registrar receives the following:

(A) if the transfer will be made pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, then the transferor must deliver a certificate in
the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (1) thereof;

(€2)] if the transfer will be made pursuant to Rule 903 or Rule 904, then the transferor must deliver a certificate in the form of
Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications in item (2) thereof; and

©) if the transfer will be made pursuant to any other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, then
the transferor must deliver a certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto, including the certifications, certificates and Opinion of Counsel
required by item (3) thereof, if applicable.

(ii) Restricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be exchanged by the Holder
thereof for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or transferred to a Person or Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive
Note if:

(A) such exchange or transfer is effected pursuant to the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights

Agreement and the Holder, in the case of an exchange, or the transferee, in the case of a transfer, certifies in the applicable Letter of
Transmittal that it is not (1) a broker-dealer, (2) a Person
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participating in the distribution of the Exchange Notes or (3) a Person who is an affiliate (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company;

B) any such transfer is effected pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the Registration Rights
Agreement;
©) any such transfer is effected by a Broker-Dealer pursuant to the Exchange Offer Registration Statement in accordance

with the Registration Rights Agreement; or
(D) the Registrar receives the following:

(@) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for an Unrestricted Definitive
Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit C hereto, including the certifications in item (1)(d) thereof; or

2) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take
delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a certificate from such Holder in the form of Exhibit B hereto,
including the certifications in item (4) thereof;

and, in each such case set forth in this subparagraph (D), if the Registrar so requests, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable
to the Company to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer
contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act.

(iii) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A Holder of Unrestricted Definitive Notes may transfer such Notes
to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note. Upon receipt of a written request to register such a transfer,
the Registrar shall register the Unrestricted Definitive Notes pursuant to the instructions from the Holder thereof.

® Exchange Offer. Upon the occurrence of the Exchange Offer in accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company shall
issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02, the Trustee shall authenticate (i) one or more Unrestricted Global Notes
in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the beneficial interests in the Restricted Global Notes tendered for acceptance by Persons
that certify in
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the applicable Letters of Transmittal that (x) they are not broker-dealers, (y) they are not participating in a distribution of the Exchange Notes and (z) they are
not affiliates (as defined in Rule 144) of the Company, and accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer and (ii) Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the principal amount of the Restricted Definitive Notes accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer. Concurrently with the issuance of such
Notes, the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Restricted Global Notes to be reduced accordingly, and the Company shall
execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Persons designated by the Holders of Definitive Notes so accepted Definitive Notes in the
appropriate principal amount.

() Legends. The following legends shall appear on the face of all Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued under this Indenture unless
specifically stated otherwise in the applicable provisions of this Indenture.

@) Private Placement Legend.

(A) Except as permitted by subparagraph (B) below, each Global Note and each Definitive Note (and all Notes issued in
exchange therefor or substitution thereof) shall bear the legend in substantially the following form:

“THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR
THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT AS SET FORTH BELOW. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF, THE
HOLDER (1) REPRESENTS THAT (A) IT IS A “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER” (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT), (B) IT IS NOT A U.S. PERSON AND IS ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY IN AN OFFSHORE
TRANSACTION IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR (C) IT IS AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR
(AS DEFINED IN RULE 501(a)(1), (2), (3), OR (7) UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (AN “ACCREDITED INVESTOR”), (2) AGREES
THAT IT WILL NOT WITHIN TWO YEARS AFTER THE ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OF THIS SECURITY RESELL OR OTHERWISE
TRANSFER THIS SECURITY EXCEPT (A) TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, (B) INSIDE THE UNITED
STATES TO A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (C)
INSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR THAT, PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER, FURNISHES (OR HAS
FURNISHED ON ITS BEHALF BY A U.S. BROKER-DEALER) TO THE TRUSTEE A SIGNED LETTER CONTAINING CERTAIN
REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS
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RELATING TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY (THE FORM OF WHICH LETTER CAN BE OBTAINED
FROM THE TRUSTEE FOR THIS SECURITY), (D) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN
COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE), (E) PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE), (F) IN ACCORDANCE WITH
ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT (AND BASED UPON AN
OPINION OF COUNSEL IF THE COMPANY SO REQUESTS), OR (G) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION



STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND (3) AGREES THAT IT WILL GIVE TO EACH PERSON TO WHOM THIS
SECURITY IS TRANSFERRED A NOTICE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE EFFECT OF THIS LEGEND. IN CONNECTION WITH
ANY TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY WITHIN TWO YEARS AFTER THE ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OF THIS SECURITY, IF THE
PROPOSED TRANSFEREE IS AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR, THE HOLDER MUST, PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER, FURNISH TO
THE TRUSTEE AND THE COMPANY SUCH CERTIFICATIONS, LEGAL OPINIONS OR OTHER INFORMATION AS EITHER OF
THEM MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRM THAT SUCH TRANSFER IS BEING MADE PURSUANT TO AN
EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT. AS USED HEREIN, THE TERMS “OFFSHORE TRANSACTION,” “UNITED STATES” AND “U.S. PERSON” HAVE THE
MEANING GIVEN TO THEM BY REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.”

(B) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Global Note or Definitive Note issued pursuant to subparagraphs (b)(iv), (c)(ii), (c)
(>iii), (d)(i), (d)(iii), (e)(ii), (e)(iii) or (f) to this Section 2.06 (and all Notes issued in exchange therefor or substitution thereof) shall not bear
the Private Placement Legend.

(ii) Global Note Legend. Each Global Note shall bear a legend in substantially the following form:
“THIS GLOBAL NOTE IS HELD BY THE DEPOSITARY (AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THIS NOTE)
OR ITS NOMINEE IN CUSTODY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS HEREOF, AND IS NOT TRANSFERABLE

TO ANY PERSON UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEPT THAT (I) THE TRUSTEE MAY MAKE SUCH NOTATIONS HEREON
AS MAY BE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06
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OF THE INDENTURE, (II) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE EXCHANGED IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART PURSUANT TO
SECTION 2.06(a) OF THE INDENTURE, (IIT) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE DELIVERED TO THE TRUSTEE FOR
CANCELLATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.11 OF THE INDENTURE AND (IV) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE
TRANSFERRED TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY WITH THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE COMPANY.”

(h) Cancellation and/or Adjustment of Global Notes. At such time as all beneficial interests in a particular Global Note have been exchanged
for Definitive Notes or a particular Global Note has been redeemed, repurchased or canceled in whole and not in part, each such Global Note shall be returned
to or retained and canceled by the Trustee in accordance with Section 2.11 hereof. At any time prior to such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global
Note is exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Global Note or for Definitive
Notes, the principal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note shall be reduced accordingly and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note
by the Trustee or by the Depositary at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such reduction; and if the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred
to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Global Note, such other Global Note shall be increased accordingly
and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note by the Trustee or by the Depositary at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such increase.

@) General Provisions Relating to Transfers and Exchanges.

@d) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate Global Notes and
Definitive Notes upon the Company’s order or at the Registrar’s request.

(ii) No service charge shall be made to a holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or to a Holder of a Definitive Note for any
registration of transfer or exchange, but the Company and the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any transfer tax or similar
governmental charge payable in connection therewith (other than any such transfer taxes or similar governmental charge payable upon exchange or
transfer pursuant to Sections 2.10, 4.13 and 9.05 hereof).

(iii) All Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Global Notes or Definitive Notes
shall be the valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture, as the Global Notes
or Definitive Notes surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.
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@iv) The Company shall not be required to register the transfer of or to exchange a Note between a record date and the next succeeding
Interest Payment Date.
W) Prior to due presentment for the registration of a transfer of any Note, the Trustee, any Agent and the Company may deem and treat

the Person in whose name any Note is registered as the absolute owner of such Note for the purpose of receiving payment of principal of and interest
on such Notes and for all other purposes, and none of the Trustee, any Agent or the Company shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

(vi) The Trustee shall authenticate Global Notes and Definitive Notes in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.02 hereof.

(vii) All certifications, certificates and Opinions of Counsel required to be submitted to the Registrar pursuant to this Section 2.06 to
effect a registration of transfer or exchange may be submitted by facsimile.

Section 2.07. Replacement Notes. If any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Trustee or the Company and the Trustee receives evidence to its
satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any Note, the Company shall issue and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, shall authenticate a
replacement Note if the Trustee’s requirements are met. If required by the Trustee or the Company, an indemnity bond must be supplied by the Holder that is



sufficient in the judgment of the Trustee and the Company to protect the Company, the Trustee, any Agent and any authenticating agent from any loss that any
of them may suffer if a Note is replaced. The Company may charge for its expenses in replacing a Note.

Every replacement Note is an additional obligation of the Company and shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

Section 2.08. Outstanding Notes. The Notes outstanding at any time are all the Notes authenticated by the Trustee except for those canceled by it,
those delivered to it for cancellation, those reductions in the interest in a Global Note effected by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions hereof, and
those described in this Section as not outstanding. Except as set forth in Section 2.09 hereof, a Note does not cease to be outstanding because the Company or
an Affiliate of the Company holds the Note.

If a Note is replaced pursuant to Section 2.07 hereof, it ceases to be outstanding unless the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the replaced
Note is held by a bona fide purchaser.
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If the principal amount of any Note is considered paid under Section 4.01 hereof, it ceases to be outstanding and interest on it ceases to accrue.

If the Paying Agent (other than the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate of any thereof) holds, on a maturity date, money sufficient to pay Notes
payable on that date, then on and after that date such Notes shall be deemed to be no longer outstanding and shall cease to accrue interest.

Section 2.09. Treasury Notes. In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver
or consent, Notes owned by the Company, or by any Affiliate of the Company, shall be considered as though not outstanding, except that for the purposes of
determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes that a Responsible Officer of the Trustee
actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.

Section 2.10. Temporary Notes. Until certificates representing Notes are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and the Trustee, upon receipt
of an Authentication Order, shall authenticate temporary Notes. Temporary Notes shall be substantially in the form of certificated Notes but may have
variations that the Company considers appropriate for temporary Notes and as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Trustee. Without unreasonable delay, the
Company shall prepare and the Trustee shall authenticate definitive Notes in exchange for temporary Notes.

Holders of temporary Notes shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture.

Section 2.11. Cancellation. The Company at any time may deliver Notes to the Trustee for cancellation. The Registrar and Paying Agent shall
forward to the Trustee any Notes surrendered to them for registration of transfer, exchange or payment. The Trustee and no one else shall cancel all Notes
surrendered for registration of transfer, exchange, payment, replacement or cancellation and shall destroy canceled Notes (subject to the record retention
requirement of the Exchange Act). The Company may not issue new Notes to replace Notes that it has paid or that have been delivered to the Trustee for
cancellation.

Section 2.12. Defaulted Interest. If the Company defaults in a payment of interest on the Notes, it shall pay the defaulted interest in any lawful
manner plus, to the extent lawful, interest payable on the defaulted interest, to the Persons who are Holders on a subsequent special record date, in each case
at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 4.01 hereof. The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of defaulted interest proposed to
be paid on each Note and the date of the proposed payment. The Company shall fix or cause to be fixed each such special record date and payment date;
provided that no such special record date shall be less than 10 days prior to the related payment date for such defaulted interest. At least 15 days before the
special record date, the Company (or, upon the written request of the Company, the Trustee
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in the name and at the expense of the Company) shall mail or cause to be mailed to Holders a notice that states the special record date, the related payment
date and the amount of such interest to be paid.

Section 2.13. Record Date. The Company may set a record date for purposes of determining the identity of Holders entitled to vote or to consent to
any action by vote or consent authorized or permitted by Sections 6.04 and 6.05.

Section 2.14. CUSIP Numbers. The Company in issuing the Notes may use “CUSIP” numbers (if then generally in use), and, if so, the Trustee shall
use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to Holders; provided that any such notice may state that no representation is made as to the
correctness of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of a purchase and that reliance may be placed only on the other
identification numbers printed on the Notes, and any such purchase shall not be affected by any defect in or the omission of such numbers. The Company
will promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any change in the CUSIP numbers.

ARTICLE 3
REDEMPTION AND PREPAYMENT

Section 3.01. Optional Redemption. The Notes are not optionally redeemable prior to their Maturity.

Section 3.02. Mandatory Redemption. The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes prior
to Maturity.



ARTICLE 4
COVENANTS
Section 4.01. Payment of Notes. The Company shall pay or cause to be paid the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes on the dates
and in the manner provided in the Notes. Principal, premium, if any, and interest shall be considered paid on the date due if the Paying Agent, if other than

the Company or a Subsidiary, holds as of 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time on the due date money deposited by the Company in immediately available funds and
designated for and sufficient to pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest then due.
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The Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue principal at the rate equal
to the then applicable interest rate on the Notes to the extent lawful; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any
Bankruptcy Law) on overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace period) at the same rate to the extent lawful.

Section 4.02. Maintenance of Office or Agency. The Company shall maintain in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, an office or
agency (which may be an office of the Trustee or an affiliate of the Trustee, Registrar or co-registrar) where Notes may be surrendered for registration of
transfer or for exchange and where notices and demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be served. The Company
shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the location, and any change in the location, of such office or agency. If at any time the Company shall fail
to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands
may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee.

The Company may also from time to time designate one or more other offices or agencies where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for any
or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; provided, however, that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner
relieve the Company of its obligation to maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York for such purposes. The Company
shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any such designation or rescission and of any change in the location of any such other office or agency.

The Company hereby designates the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee as one such office or agency of the Company in accordance with Section
2.03.

Section 4.03. Reports to Holders. Whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, so long as any Notes are outstanding, the
Company shall furnish the Holders of Notes:

1) all quarterly and annual financial information that would be required to be contained in a filing with the Commission on Forms 10-
Q and 10-K if the Company were required to file such Forms, including a “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” that describes the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (showing in
reasonable detail, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto and in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries) and, with respect to the
annual information only, a report thereon by the Company’s certified independent accountants; and
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2) all current reports that would be required to be filed with the Commission on Form 8-K if the Company were required to file such
reports, in each case within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and regulations.

In addition, whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, the Company shall file a copy of all such information and
reports with the Commission for public availability within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and regulations (unless the Commission will
not accept such a filing) and make such information available to securities analysts and prospective investors upon request. In addition, the Company has
agreed that, for so long as any Notes remain outstanding, it will furnish to the Holders and to securities analysts and prospective investors, upon their request,
the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

Section 4.04. Compliance Certificate. The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, an Officers’
Certificate stating that a review of the activities of the Company and its Subsidiaries during the preceding fiscal year has been made under the supervision of
the signing Officers with a view to determining whether the Company has kept, observed, performed and fulfilled their obligations under this Indenture, and
further stating, as to each such Officer signing such certificate, that to the best of his or her knowledge the Company has kept, observed, performed and
fulfilled each and every covenant contained in this Indenture and is not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and
conditions of this Indenture (or, if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which he or she may
have knowledge and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto) and that to the best of his or her knowledge no event has
occurred and remains in existence by reason of which payments on account of the principal of or interest, if any, on the Notes is prohibited or if such event
has occurred, a description of the event and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.

The Company shall, so long as any of the Notes are outstanding, promptly deliver to the Trustee, forthwith upon any Officer becoming aware of any
Default or Event of Default, an Officers’ Certificate specifying such Default or Event of Default and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take
with respect thereto.

Section 4.05. Taxes. The Company shall pay, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to pay, prior to delinquency, all material taxes, assessments,
and governmental levies except such as are contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings or where the failure to effect such payment is not adverse
in any material respect to the Holders.



Section 4.06. Stay, Extension and Usury Laws. The Company covenants (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) that it shall not at any time insist
upon, plead, or in any manner whatsoever
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claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, extension or usury law wherever enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, that may affect the
covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Company (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waives all benefit or advantage
of any such law, and covenants that it shall not, by resort to any such law, hinder, delay or impede the execution of any power herein granted to the Trustee,
but shall suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no such law has been enacted.

Section 4.07. Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness. The Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly
or indirectly, create, incur, assume, guarantee, become liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to, or otherwise become responsible for payment of
(collectively, “incur”) any Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness) other than Permitted Indebtedness.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of or as a consequence of the
incurrence of any such Indebtedness, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may incur Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness),
in each case if on the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness, after giving effect to the incurrence thereof, the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
of the Company is greater than 1.50 to 1.0.

Section 4.08. Corporate Existence. Subject to Article 5 hereof, the Company shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep
in full force and effect (i) its corporate existence, and the corporate, partnership or other existence of each of its Subsidiaries, in accordance with the
respective organizational documents (as the same may be amended from time to time) of the Company or any such Subsidiary and (ii) the rights (charter and
statutory), licenses and franchises of the Company and its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to preserve any such right,
license or franchise, or the corporate, partnership or other existence of any of its Subsidiaries, if the Board of Directors of the Company shall determine that
the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and that the loss thereof is
not adverse in any material respect to the Holders.

Section 4.09. Maintenance of Total Unencumbered Assets. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall maintain Total Unencumbered Assets of not less
than 120% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Unsecured Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case on a consolidated
basis.

Section 4.10. Termination of Certain Covenants if Certain Ratings are Assigned. The obligations under the covenants contained in Sections 4.07 and

4.09 hereof shall cease to apply to the Company in the event, and only for so long as, (1) the Notes are rated BBB or Baa2, or higher by
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at least two of the three Rating Agencies, and (2) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
Section 4.11. Maintenance of Properties; Books and Records; Compliance with Law.

@ The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to at all times cause all properties used or useful in the conduct of its business to
be maintained and kept in good condition, repair and working order (reasonable wear and tear excepted) and supplied with all necessary equipment, and shall
cause to be made all necessary repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereto; provided that nothing in this Section 4.11 shall prevent
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from discontinuing the operation or maintenance of any of such properties, or disposing of any of them, if such
discontinuance or disposal is either (i) in the ordinary course of business, (ii) in the reasonable and good faith judgment of the Board of Directors or
management of the Company or the Subsidiary concerned, as the case may be, desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company or such Subsidiary, as
the case may be, or (iii) otherwise permitted by this Indenture.

b) The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to keep proper and true books of record and account, in which full and correct
entries shall be made of all financial transactions and the assets and business of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, and reflect on its financial
statements adequate accruals and appropriations to reserves, all in accordance with GAAP consistently applied to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a
whole.

(0) The Company shall and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply in all material respects with all statutes, laws, ordinances, or
government rules and regulations to which it is subject, non-compliance with which would materially adversely affect the business, earnings, properties,
assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Section 4.12. Registration Rights. (a) The Company agrees that the Holders (and any Person that has a beneficial interest in a Note) from time to time
of Registrable Notes are entitled to the benefits of the Registration Rights Agreement. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company has
agreed for the benefit of the Holders from time to time of Registrable Notes, at the Company’s expense, to file an Exchange Offer Registration Statement with
respect to an Exchange Offer to exchange the Notes for Exchange Notes of the Company, which Exchange Notes will have terms substantially identical in all
material respects to the Notes. In certain circumstance, the Company may be required by the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement to file a Shelf
Registration Statement covering resales of the Notes.

(b) Any amounts of Additional Interest due pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement shall be payable in cash on the regular Interest
Payment Dates.
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Whenever in this Indenture there is mentioned, in any context, the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or in respect of, any
Note, such mention shall be deemed to include mention of the payment of Additional Interest provided for in this Section 4.12.

Section 4.13. Additional Interest. If Additional Interest is payable pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the
Trustee a certificate to that effect stating the amount of such Additional Interest that is payable.

ARTICLE 5
SUCCESSORS
Section 5.01. Merger, Consolidation, or Sale of Assets. The Company shall not, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, consolidate or
merge with or into any Person, or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of (or cause or permit any Subsidiary of the Company to sell,

assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of) all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (determined on a consolidated basis for the Company
and the Company’s Subsidiaries) whether as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any Person unless:

(€8 either:
(a) the Company shall be the surviving or continuing corporation; or
(b) the Person (if other than the Company) formed by such consolidation or into which the Company is merged or the Person

which acquires by sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition the properties and assets of the Company and of the
Company’s Subsidiaries substantially as an entirety (the “Surviving Entity”):

@) shall be a corporation organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or
the District of Columbia; and

(ii) shall expressly assume, by supplemental indenture (in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee), executed

and delivered to the Trustee, the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on all of the Notes
and the performance of every covenant of the Notes and this Indenture on the part of the Company to be performed or observed;
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2) immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii) above (including giving
effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred in connection with or in respect of such transaction), the
Company or such Surviving Entity, as the case may be: (a) shall have a Consolidated Net Worth equal to or greater than the Consolidated Net Worth
of the Company immediately prior to such transaction; and (b) shall be able to incur at least $1.00 of additional Indebtedness (other than Permitted
Indebtedness) pursuant to Section 4.07 hereof;;

3) immediately before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii)
above (including, without limitation, giving effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred and any
Lien granted in connection with or in respect of the transaction), no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred or be continuing; and

4 the Company or the Surviving Entity shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each
stating that such consolidation, merger, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition and, if a supplemental indenture is required
in connection with such transaction, such supplemental indenture comply with the applicable provisions of this Indenture and that all conditions
precedent in this Indenture relating to such transaction have been satisfied.

For purposes of the foregoing, the transfer (by lease, assignment, sale or otherwise, in a single transaction or series of transactions) of all or
substantially all of the properties or assets of one or more Subsidiaries of the Company the Capital Stock of which constitutes all or substantially all of the
properties and assets of the Company, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company.

Section 5.02. Successor Corporation Substituted. Upon any consolidation or merger, or any sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof, in which the Company is not the continuing
corporation, the successor corporation formed by such consolidation or into or with which the Company is merged or to which such sale, assignment, transfer,
lease, conveyance or other disposition is made shall succeed to, and be substituted for (so that from and after the date of such consolidation, merger, sale,
lease, conveyance or other disposition, the provisions of this Indenture referring to the “Company” shall refer instead to the successor corporation and not to
the Company), and may exercise every right and power of, the Company under this Indenture and the Notes with the same effect as if such successor
corporation had been named as the Company herein; provided, however, that, in the case of a transfer by lease, the predecessor Company shall not be relieved
from the obligation to pay the principal of and interest on the Notes.
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ARTICLE 6

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES



Section 6.01. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default”:

€8 the failure to pay interest on any Notes when the same becomes due and payable and the default continues for a period of 30 days;
2) the failure to pay the principal on any Notes, when such principal becomes due and payable, at maturity or otherwise;
3) a default in the observance or performance of any other covenant or agreement contained in this Indenture and such default

continues for a period of 30 days after the Company receives written notice specifying the default (and demanding that such default be remedied)
from the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes (except in the case of a default with respect to
Section 5.01 hereof, which will constitute an Event of Default with such notice requirement but without such passage of time requirement);

() the failure to pay at final maturity (giving effect to any applicable grace periods and any extensions thereof) the principal amount
of any Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or the acceleration of the final
stated maturity of any such Indebtedness (which acceleration is not rescinded, annulled or otherwise cured within 20 days of receipt by the Company
or such Subsidiary of notice of any such acceleration) if the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of
any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at final maturity or which has been accelerated, aggregates $50.0 million or more
at any time;

5) there shall have been the entry by a court of competent jurisdiction of:

(a) a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding
under any applicable Bankruptcy Law; or

(b) a decree or order adjudging the Company or any Significant Subsidiary bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization,

arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary under any applicable federal or state
law, or appointing a custodian, receiver, liquidator,
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assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary or of any substantial part of its
property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and any such decree or order for relief shall continue to be in effect, or any
such other decree or order shall be unstayed and in effect, for a period of 60 consecutive days; or

(6) (a) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary commences a voluntary case or proceeding under any applicable Bankruptcy Law
or any other case or proceeding to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent;

(b) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary consents to the entry of a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company
or such Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding under any applicable Bankruptcy Law or to the commencement of any
bankruptcy or insolvency case or proceeding against it;

(c) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary files a petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization or relief under any
applicable federal or state law;

(d) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary:
@) consents to the filing of such petition or the appointment of, or taking possession by, a custodian, receiver,

liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or similar official of the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or of any substantial
part of its property;

(ii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or
(iii) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; or
(e) the Company or any Significant Subsidiary takes any corporate action in furtherance of any such actions in this clause (7).

Section 6.02. Acceleration. If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in clauses (6) or (7) above with respect to the Company)
shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of outstanding Notes may declare the principal of and accrued
interest on all the Notes to be due and payable by notice in writing to the Company and the Trustee specifying the respective Event of Default and that it is a
“notice of
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acceleration” (the “Acceleration Notice”), and the same shall become immediately due and payable.

If an Event of Default specified in clauses (6) or (7) above with respect to the Company occurs and is continuing, then all unpaid principal of, and
premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on all of the outstanding Notes shall ipso facto become and be immediately due and payable without any
declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any Holder.



At any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to the Notes as described in the preceding paragraph, the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the Notes may rescind and cancel such declaration and its consequences:

(€8 if the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree;

2) if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived except nonpayment of principal or interest that has become due solely
because of the acceleration;

3) to the extent the payment of such interest is lawful, interest on overdue installments of interest and overdue principal, which has
become due otherwise than by such declaration of acceleration, has been paid;

4 if the Company has paid the Trustee its reasonable compensation and reimbursed the Trustee for its expenses, disbursements and
advances; and

5) in the event of the cure or waiver of an Event of Default of the type described in clauses (6) or (7) of Section 6.01 hereof, the
Trustee shall have received an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel that such Event of Default has been cured or waived. No such
rescission shall affect any subsequent Default or impair any right consequent thereto.

Section 6.03. Other Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the payment
of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Notes or this Indenture.

The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any of them in the proceeding. A delay or
omission by the Trustee or any Holder of a Note in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or
constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. All remedies are cumulative to the extent permitted by law.

Section 6.04. Waiver of Past Defaults. Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by notice in

writing to the Trustee may on behalf
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of the Holders of all of the Notes waive an existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences hereunder, except a continuing Default or Event of
Default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the Notes (provided, however, that the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the then outstanding Notes may rescind an acceleration and its consequences, including any related payment default that resulted from such
acceleration). Upon any such waiver, such Default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured for
every purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 6.05. Control by Majority. Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may, by written notice, direct the time,
method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on it. However,
the Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture that the Trustee determines may be unduly prejudicial to the rights of
other Holders of Notes or that may involve the Trustee in any personal liability.

Section 6.06. Limitation on Suits. A Holder of a Note may pursue a remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes only if:

(@ a Holder gives to the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default;

(b) the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes make a written request to the Trustee to pursue the
remedy;

(o) such Holder or Holders offer and, if requested, provide to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against any loss,

liability or expense;

(d) the Trustee does not comply with the request within 60 days after receipt of the request and the offer and, if requested, the
provision of indemnity; and

(e) during such 60-day period the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes do not give the Trustee a
written direction inconsistent with the request.

A Holder may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Holder or to obtain a preference or priority over another Holder.
Section 6.07. Rights of Holders of Notes To Receive Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder to

receive payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes so held, on or after the respective due dates expressed in the Notes
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(including in connection with an offer to purchase), or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be
impaired or affected without the consent of such Holder.

Section 6.08. Collection Suit by Trustee. If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(1) or (2) occurs and is continuing, the Trustee is authorized
to recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Company for the whole amount of principal of, premium, if any, and interest



remaining unpaid on the Notes and interest on overdue principal and, to the extent lawful, interest and such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the
costs and expenses of collection, including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel and any
amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.07 hereof.

Section 6.09. Trustee May File Proofs of Claim. The Trustee is authorized to file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents as may be
necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances
of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and the Holders allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Company (or any other obligor upon the Notes), its
creditors or its property and shall be entitled and empowered to collect, receive and distribute any money or other property payable or deliverable on any such
claims and any custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to the Trustee, and in the event that the
Trustee shall consent in writing to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the reasonable
compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.07
hereof. To the extent that the payment of any such compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other
amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.07 hereof out of the estate in any such proceeding, shall be denied for any reason, payment of the same shall be
secured by a Lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, money, securities and other properties that the Holders may be entitled to
receive in such proceeding whether in liquidation or under any plan of reorganization or arrangement or otherwise. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed
to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or
composition affecting the Notes or the rights of any Holder, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such proceeding.

Section 6.10. Priorities. If the Trustee collects any money pursuant to this Article, it shall pay out the money in the following order:
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First: to the Trustee, its agents and attorneys for amounts due under Section 7.07 hereof, including payment of all compensation, expense
and liabilities incurred, and all advances made, by the Trustee and the costs and expenses of collection;

Second: to Holders of Notes for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for principal, premium, if any, and interest, ratably, without
preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on the Notes for principal, premium, if any and interest, respectively;
and

Third: to the Company or to such party as a court of competent jurisdiction shall direct.

The Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to Holders of Notes pursuant to this Section 6.10.

Section 6.11. Undertaking for Costs. In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee
for any action taken or omitted by it as a Trustee, a court in its discretion may require the filing by any party litigant in the suit of an undertaking to pay the
costs of the suit, and the court in its discretion may assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, against any party litigant in the suit, having
due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant. This Section does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by a
Holder of a Note pursuant to Section 6.07 hereof, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes.

ARTICLE 7
TRUSTEE

Section 7.01. Duties of Trustee. (a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers
vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in
the conduct of such person’s own affairs.

(b) Except during the continuance of an Event of Default:

@) the Trustee undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no implied

covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and
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(ii) the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon
certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture in the absence of bad faith on the Trustee’s part;
provided, however, that the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions to determine whether or not they substantially conform to the
requirements of this Indenture.

(o) The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act, or its own willful misconduct,
except that:

@) this paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section 7.01;

(ii) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it is proved that the
Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;

(iii) the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in accordance with a written
direction received by it pursuant to Section 6.05; and



@iv) the Trustee shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any of
its duties under this Indenture or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it has reasonable grounds to believe repayment of the funds or
adequate indemnity against the risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.

(d) Every provision of this Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee is subject to the
provisions of this Section 7.01 and to the provisions of the TIA.

(e) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss,
liability or expense.

® The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Trustee may agree in writing with the Company.
Money and Government Securities held in trust by the Trustee need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.

(8 The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of
the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding given pursuant to Section 6.05 of this
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Indenture, relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power
conferred upon the Trustee under this Indenture.

Section 7.02. Rights of Trustee. (a) The Trustee may conclusively rely on any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or
presented by the proper Person. The Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document.

(b) Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require an Officers’ Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel that conforms to Section
11.04. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on such Officers’ Certificate or Opinion of Counsel.

(o) The Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent appointed with due care.

(d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith that it believes to be authorized or within its rights or
powers, except conduct that constitutes willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith.

(e) The Trustee may consult with counsel, and the Trustee will not be liable for any action it takes or omits in reliance on, and in accordance
with, written advice of counsel.

) The Trustee will not be required to investigate any facts or matters stated in any document, but if it decides to investigate any matters or
facts, the Trustee or its agents or attorneys will be entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Company.

Section 7.03. Individual Rights of Trustee. The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Notes and may
otherwise deal with the Company or any Affiliate of the Company with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee. Any Paying Agent, Registrar, co-
registrar or co-paying agent may do the same with like rights. However, the Trustee must comply with Sections 7.10 and 7.11 hereof.

Section 7.04. Trustee’s Disclaimer. The Trustee (i) is not responsible for and makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this
Indenture, (ii) shall not be accountable for the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Notes and (iii) shall not be responsible for any statement of the
Company in this Indenture, other than the Trustee’s certificate of authentication, or in any prospectus used in the sale of any of the Notes, other than
statements, if any, provided in writing by the Trustee for use in such prospectus.
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Section 7.05. Notice of Defaults. The Trustee will give to the Holders notice of any Default with regard to the Notes actually known to a
Responsible Officer within 90 days after receipt of such knowledge and in the manner and to the extent provided in TIA § 313(c), and otherwise as provided
in Section 11.02 of this Indenture; provided, however, that except in the case of a Default in payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any
Note, the Trustee will be protected in withholding notice of Default if and so long as a committee of its Responsible Officers in good faith determines that
withholding of the notice is in the interests of the Holders of the Notes.

Section 7.06. Reports by Trustee. Within 60 days after each October 15 beginning with the October 15 following the date of this Indenture, the
Trustee will mail to each Holder, at the name and address which appears on the registration books of the Company, and to each Holder who has, within the
two years preceding the mailing, filed that person’s name and address with the Trustee for that purpose and each Holder whose name and address have been
furnished to the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.05, a brief report dated as of that October 15 which complies with TIA § 313(a). Reports to Noteholders
pursuant to this Section 7.06 shall be transmitted in the manner and to the extent provided in TIA § 313(c). The Trustee also will comply with TIA § 313(b).

A copy of each report will at the time of its mailing to Holders be filed with each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed and also with the
SEC. The Company will promptly notify the Trustee when the Notes are listed on any stock exchange and of any delisting of the Notes.

Section 7.07. Compensation and Indemnity. The Company shall pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for its services. The
Trustee’s compensation shall not be limited by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust. The Company shall reimburse the Trustee upon
request for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred or made by it, including costs of collection, in addition to the compensation for its services. Such
expenses shall include the reasonable compensation and expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee’s agents, counsel, accountants and experts.



The Company shall indemnify the Trustee against any and all loss, liability or expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees) incurred by it in
connection with the administration of the trust created by this Indenture and the performance of its duties under this Indenture. The Trustee shall notify the
Company promptly of any claim for which it may seek indemnity. Failure by the Trustee to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of its
obligations hereunder. The Company shall defend the claim and the Trustee may have separate counsel and the Company shall pay the fees and expenses of
such counsel. The Company need not pay for any settlement made without its consent. The Company need not reimburse any expense or indemnify
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against any loss, expense or liability incurred by the Trustee to the extent it is due to the Trustee’s own willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith.

To secure the Company’s obligations to make payments to the Trustee under this Section 7.07, the Trustee shall have a Lien prior to the Notes on all
money or property held or collected by the Trustee, other than money or property held in trust to pay principal or interest on particular Notes. Those
obligations of the Company shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture.

When the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services after an Event of Default specified in Sections 6.01(6) or (7) hereof occurs, the expenses and
the compensation for the services of the Trustee are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any Bankruptcy Law.

For purposes of this Section 7.07, “Trustee” will include any predecessor Trustee, but the willful misconduct, negligence or bad faith of any Trustee
shall not affect the rights of any other Trustee under this Section 7.07.

Section 7.08. Replacement of Trustee. The Trustee may resign at any time by so notifying the Company. The Holders of a majority in aggregate
principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may remove the Trustee by so notifying the Trustee and the Company and may appoint a successor Trustee.
The Company may remove the Trustee if:

(a) the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10;

(b) the Trustee is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent or an order for relief is entered with respect to the Trustee under any Bankruptcy
Law;

(0) a custodian or public officer takes charge of the Trustee or its property; or

(d) the Trustee becomes incapable of acting.

If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of Trustee for any reason, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor
Trustee. Within one year after the successor Trustee takes office, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may
appoint a successor Trustee to replace the successor Trustee appointed by the Company.

No removal or appointment of a Trustee will be valid if that removal or appointment would conflict with any law applicable to the Company.

A successor Trustee will deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the Company. Immediately after that, the

retiring Trustee will, subject to the Lien
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provided for in Section 7.07, transfer all property held by it as Trustee to the successor Trustee, the resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee will become
effective, and the successor Trustee will have all the rights, powers and duties of the Trustee under this Indenture. A successor Trustee will mail notice of its
succession to each Holder.

If a successor Trustee does not take office within 60 days after the retiring Trustee resigns or is removed, the retiring Trustee, the Company or the
Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a
successor Trustee.

If the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10, any Holder may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the
appointment of a successor Trustee.

Notwithstanding the replacement of the Trustee pursuant to this Section, the Company’s obligations under Section 7.07 shall continue for the benefit
of the retiring Trustee.

Section 7.09. Successor Trustee by Merger, etc. If the Trustee consolidates with, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all of its
corporate trust assets to, another Person, the resulting, surviving or transferee Person will, without any further act, be the successor Trustee.

If at the time a successor by merger, conversion or consolidation to the Trustee succeeds to the trusts created by this Indenture any of the Notes have
been authenticated but not delivered, the successor to the Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of the predecessor Trustee, and deliver the Notes
which were authenticated by the predecessor Trustee; and if at that time any of the Notes have not been authenticated, the successor to the Trustee may
authenticate those Notes in its own name as the successor to the Trustee; and in either case the certificates of authentication will have the full force provided
in this Indenture for certificates of authentication.

Section 7.10. Eligibility; Disqualification. The Trustee will at all times satisfy the requirements of TIA § 310(a). The Trustee will at all times have
(or shall be a member of a bank holding company system whose parent corporation has) a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 as set forth in



its most recently published annual report of condition, which will be deemed for this paragraph to be its combined capital and surplus. The Trustee will
comply with TTIA § 310(b).

Section 7.11. Preferential Collection of Claims. The Trustee shall comply with TIA § 311(a), excluding any creditor relationship listed in TIA
§ 311(b). A Trustee who has resigned or been removed shall be subject to TIA § 311(a) to the extent indicated therein.
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ARTICLE 8
LEGAL DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE

Section 8.01. Option To Effect Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance. The Company may, at the option of its Board of Directors evidenced by
a Board Resolution set forth in an Officers’ Certificate, at any time, elect to have either Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof be applied to all outstanding Notes upon
compliance with the conditions set forth below in this Article 8.

Section 8.02. Legal Defeasance and Discharge. Upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this Section
8.02, the Company shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, be deemed to have been discharged from its obligations
with respect to all outstanding Notes on the date the conditions set forth below are satisfied (hereinafter, “Legal Defeasance”). For this purpose, Legal
Defeasance means that the Company shall be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire Indebtedness represented by the outstanding Notes, which shall
thereafter be deemed to be “outstanding” only for the purposes of Section 8.05 hereof and the other Sections of this Indenture referred to in (a) and (b) below,
and to have satisfied all its other obligations under such Notes and this Indenture (and the Trustee, on written demand of and at the expense of the Company,
shall execute proper instruments acknowledging the same), except for the following provisions which shall survive until otherwise terminated or discharged
hereunder: (a) the rights of Holders of outstanding Notes to receive solely from the trust fund described in Section 8.04 hereof, and as more fully set forth in
such Section, payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Notes when such payments are due, (b) the Company’s obligations
with respect to such Notes under Article 2 and Section 4.02 hereof, (c) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee hereunder and the
Company’s obligations in connection therewith and (d) this Article 8. Subject to compliance with this Article 8, the Company may exercise its option under
this Section 8.02 notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option under Section 8.03 hereof.

Section 8.03. Covenant Defeasance. Upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this Section 8.03, the
Company shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, be released from its obligations under the covenants contained in
Sections 4.07, 4.09 and 4.10 hereof and clause (2) of Section 5.01 hereof with respect to the outstanding Notes on and after the date the conditions set forth in
Section 8.04 are satisfied (hereinafter, “Covenant Defeasance”), and the Notes shall thereafter be deemed not “outstanding” for the purposes of any direction,
waiver, consent or declaration or act of Holders (and the consequences of any thereof) in connection with such covenants, but shall continue to be deemed
“outstanding” for all other purposes hereunder (it being understood that such Notes shall not be deemed outstanding for accounting purposes). For this
purpose, Covenant Defeasance means that, with respect to the outstanding Notes, the Company may omit to comply with
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and shall have no liability in respect of any term, condition or limitation set forth in any such covenant, whether directly or indirectly, by reason of any
reference elsewhere herein to any such covenant or by reason of any reference in any such covenant to any other provision herein or in any other document
and such omission to comply shall not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under Section 6.01 hereof, but, except as specified above, the remainder of
this Indenture and such Notes shall be unaffected thereby. In addition, upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.01 hereof of the option applicable to this
Section 8.03 hereof, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 hereof, Sections 6.01(4) and (5) hereof shall not constitute Events of
Default.

Section 8.04. Conditions to Legal or Covenant Defeasance. The following shall be the conditions to the application of either Section 8.02 or 8.03
hereof to the outstanding U.S. Notes:

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance:

(a) the Company must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders, cash in United States dollars, non-
callable Government Securities, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, in written the opinion of a nationally recognized firm
of independent public accountants addressed to the Trustee, to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the outstanding Notes on the
stated date for payment thereof and any other amounts owing under this Indenture;

(b) in the case of an election under Section 8.02 hereof, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the
United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that (i) the Company has received from, or there has been published by, the Internal
Revenue Service a ruling or (ii) since the date of this Indenture, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case to the
effect that, and based thereon such Opinion of Counsel shall confirm that, the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or
loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same
manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(o) in the case of an election under Section 8.03 hereof, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the
United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for
federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same
manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;
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(d) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit or insofar as Events of Default
from bankruptcy or insolvency events are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after the date of deposit;

(e) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under this
Indenture or any other material agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries is bound;

® the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate stating that the deposit was not made by the Company
with the intent of preferring the Holders over any other creditors of the Company or with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding
any other creditors of the Company or others;

(g) the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions
precedent provided for or relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance, as the case may be, have been complied with; and

(h) the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that, assuming no intervening bankruptcy of
the Company between the date of deposit and the 91st day following the date of deposit and that no Holder is an insider of the Company, after the
91st day following the date of deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the opinion of counsel required by clause (b) above with respect to Legal Defeasance need not be delivered if all
Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable.

Section 8.05. Deposited Money and Government Securities To Be Held in Trust; Other Miscellaneous Provisions. Subject to Section 8.06 hereof, all
money and non-callable Government Securities (including the proceeds thereof) deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 8.04 hereof in respect of the
outstanding Notes shall be held in trust and applied by the Trustee, in accordance with the provisions of such Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, either
directly or through any Paying Agent (including the Company acting as Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Holders of such Notes of all sums
due and to become due thereon in respect of principal, premium, if any, and interest, but such money need not be segregated from other funds except to the
extent required by law.

60

The Company shall pay and indemnify the Trustee against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against the cash or non-callable
Government Securities deposited pursuant to Section 8.04 hereof or the principal and interest received in respect thereof other than any such tax, fee or other
charge which by law is for the account of the Holders of the outstanding Notes.

Anything in this Article 8 to the contrary notwithstanding, the Trustee shall deliver or pay to the Company from time to time upon the written request
of the Company any money or non-callable Government Securities held by it as provided in Section 8.04 hereof which, in the opinion of a nationally
recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee (which may be the opinion delivered
under Section 8.04(a) hereof), are in excess of the amount thereof that would then be required to be deposited to effect an equivalent Legal Defeasance or
Covenant Defeasance.

Section 8.06. Repayment to Company. Any money deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent, or then held by the Company, in trust for the
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Note and remaining unclaimed for two years after such principal, and premium, if any, or
interest has become due and payable shall be paid to the Company on its written request or (if then held by the Company) shall be discharged from such trust;
and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter look only to the Company for payment thereof, and all liability of the Trustee or such Paying Agent with respect
to such trust money, and all liability of the Company as trustee thereof, shall thereupon cease; provided, however, that the Trustee or such Paying Agent,
before being required to make any such repayment, may at the expense of the Company cause to be published once, in the New York Times and The Wall
Street Journal (national edition), notice that such money remains unclaimed and that, after a date specified therein, which shall not be less than 30 days from
the date of such notification or publication, any unclaimed balance of such money then remaining will be repaid to the Company.

Section 8.07. Reinstatement. If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any United States dollars or non-callable Government Securities in
accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof, as the case may be, by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining,
restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, then the Company’s obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as
though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof until such time as the Trustee or Paying Agent is permitted to apply all such money in
accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03 hereof, as the case may be; provided, however, that, if the Company makes any payment of principal of, premium, if
any, or interest on any Note following the reinstatement of its obligations, the Company shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to
receive such payment from the money held by the Trustee or Paying Agent.
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ARTICLE 9

AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER



Section 9.01. Without Consent of Holders of Notes. Notwithstanding Section 9.02 of this Indenture, the Company and the Trustee may amend or
supplement this Indenture or the Notes without the consent of any Holder of a Note:

(a) to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency that does not adversely affect in any material respect the rights hereunder of any
Holder of the Notes;
b) to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes or to alter the provisions of Article 2 hereof

(including the related definitions) in a manner that does not materially adversely affect any Holder;

(o) to provide for the assumption of the Company’s obligations to the Holders by a successor to the Company pursuant to Article 5
hereof;

(d) to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely
affect in any material respect the rights hereunder of any Holder of the Notes;

(e) to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of this Indenture under the TIA; or
) to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment under this Indenture of a successor Trustee.

Upon the written request of the Company accompanied by, to the extent necessary, a Board Resolution authorizing the execution of any such
amended or supplemental Indenture, and upon receipt by the Trustee of the documents described in Section 7.02 hereof, the Trustee shall join with the
Company in the execution of any amended or supplemental Indenture authorized or permitted by the terms of this Indenture and to make any further
appropriate agreements and stipulations that may be therein contained, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into such amended or supplemental
Indenture that affects its own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

Section 9.02. With Consent of Holders of Notes. Except as provided below in this Section 9.02, the Company and the Trustee may amend or

supplement this Indenture, and the Notes with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding
voting as a single class (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer
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or exchange offer for, or purchase of, the Notes), and, subject to Sections 6.04 and 6.07 hereof, any existing Default or Event of Default (other than a Default
or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes, except a payment default resulting from an acceleration that
has been rescinded) or compliance with any provision of this Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for, or
purchase of, the Notes).

Upon the written request of the Company accompanied by a Board Resolution authorizing the execution of any such amended or supplemental
Indenture, and upon the filing with the Trustee of evidence satisfactory to the Trustee of the consent of the Holders of Notes as aforesaid, and upon receipt by
the Trustee of the documents described in Section 7.02 hereof, the Trustee shall join with the Company in the execution of such amended or supplemental
Indenture unless such amended or supplemental Indenture directly affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in
which case the Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into such amended or supplemental Indenture.

It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Holders of Notes under this Section 9.02 to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment
or waiver, but it shall be sufficient if such consent approves the substance thereof.

After an amendment, supplement or waiver under this Section becomes effective, the Company shall mail to the Holders affected thereby a notice
briefly describing the amendment, supplement or waiver. Any failure of the Company to mail such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any
way impair or affect the validity of any such amended or supplemental Indenture or waiver. Subject to Sections 6.04 and 6.07 hereof, the Holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class may waive in writing compliance in a particular instance by the
Company with any provision of this Indenture or the Notes. However, without the written consent of each Holder affected, an amendment or waiver under
this Section 9.02 may not (with respect to any Notes held by a non-consenting Holder):

(a) reduce the amount of Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment;
(b) reduce the rate of or change or have the effect of changing the time for payment of interest, including defaulted interest, on any
Notes;
(o) reduce the principal of or change or have the effect of changing the fixed maturity of any Notes;
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(d) make any Notes payable in money other than that stated in the Notes;
(e) make any change in provisions of this Indenture protecting the right of each Holder to receive payment of principal of and interest

on such Note on or after the due date thereof or to bring suit to enforce such payment, or permitting Holders of a majority in principal amount of
Notes to waive Defaults or Events of Default; or



® modify or change any provision of this Indenture or the related definitions affecting the subordination or ranking of the Notes in a
manner which adversely affects the Holders.

Section 9.03. Compliance with Trust Indenture Act. Every amendment or supplement to this Indenture or the Notes shall be set forth in an amended
or supplemental Indenture that complies with the TIA as then in effect.

Section 9.04. Revocation and Effect of Consents. Until an amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder is a
continuing consent by the Holder of a Note and every subsequent Holder of a Note or portion of a Note that evidences the same debt as the consenting
Holder’s Note, even if notation of the consent is not made on any Note. However, any such Holder or subsequent Holder may revoke the consent as to its
Note if the Trustee receives written notice of revocation before the date the waiver, supplement or amendment becomes effective. An amendment,
supplement or waiver becomes effective in accordance with its terms and thereafter binds every Holder.

Section 9.05. Notation on or Exchange of Notes. The Trustee may place an appropriate notation about an amendment, supplement or waiver on any
Note thereafter authenticated. The Company in exchange for all Notes may issue and the Trustee shall, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, authenticate
new Notes that reflect the amendment, supplement or waiver.

Failure to make the appropriate notation or issue a new Note shall not affect the validity and effect of such amendment, supplement or waiver.

Section 9.06. Trustee To Sign Amendments, etc. The Trustee shall sign any amended or supplemental Indenture authorized pursuant to this Article 9
if the amendment or supplement does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of the Trustee. The Company may not sign an
amendment or supplemental Indenture until the Board of Directors approves it. In executing any amended or supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall be
entitled to receive and (subject to Section 7.01 hereof) shall be fully protected in relying conclusively upon, in addition to the documents required by Section
11.04 hereof, an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that the execution of such amended or supplemental Indenture is authorized or
permitted by this Indenture.
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ARTICLE 10
SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

Section 10.01. Satisfaction and Discharge. This Indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect (except as to surviving rights or
registration of transfer or exchange of the Notes, as expressly provided for in this Indenture) as to all outstanding Notes, when:

(a) either:

@) all the Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered (except lost, stolen or destroyed Notes that have been replaced or
paid and Notes for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and
thereafter repaid to the Company or discharged from such trust) have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or

(ii) all Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable and the Company has
irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee funds in an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness
on the Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes to the date
of deposit together with irrevocable instructions from the Company directing the Trustee to apply such funds to the payment thereof at
maturity or redemption, as the case may be;

(b) the Company has paid all other sums payable under this Indenture by the Company; and

(o) the Company has delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that all conditions precedent
under this Indenture relating to the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture have been complied with.

Section 10.02. Application of Trust Money. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.06, all money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section
10.01 shall be held in trust and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, either directly or through any
Paying Agent (including the Company acting as its own Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Persons entitled thereto, of the principal (and
premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the Trustee; but such money need not be segregated from other funds
except to the extent required by law.
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If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any money or Government Securities in accordance with Section 10.01 by reason of any legal
proceeding or by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, the
Company’s obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 10.01;
provided that if the Company has made any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Notes because of the reinstatement of its obligations,
the Company shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money or Government Securities held by the
Trustee or Paying Agent.

ARTICLE 11

MISCELLANEOUS



Section 11.01. Trust Indenture Act Controls. If any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with the duties imposed by TIA § 318(c),
the imposed duties shall control.

Section 11.02. Notices. Any notice or communication by the Company or the Trustee to the others is duly given if in writing and delivered in Person
or mailed by first class mail (registered or certified, return receipt requested), telex, telecopier or overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery, to the
others’ address:

If to the Company:

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

Facsimile: (212) 930-9494

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

With a copy to:

Clifford Chance US LLP

200 Park Avenue, 52nd Floor

New York, NY 10166-0153
Facsimile: (212) 878-8375
Attention: Kathleen L. Werner, Esq.
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If to the Trustee:

U.S. Bank Trust National Association
100 Wall Street, 19th Floor

New York, NY 10005

Attention: Corporate Trust Department
Facsimile: (212) 361-6153

The Company or the Trustee, by notice to the others may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or communications.

All notices and communications (other than those sent to Holders) shall be deemed to have been duly given: at the time delivered by hand, if
personally delivered; five Business Days after being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, if mailed; when answered back, if telexed; when receipt
acknowledged, if telecopied; and the next Business Day after timely delivery to the courier, if sent by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery.

Any notice or communication to a Holder shall be mailed by first class mail, certified or registered, return receipt requested, or by overnight air
courier guaranteeing next day delivery to its address shown on the register kept by the Registrar. Any notice or communication shall also be so mailed to any
Person described in TIA § 313(c), to the extent required by the TIA. Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect
its sufficiency with respect to other Holders.

If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above within the time prescribed, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee
receives it.

If the Company mails a notice or communication to Holders, it shall mail a copy to the Trustee and each Agent at the same time.
Section 11.03. Communication by Holders of Notes with Other Holders of Notes. Holders may communicate pursuant to TIA § 312(b) with other
Holders with respect to their rights under this Indenture or the Notes. The Company, the Trustee, the Registrar and anyone else shall have the protection of

TIA § 312(c).

Section 11.04. Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent. Upon any request or application by the Company to the Trustee to take any
action under this Indenture, the Company shall furnish to the Trustee:

(a) an Officers’ Certificate in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which shall include the statements set forth in
Section 11.05 hereof) stating
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that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent and covenants, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have
been satisfied; and

(b) an Opinion of Counsel in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which shall include the statements set forth in
Section 11.05 hereof) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent and covenants have been satisfied.

Section 11.05. Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion. Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant
provided for in this Indenture (other than a certificate provided pursuant to TIA § 314(a)(4)) shall comply with the provisions of TIA § 314(e) and shall



include:
(a) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;

(b) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in
such certificate or opinion are based;

(o) a statement that, in the opinion of such Person, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him
to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been satisfied; and

(d) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or covenant has been satisfied.

Section 11.06. Rules by Trustee and Agents. The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or at a meeting of Holders. The Registrar or
Paying Agent may make reasonable rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions.

Section 11.07. No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders. No past, present or future director, officer, employee,
incorporator or stockholder of the Company, as such, shall have any liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes, this Indenture or for any
claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The
waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes.

Section 11.08. Governing Law. THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO CONSTRUE
THIS INDENTURE AND THE NOTES WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF
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LAW TO THE EXTENT THAT THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.

Section 11.09. No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements. This Indenture may not be used to interpret any other indenture, loan or debt
agreement of the Company or its Subsidiaries or of any other Person. Any such indenture, loan or debt agreement may not be used to interpret this Indenture.

Section 11.10. Successors. All agreements of the Company in this Indenture and the Notes shall bind its successors. All agreements of the Trustee
in this Indenture shall bind its successors.

Section 11.11. Severability. In case any provision in this Indenture or in the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 11.12. Counterpart Originals. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but all
of them together represent the same agreement.

Section 11.13. Table of Contents, Headings, etc. The Table of Contents, Cross-Reference Table and Headings of the Articles and Sections of this
Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part of this Indenture and shall in no way modify or restrict any of

the terms or provisions hereof.

[Signatures on following page]
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SIGNATURES
Dated as of September 18, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By:

Name:
Title:

U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
not in its individual capacity, but solely as Trustee

By:

Name:
Title:




EXHIBIT A
[Face of Note]
[Insert the Global Note Legend and/or Private Placement Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]
CUSIP/CINS 45031U BA 8
Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009
No. $500,000,000
iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

promises to pay to CEDE & CO., or registered assigns, the principal sum of FIVE HUNDRED MILLION
Dollars on September 15, 2009.
Interest Payment Dates: March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15
Record Dates: March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1
Dated: September 18, 2006

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
This is one of the Notes referred to
in the within-mentioned Indenture: Date:
U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee
By:
Authorized Signatory
[Back of Note]

Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009
Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.

1. INTEREST. iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note
quarterly in arrears on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding
Business Day (each an “Interest Payment Date”), at the rate per annum, reset quarterly, equal to three month LIBOR (as defined below) plus 0.34%. Interest
on the Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from September 18, 2006; provided that if
there is no existing Default in the payment of interest, and if this Note is authenticated between a record date referred to on the face hereof and the next
succeeding Interest Payment Date, interest shall accrue from such next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, further, that the first Interest Payment
Date shall be December 15, 2006. The Company shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue
principal and premium, if any, from time to time on demand at the rate then in effect; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding
under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace periods) from time to time on demand at the same rate
to the extent lawful. Interest on the Notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Period divided by 360, as
further described below.

“LIBOR,” with respect to an Interest Period, will be the rate (expressed as a percentage per annum) for deposits in United States dollars for a three-
month period beginning on the second London Banking Day after the Determination Date that appears on Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 a.m., London time,
on the Determination Date. If Telerate Page 3750 does not include such a rate or is unavailable on a Determination Date, the Calculation Agent will request
the principal London office of each of four major banks in the London interbank market, as selected by the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s offered
quotation (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such Determination Date, to prime banks in the London
interbank market for deposits in a Representative Amount in United States dollars for a three-month period beginning on the second London Banking Day



after the Determination Date. If at least two such offered quotations are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic mean of such
quotations. If fewer than two such quotations are so provided, the Calculation Agent will request each of three major banks in New York City, as selected by
the Calculation Agent, to provide such bank’s rate (expressed as a percentage per annum), as of approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such
Determination Date, for loans in a Representative Amount in United States dollars to leading European banks for a three-month period beginning on the
second London Banking Day after the Determination Date. If at least two such rates are so provided, LIBOR for the Interest Period will be the arithmetic
mean of
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such rates. If fewer than two such rates are so provided, then LIBOR for the Interest Period will be LIBOR in effect with respect to the immediately
preceding Interest Period.

“Interest Period” means the period commencing on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on and including the day immediately
preceding the next succeeding interest Payment Date, with the exception that the first Interest Period shall commence on and include September 18, 2006 and
end on and include December 14, 2006.

¢

“Determination Date,”* with respect to an Interest Period, will be the second London Banking Day preceding the first day of the Interest Period.
“London Banking Day” is any day in which dealings in United States dollars are transacted or, with respect to any future date, are expected to be
transacted in the London interbank market.

“Representative Amount” means a principal amount of not less than U.S. $1,000,000 for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant
time.

“Telerate Page 3750” means the display designated as “Page 3750” on the Moneyline Telerate service (or such other page as may replace Page 3750
on that service).

The amount of interest for each day that the Notes are outstanding (the “Daily Interest Amount”) will be calculated by dividing the interest rate in
effect for such day by 360 and multiplying the result by the principal amount of the Notes. The amount of interest to be paid on the Notes for each Interest
Period will be calculated by adding the Daily Interest Amounts for each day in the Interest Period.

All percentages resulting from any of the above calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage
point, with five one-millionths of a percentage point being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876545% (or .09876545) being rounded to 9.87655% (or .0987655)) and
all dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one-half cent being rounded upwards).

The interest rate on the Notes will in no event be higher than the maximum rate permitted by New York law as the same may be modified by United
States law of general application.

The Calculation Agent will, upon the request of the holder of any Note, provide the interest rate then in effect with respect to the Notes. All
calculations made by the Calculation Agent in the absence of manifest error will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Company and the holders
of the Notes.

2. METHOD OF PAYMENT. The Company will pay interest on the Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered

Holders of Notes at the close of business on the March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 next preceding the Interest Payment Date,
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even if such Notes are canceled after such record date and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with
respect to defaulted interest. The Notes will be payable as to principal, premium, if any, and interest at the office or agency of the Company maintained for
such purpose within or without the City and State of New York, or, at the option of the Company, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the
Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders, and provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with
respect to principal of and interest, and premium, if any, on, all Global Notes and all other Notes the Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer
instructions to the Company or the Paying Agent. Such payment shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment
is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. The Company reserves the right to pay interest to Holders of Notes by check mailed to such Holders
at their registered addresses or by wire transfer to Holders of at least $5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes.

3. PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR. Initially, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, the Trustee under the Indenture, will act as Paying
Agent and Registrar. The Company may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Company or any of its Subsidiaries may
act in any such capacity.

4. INDENTURE. The Company issued the Notes under an Indenture dated as of September 18, 2006 (the “Indenture”) between the Company
and the Trustee. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture and those made part of the Indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended (15 U.S. Code §§ 77aaa-77bbbb). The Notes are subject to all such terms, and Holders are referred to the Indenture and such Act for a
statement of such terms. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall
govern and be controlling. The Notes are obligations of the Company. The Company is issuing $500 million in aggregate principal amount on the Issue Date
and may issue Additional Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

5. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. The Notes may not be redeemed prior to Maturity.



6. MANDATORY REDEMPTION.
The Company shall not be required to make mandatory redemption payments with respect to the Notes.

7. DENOMINATIONS, TRANSFER, EXCHANGE. The Notes are in registered form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 and
integral multiples of $1,000. The transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged as provided in the Indenture. The Registrar and the
Trustee may require a Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Company and the Trustee may require
a Holder to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Company need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes
during the period between a record date and the corresponding Interest Payment Date.
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8. PERSONS DEEMED OWNERS. The registered Holder of a Note may be treated as its owner for all purposes.
9. AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER. Subject to certain exceptions, the Indenture or the Notes may be amended or

supplemented with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class, and any
existing default or compliance with any provision of the Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the then outstanding Notes voting as a single class. Without the consent of any Holder of a Note, the Indenture or the Notes may be
amended or supplemented to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes, to
provide for the assumption of the Company’s obligations to Holders of the Notes in case of a merger or consolidation, to make any change that would provide
any additional rights or benefits to the Holders of the Notes or that does not adversely affect in any material respects the rights under the Indenture of any
such Holder, to comply with the requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act or to
evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment under the Indenture of a successor Trustee.

10. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. Events of Default are set forth in the Indenture. If any Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the
Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all the Notes to be due and payable. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable
without further action or notice. Holders may not enforce the Indenture or the Notes except as provided in the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations,
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the Trustee in writing in its exercise of any trust or power. The Trustee
may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default (except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of
principal or interest) if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest. The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then
outstanding by written notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its
consequences under the Indenture except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest on, or the principal of, the Notes. The Company
is required to deliver to the Trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the Indenture, and the Company is required upon becoming aware of any
Default or Event of Default, to deliver to the Trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event of Default.

11. TRUSTEE DEALINGS WITH COMPANY. The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may make loans to, accept deposits from,
and perform services for the Company or its Affiliates, and may otherwise deal with the Company or its Affiliates, as if it were not the Trustee.
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12. NO RECOURSE AGAINST OTHERS. A director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder, of the Company, as such, shall not have
any liability for any obligations of the Company under the Notes or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or
their creation. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of
the Notes.

13. AUTHENTICATION. This Note shall not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

14. ABBREVIATIONS. Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder or an assignee, such as: TEN COM (= tenants in
common), TEN ENT (= tenants by the entireties), JT TEN (= joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (= Custodian),
and U/G/M/A (= Uniform Gifts to Minors Act).

15. CUSIP NUMBERS. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the
Company has caused CUSIP numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP numbers in notices of purchase as a convenience to
Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of purchase and reliance
may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

16. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTES AND RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES. In addition to the
rights provided to Holders of Notes under the Indenture, Holders of Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes shall have all the rights set forth
in the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 18, 2006, between the Company and the parties named on the signature pages thereof (the
“Registration Rights Agreement”).
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The Company will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture and/or the Registration Rights Agreement.
Requests may be made to:



iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

Attention: Investor Relations

ASSIGNMENT FORM
To assign this Note, fill in the form below:

(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:

(Insert assignee’s legal name)

(Insert assignee’s soc. sec. or tax I.D. no.)

(Print or type assignee’s name, address and zip code)

and irrevocably appoint
to transfer this Note on the books of the Company. The agent may substitute another to act for him.

Date:

Your Signature:

(Sign exactly as your name
appears on
the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*:

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).
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SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of
another Global Note or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

Principal Amount

Amount of Amount of of this Global Note Signature of
decrease in increase in following such authorized officer of
Principal Amount Principal Amount decrease Trustee or Note
Date of Exchange of this Global Note of this Global Note (or increase) Custodian
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EXHIBIT B

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFER
iStar Financial Inc.
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

[Registrar address block]



Re: Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 18, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

, (the “Transferor”) owns and proposes to transfer the Note[s] or interest in such Note[s] specified in Annex A hereto, in the
principal amount of $ in such Note[s] or interests (the “Transfer”), to (the “Transferee”), as further specified
in Annex A hereto. In connection with the Transfer, the Transferor hereby certifies that:

[CHECK ALL THAT APPLY]

1. o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the 144A Global Note or a Definitive Note Pursuant to Rule 144A. The
Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144A under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
and, accordingly, the Transferor hereby further certifies that the beneficial interest or Definitive Note is being transferred to a Person that the Transferor
reasonably believed and believes is purchasing the beneficial interest or Definitive Note for its own account, or for one or more accounts with respect to
which such Person exercises sole investment discretion, and such Person and each such account is a “qualified institutional buyer” within the meaning of Rule
144A in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and such Transfer is in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of
the United States. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or
Definitive Note will be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the applicable 144A Global Note and/or
the applicable Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.
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2. o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the Regulation S Global Note or a Definitive Note pursuant to
Regulation S. The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act and, accordingly, the
Transferor hereby further certifies that (i) the Transfer is not being made to a person in the United States and (x) at the time the buy order was originated, the
Transferee was outside the United States or such Transferor and any Person acting on its behalf reasonably believed and believes that the Transferee was
outside the United States or (y) the transaction was executed in, on or through the facilities of a designated offshore securities market and neither such
Transferor nor any Person acting on its behalf knows that the transaction was prearranged with a buyer in the United States, (ii) no directed selling efforts
have been made in contravention of the requirements of Rule 903(b) or Rule 904(b) of Regulation S under the Securities Act and (iii) the transaction is not
part of a plan or scheme to evade the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed transfer in accordance with the
terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will be subject to the restrictions on Transfer enumerated in the Private Placement
Legend printed on the applicable Regulation S Global Note and/or the applicable Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.

3. o Check and complete if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in the IAI Global Note or a Definitive Note pursuant
to any provision of the Securities Act other than Rule 144A or Regulation S. The Transfer is being effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions
applicable to beneficial interests in Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act and any
applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States, and accordingly the Transferor hereby further certifies that (check one):

(a) o such Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act;
or
(b) o such Transfer is being effected to the Company or a subsidiary thereof;
or
(o) o such Transfer is being effected pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and in compliance with

the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act;

or
(d) o such Transfer is being effected to an Institutional Accredited Investor and pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act
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other than Rule 144A, Rule 144 or Rule 904, and the Transferor hereby further certifies that it has not engaged in any general solicitation within the
meaning of Regulation D under the Securities Act and the Transfer complies with the transfer restrictions applicable to beneficial interests in a
Restricted Global Note or Restricted Definitive Notes and the requirements of the exemption claimed, which certification is supported by (1) a
certificate executed by the Transferee in the form of Exhibit D to the Indenture and (2) if such Transfer is in respect of a principal amount of Notes at
the time of transfer of less than $250,000, an Opinion of Counsel provided by the Transferor or the Transferee (a copy of which the Transferor has
attached to this certification), to the effect that such Transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed transfer
in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will be subject to the restrictions on transfer
enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the applicable IAI Global Note and/or the applicable Definitive Notes and in the Indenture
and the Securities Act.



Note.

4, o Check if Transferee will take delivery of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or of an Unrestricted Definitive

(a) o Check if Transfer is pursuant to Rule 144. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144 under
the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state
of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to
maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the
transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend
printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture.

(b) o Check if Transfer is Pursuant to Regulation S. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 903 or
Rule 904 under the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities
laws of any state of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not
required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the
Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private
Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture.

(c) o Check if Transfer is Pursuant to Other Exemption. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in compliance with an
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than Rule 144, Rule 903 or Rule 904 and in compliance
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Dated:

with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any State of the United States and (ii) the
restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the
Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or
Definitive Note will not be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes
or Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture.

This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Company.

[Insert Name of Transferor]

By:

Name:
Title:
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ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFER
1. The Transferor owns and proposes to transfer the following:
[CHECK ONE OF (a) OR (b)]

(a) o a beneficial interest in the:

@) 0 144A Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ); or

(b) o aRestricted Definitive Note.

2. After the Transfer the Transferee will hold:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) o a beneficial interest in the:
@) 0 144A Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or

(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ), or



@iv) o Unrestricted Global Note (CUSIP ); or
(b) o aRestricted Definitive Note; or
(c) o an Unrestricted Definitive Note,

in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.
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EXHIBIT C
FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF EXCHANGE
iStar Financial Inc.
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036
[Registrar address block]

Re: Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009

(CUSIP )

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 18, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

, (the “Owner”) owns and proposes to exchange the Note[s] or interest in such Note[s] specified in Annex A hereto,
in the principal amount of $ in such Note[s] or interests (the “Exchange”). In connection with the Exchange, the Owner hereby certifies that:

1. Exchange of Restricted Definitive Notes or Beneficial Interests in a Restricted Global Note for Unrestricted Definitive Notes or
Beneficial Interests in an Unrestricted Global Note

(a) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global
Note. In connection with the Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted
Global Note in an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s own account
without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Global Notes and pursuant to and
in accordance with the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the
Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the beneficial interest
in an Unrestricted Global Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.
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(b) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to Unrestricted Definitive Note. In connection with
the Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the
Definitive Note is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer
restrictions applicable to the Restricted Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer
contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the
Definitive Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

(c) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note. In connection with
the Owner’s Exchange of a Restricted Definitive Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the
beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the
transfer restrictions applicable to Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on
transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and
(iv) the beneficial interest is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

(d) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to Unrestricted Definitive Note. In connection with the Owner’s Exchange
of a Restricted Definitive Note for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the Unrestricted Definitive Note is being acquired
for the Owner’s own account without transfer, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to
Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and
the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the Unrestricted Definitive Note is
being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States.

2. Exchange of Restricted Definitive Notes or Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes for Restricted Definitive Notes or
Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes



(a) o Check if Exchange is from beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note to Restricted Definitive Note. In connection with the
Exchange of the Owner’s beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note for a Restricted Definitive Note with an equal principal amount, the Owner
hereby certifies that the Restricted

Definitive Note is being acquired for the Owner’s own account without transfer. Upon consummation of the proposed Exchange in accordance with
the terms of the Indenture, the Restricted Definitive Note issued will continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private
Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act.

(b) o Check if Exchange is from Restricted Definitive Note to beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note. In connection with the
Exchange of the Owner’s Restricted Definitive Note for a beneficial interest in the [CHECK ONE] [J 144A Global Note, [1 Regulation S Global
Note, [1IAI Global Note with an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Owner’s
own account without transfer and (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Restricted
Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, and in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state
of the United States. Upon consummation of the proposed Exchange in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the beneficial interest issued will
be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the relevant Restricted Global Note and in the
Indenture and the Securities Act.
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This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Company.

[Insert Name of Owner]

By:

Name:
Title:

Dated:
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ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF EXCHANGE

1. The Owner currently owns and proposes to exchange the following:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) o} a beneficial interest in the:
@) o 144A Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(i) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(iii) o IAI Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(b) 0 a Restricted Definitive Note.
2. After the exchange the Owner will hold:
[CHECK ONE]
(a) a beneficial interest in the:
(i) o 144A Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(ii) o Regulation S Global Note (CUSIP ), or
(iii) 0 IAI Global Note (CUSIP ), or
@iv) o Unrestricted Global Note (CUSIP ), or

(b) o a Restricted Definitive Note; or



(o) o} an Unrestricted Definitive Note.

3. The Owner requests that Definitive Notes be registered in the following name:

and sent to the Owner at the following address:
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EXHIBIT D

FORM OF CERTIFICATE FROM
ACQUIRING INSTITUTIONAL ACCREDITED INVESTOR

iStar Financial Inc.

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10036

[Registrar address block]

Re: Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2009

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of September 18, 2006 (the “Indenture”), between iStar Financial Inc., a Maryland corporation,
as issuer (the “Company”) and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given
to them in the Indenture.

In connection with our proposed purchase of $ aggregate principal amount of:
(a) o abeneficial interest in a Global Note, or

(b) o a Definitive Note,

we confirm that:

1. We understand that any subsequent transfer of the Notes or any interest therein is subject to certain restrictions and conditions set forth in
the Indenture and the undersigned agrees to be bound by, and not to resell, pledge or otherwise transfer the Notes or any interest therein except in compliance
with, such restrictions and conditions and the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).

2. We understand that the offer and sale of the Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act, and that the Notes and any interest
therein may not be offered or sold except as permitted in the following sentence. We agree, on our own behalf and on behalf of any accounts for which we
are acting as hereinafter stated, that if we should sell the Notes or any interest therein, we will do so only (A) to the Company or any subsidiary thereof, (B) in
accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act to a “qualified institutional buyer” (as defined therein), (C) to an institutional “accredited investor” (as
defined below) that, prior to such transfer, furnishes (or has furnished on its behalf by a U.S. broker-dealer) to you and to the Company a signed letter
substantially in the form of this letter and, if such transfer is in respect of a principal amount of Notes, at the time of transfer of less than $250,000, an
Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that such transfer is in compliance with the
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Securities Act, (D) outside the United States in accordance with Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, (E) pursuant to the provisions of Rule
144(k) under the Securities Act or (F) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, and we further agree to provide to any person
purchasing the Definitive Note or beneficial interest in a Global Note from us in a transaction meeting the requirements of clauses (A) through (E) of this
paragraph a notice advising such purchaser that resales thereof are restricted as stated herein.

3. We understand that, on any proposed resale of the Notes or beneficial interest therein, we will be required to furnish to you and the
Company such certifications, legal opinions and other information as you and the Company may reasonably require to confirm that the proposed sale
complies with the foregoing restrictions. We further understand that the Notes purchased by us will bear a legend to the foregoing effect.

4, We are an institutional “accredited investor” (as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or (7) of Regulation D under the Securities Act) and have
such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of our investment in the Notes, and we
and any accounts for which we are acting are each able to bear the economic risk of our or its investment.



5. We are acquiring the Notes or beneficial interest therein purchased by us for our own account or for one or more accounts (each of which is
an institutional “accredited investor”) as to each of which we exercise sole investment discretion.

You and the Company are entitled to rely upon this letter and are irrevocably authorized to produce this letter or a copy hereof to any interested party
in any administrative or legal proceedings or official inquiry with respect to the matters covered hereby.

[Insert Name of Accredited Investor]

By:

Name:
Title:

Dated:
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EXHIBIT 31.0
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Jay Sugarman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of iStar Financial Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: November 8, 2006 By: /s/ JAY SUGARMAN

Name: Jay Sugarman
Title: Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION
I, Catherine D. Rice, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of iStar Financial Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and



(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2006 By: /s/ CATHERINE D. RICE
Name: Catherine D. Rice
Title: Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.0

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of iStar Financial Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006
(the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

By: /s/ JAY SUGARMAN
Name: Jay Sugarman
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of iStar Financial Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006
(the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

By: /s/ CATHERINE D. RICE
Name: Catherine D. Rice
Title: Chief Financial Officer




